

NOTE TO USERS

This reproduction is the best copy available.

UMI



Questionable Identities: A Study of Gay and Evangelical Christian Identity Conflict and Resolution

by

Gerald Walton B.A. (Hons.), University of Victoria, 1996

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF ARTS

in the Department of Sociology

© Geraid Walton, 2000

University of Victoria

All rights reserved. This thesis may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means, without the permission of the author.



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre reference

Our file Notre reférence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-48220-0



Supervisor: Dr. Holly Devor

ABSTRACT

This study investigates the ways in which some men who identify as both gay and evangelical Christian integrate those identities into their lives. Analysis of interview data yielded a variety of strategies that the research subjects had adopted in order to facilitate identity integration. The theoretical focus was on two models of homosexual identity formation, namely, Cass (1984) and Troiden (1988). The efficacy of each model in describing homosexual identity formation of individuals who have also maintained an evangelical Christian one is examined. In spite of their strengths, each model has some limitations. A new model is proposed which more closely resembles the paths of gay identity formation of the men in this study, one that retains the strengths of the Cass and Troiden models. The thesis concludes with a discussion about political and research implications of the new model, including its possible application to identities other than gay and Christian ones.

A Study of Gay and Evangelical Christian Identity Conflict and Resolution

Table of Contents

Title Page	
Abstract	
Table of Contents	
Acknowledgements	V
Chapter One: Introduction	1
Chapter Two: A Journey Through Theories	
about Identity and Identity Formation	11
Some Sociological Theories about Identity	11
The Role of Behaviour in Identity Acquisition	15
Social Sanctions and Identity	21
Behaviourist, Psychoanalytical, and Biological Theories	•
about Sexual Orientation	24
The Formation of Sexual Orientation Identity	28
The Cass Model	29
The Troiden Model	
Comparing and Evaluating the Cass and Troiden Models	
Religious Identity and Sexual Orientation Identity	38
Conclusion	41
Chapter Three: Research Methods	43
Methodological Strategies: Choices and Rationale	43
Who to Include and Why	46
Revision of Criteria for Inclusion	
The Recruitment Process	
The Interview Process	
The Interview Schedule	
Preparation for Data Analysis	
Chapter Four: Reporting and Analysis of the Interview Data	65
The Overall Outcome of the Process of Integration	65
Strategies of Integration: Five Types	
Biblical Interpretation	70
"A Christianity of Questions"	76
Choice	82
The influence of others	86
Self-Affirmation	
Summary of Identity Integration Strategies	95
	,

Chapter Five: Evaluation of the Cass and Troiden Models	99
A General Discussion of the Data	99
The Cass Model: A General Analysis	104
The Troiden Model: A General Analysis	
The Cass and Troiden Models and the Five Strategies	
of Identity Integration	114
Towards Synthesis and Revision of Theoretical Models	119
Accounting for Conflicting Identities: A Revised Model	126
Identity Confusion / Comparison	
Identity Tolerance	
Identity Acceptance	
Identity Pride / Synthesis	
Implications for Future Research	137
Identity Formation, Political Potential, and Social Change	140
Bibliography	146
Appendix One: Notice for Publication in Church Bulletins	152
Appendix Two: Request for Participation in a Research Project	153
Appendix Three: Consent Form	
Appendix Four: Interview Schedule	
Appendix Five: Numerical Re-organization of Interview Data	
into Themes	164

Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my sincere appreciation to Bob, Lloyd, Wayne, Scott, Charles, Pete, David, and Thomas, whose participation made this study possible.

An underscored thank-you goes to Dr. Holly Devor for years of academic guidance both during the production of this study and prior to it. It has been an honour and a privilege.

My thanks also goes to individuals who spent time and energy, amidst their busy schedules, reading draft after draft after draft: Aaron T. Wilson, Stacy P. LeBlanc, and Laurel Walton. Thanks also to Walter Quan for lending me his dictaphone. The tedium of transcribing interviews would have been exacerbated without it.

Finally, I would again like to thank my spouse Aaron T. Wilson for continued feedback and discussion, and academic and moral support. And also for the party, which was a wonderful surprise that I will not forget.

Chapter One: Introduction

In North America, Christian activists have rallied to protect the nuclear family against what they see as "erosion." From their perspective, the nuclear family consists of a male and a female in marital co-habitation and their children. Christian activists claim that the nuclear family is under "attack" from a variety of threatening groups, especially homosexuals. Gays and lesbians, they claim, represent an aberrant expression of human sexuality, in direct opposition to God's plan for human propagation. Furthermore, gays and lesbians are said to live unhealthy and dangerous lifestyles from which children should be protected.

The power distribution in the so-called battle is not evenly matched. Power differences between Christian communities and gay communities to impose moral values in society are significant. Usual Christian moral values, such as so-called "traditional family values," transcend the boundaries of devout Christian communities and permeate (apparently) secular moral values in society. In spite of Christian moral influence within society, gays and lesbians in North America are marginalized in part as a result of such opinions. Many Christians uphold homosexuality as being an "abomination to God" (Leviticus 18:22, Bible, King James Version), and many Christian organizations have promoted an agenda that specifically targets gay and lesbian individuals and social organizations. Many gays and lesbians who assert their rights to social and legal equality with heterosexuals have expressed outrage, and have organized political agendas that challenge those of anti-gay Christian groups and organizations. The partisan political nature of gay and lesbian activists and

Christian activists is often described using the rhetoric of war, with phrases such as "attack on traditional family values", "spiritual warfare", and "political battle".

Gays and lesbians in North America and elsewhere have gained increased social visibility, public participation, and legal recognition. In addition to advancing demands for equality with heterosexuals, such as in establishing legal recognition of same-sex unions, and achieving the right to adopt children, some gays and lesbians also participate in religious institutions as publicly acknowledged gays and lesbians. For example, the mandate of Metropolitan Community Church (MCC), a growing Christian denomination which has built MCC churches in most major cities in North America, is to provide a safe and accepting place for gay and lesbian Christians and their families. A variety of groups within other denominations have done likewise, such as Dignity (within the Catholic Church), Integrity (within the Anglican Church), and Affirm (within the United Church). Many non-gay Christians have reacted with varying degrees of resistance, claiming that gays and lesbians are not eligible to be Christian because "homosexual lifestyles" are an abomination to God. Biblical passages such as Leviticus 18:22, Leviticus 20:13, Deuteronomy 23:17, Romans 1:26-27, and 1 Timothy 1:9-10 appear to condemn homosexuality, and therefore are used by some Christians to support their view that homosexuality is neither sanctioned by God nor socially tolerable.1

¹ Leviticus 18:22 Thou shalt not lie with mankind as with womankind: it is abomination. Leviticus 20:13 If a man also lie with mankind, as he lieth with a woman, both of them have committed an abomination

Deuteronomy 23:17 There shall be no whore of the daughters of Israel, nor a sodomite of the sons of Israel.

Some commentators about homosexuality and Christianity challenge usual anti-gay interpretations of Biblical scripture and support the right of gays and lesbians to practice Christianity by describing a Biblical exegesis that is not hostile toward homosexuals (e.g., Goss, 1993).² Several authors have recently attested to the movement of many gays and lesbians towards spiritual expression, particularly in Christian contexts (Bouldrey, 1995; Comstock, 1993; Gudorf, 1994; McCall Tigert, 1996; Sweasey, 1997; Shallenberger, 1998; Shelby Spong, 1998; and Stuart, 1997). The emphasis of such authors is on the right, and perhaps even the need, of gays and lesbians to embrace Christian beliefs and practices.

Discussions about how some individuals come to identify as gay or lesbian and also Christian appear to be missing from the epistemological picture. What leads certain individuals to pursue the integration of gay or lesbian and Christian identities? How do they do so? Although I focus only on gay men for reasons that I explain in Chapter Three, in this study I aim to address such

Romans 1:26-27 For this cause God gave them up unto vile affections: for even their women did change the natural use into that which is against nature: And likewise also the men, leaving the natural use of the woman, burned in their lust one toward another; men with men working that which is unseemly

¹ Timothy 1:9-10 . . . the law is not made for a righteous man, but for the lawless and disobedient . . . for them that defile themselves with mankind

² The <u>Bible</u> does not make reference to sexual orientation identities, but -- from some theological perspectives -- appears to express a prohibition of homosexual acts. In my view, current understandings of such passages are often informed by the assumption that one "is" what one "does." What one "does" may not refer to homosexual acts alone; homosexual fantasies and desires are sometimes enough for some individuals to realize that they may "be" gay, as some of the men in this study illustrate. Furthermore, gay Christian men might view Biblical passages which appear to prohibit homosexual acts as void of social, political, and cultural contextualization. A focus on Biblical contexts tends to allow alternative interpretations from the norm, specifically that Biblical passages which appear to make negative reference to homosexuality refer generally to sexual acts which take place out of emotionally-committed relationships. On the other hand, some men do not develop gay identities based on their homosexual activity. The men in this study are clearly not among them.

questions about identity -- one of the implications of the title *Questionable Identities* -- in order to complement existing literature about being gay or lesbian simultaneously with being Christian.

Hostility towards homosexuality, expressed from within Christian churches, has not prevented many people from experiencing homosexual sex, from identifying as gay, from celebrating such an identity, from struggling for legal and social equality with heterosexuals, and from reconciling their gay and Christian identities. Gay Christians are people whose identities emerge counter to dominant ideologies about compulsory heterosexuality, and stand in opposition to so-called "traditional" Christian values concerning sexuality. Furthermore, the existence of gay Christians challenges stereotypical ideas about gay people (that gay people are not those who believe in and practice Christianity), and about Christianity (that the Christian faith necessarily forbids homosexuality).

It is neither original nor an overstatement to point out that, despite increasing tolerance of homosexuality among several liberal Christian denominations, Christian communities, in general, have alienated gays and lesbians. Christian churches are socially and politically powerful entities in North America and elsewhere. Most gay and lesbian people feel the effects of anti-gay attitudes and activism among Christians in a variety of ways. Hate propaganda against gay and lesbian people is disseminated by some high-profile Christians. One consequence of anti-gay sentiments and activism among Christians is an overall reputation of Christianity as being neither tolerant nor friendly towards

gays and lesbians based on the belief that homosexuality is not acceptable within Christian merality. What is often not addressed, however, is that gay communities sometimes alienate Christians. Gay Christian men appear to be socially-situated somewhere in the middle of non-gay Christian communities and non-Christian gay communities, perhaps embraced by neither, a scenario that provides the inspiration for the other implication of the title *Questionable Identities*.

A question closely related to "How?" is "Why?". Why would some gay men embrace a religion that appears to advocate intolerance toward homosexuals? Why would gay individuals not simply reject Christianity? Clearly, the role of religion in the lives of gay Christian men is significant enough to warrant their struggle to practice Christianity as gay men. To assume otherwise does not reflect the complexities of religion in North American society and discounts the challenge that gay Christian men pose to the privileged position of heterosexuals in Christian churches.

This thesis is not relevant only to gay men who are also Christian. More generally, I explore the individual, social, and political significance of identity construction, and, in particular, identity conflict and resolution. By "identity", I am referring to the ways in which individuals perceive and describe themselves in part by how they are acknowledged by others, such as: I am a mother, I am native-Canadian, I am bisexual, I am an accountant, I am a skater, I am a soccer fan. But identity is not merely a list of unproblematic self-descriptions. Indeed, many identities are problematic particularly when identity conflict arises between

two or more self-descriptions, as it commonly does for most people at some time in life. For example, some parents might have difficulty understanding themselves as full-time workers, some lesbians might question their lesbian identity when their sexuality involves men, and some social activists may doubt their status as "activists" if they are employed by large, multi-national corporations which exploit labour in developing nations. Most people, then, have experienced identity conflict in their lives, possibly concerning occupation, age, gender identity, and / or sexual orientation identity, to name a few domains of self-identification. This study concerns identity conflict and resolution specifically among men who simultaneously identify as gay and evangelical Christian, but provides insights that may be applicable to any person who has felt, or is feeling, conflict about two or more identities.

Because of my emphasis towards social justice, this study, a qualitative analysis of interview data, might also be of interest to anyone who enjoys the company of, or is related to, gay or lesbian individuals. The overall aim of this research is to promote civil parity of gays and lesbians with heterosexuals. In addition, I aim to contribute to the erosion of anti-homosexual discrimination and prejudice within Christian communities, and to the building of Christian communities that include gays and lesbians. The primary implication of this research, however, is to support and encourage the right of gays and lesbians to worship in Christian churches, and to be recognized and accepted as gay Christians. My research may also have particular significance to those Christians

who feel discouraged from expressing their homosexuality and from embracing gay or lesbian identities.

Some researchers might object to the political agenda that underlies this research. Those who do so subscribe to the dominant perspective of social research, namely, that researchers are, and must remain, value-neutral in the research process. The tradition of qualitative research is one that challenges such assumptions about research; researchers are not so-called objective observers of social life, but are fully engaged in the interactive process of sociological investigation. The very doing of social research is a social process. I, as the researcher, am not conducting this project as if I were a distant observer. Instead, I engaged with each participant, seeing them not as objectified research subjects, but rather as individuals with whom I interacted to gain understanding about their perceptions, beliefs, and experiences.

Furthermore, my own personal experiences are instrumental in the development of this study because they provided the original impetus for conducting research about Christianity and gay men, and because they influenced the development of the research problem. Qualitative research tends to emphasize emergence and reflexivity in the research process, rather than standardized research processes. This study is the result of a reflexive and continual self-examination of my intentions. When it came time to write a thesis research proposal for the sociology department of the University of Victoria, I had full intentions of doing research that would somehow undermine the anti-gay work of some Christian groups and organizations. Prior to beginning my post-

secondary education, I had participated in so-called "ex-gay" ministries to pursue a heterosexual orientation and identity. ³ At that time, I believed in, and practiced, Christian fundamentalism. In hindsight, I can see clearly that my decision was guided mostly by my own internalized homophobia. Fortunately, I eventually came to understand that my sexual feelings towards men did not, in fact, represent emotional disease or spiritual corruption. Later, as a graduate student, I felt resentful towards Christianity because of its negative influence in my life and in society. My early attitude provided the motivation for what I thought was going to be my graduate degree research.

As the proposal went through a series of revisions, so did my attitude towards Christianity. I came to consider the notion that, as one aspect of promoting equality of gays and lesbians with heterosexual people, gays and lesbians should have the same rights to access religious organizations and to participate in religious practices as do heterosexuals. Many gay and lesbian individuals do participate in Christian churches, but my educated guess is that most do so while hiding their gay or lesbian identity. In addition, I decided to challenge the belief of most Christians that gays and lesbians are products of a sinful world.

The political climate of most Christian churches is that gays and lesbians are not welcome and perhaps even deserve to be disparaged. Yet, some gay and lesbian people have chosen not to hide their gay or lesbian identity while

³ Christian-based "ex-gay" support groups have proliferated throughout North American Christian communities in political response to social and legal gains made by gays and lesbians. Members are encouraged to leave so-called "homosexual lifestyles" and to seek healing for the

they participate in Christian activities. The proposal for my thesis took shape when I began to realize that a more interesting approach to researching issues concerning homosexuality and Christianity would be to interview individuals who had incorporated both identities, rather than people, like myself, who had decided to choose either one or the other. As Thomas, one of the men whom I interviewed, pointed out, "[Pat Robertson] isn't a representation of Christianity, and [Queer Nation] isn't a representation of being gay. They're both off the mark, and they're the ones who get all the airtime, and they're the ones who confuse everyone. . . . There's another story going on here that's way bigger, and those are both distractions."4

It has been my goal to present a part of the other story to which Thomas referred. I use some of the narratives from eight men who simultaneously identify as gay and evangelical Christian in order to explicate the questions, "How?" and, to some degree, "Why?" concerning identity conflict and integration. I also discuss the ways in which analysis of the interview data sheds light on theoretical literature which explores identity in general, and homosexual identity formation in particular. Chapter Two describes literature which forms the theoretical basis for this study, especially that of identity theorists Vivienne Cass and Richard Troiden. In Chapter Three, I present details about how I conducted this research, and describe the somewhat fluid nature of the investigation. Data

psychological and spiritual wounds which are purported to underlie homosexuality. For a less specific but comprehensive analysis of role-exit, see Ebaugh, 1988.

⁴ Pat Robertson is an American politician and television evangelist who is known for his anti-gay rhetoric and activism. Queer Nation is an activist organization that challenges stereotypical, negative, and distorted information about gays and lesbians through public education and direct-action strategies.

analysis -- the organization of data into relevant themes -- is the subject of Chapter Four. In Chapter Five, the final chapter, I return to the main theories about homosexual identity formation which I explored in Chapter Two, and provide recommendations for change to theoretical frameworks. I also furnish a discussion about social and political implications of this study in order to rescue it from being considered by readers as merely academic.

Chapter Two: A Journey Through Theories about Identity and Identity Formation

Some Sociological Theories about Identity

The aim of this research has been to analyze and describe the ways in which men who self-identify as gay and evangelical Christian resolve those two apparently contradicting identities. To do so, I have relied on the narratives of the men whom I interviewed as my primary source of data. My central focus in the interviews with gay evangelical Christian men has been to elucidate the processes of identity formation in simultaneously identifying as gay and evangelical Christian. However, my own understanding has been grounded in theoretical research that has preceded my own.

At the most general theoretical level, identities are commonly used by individuals as terms of self-description. There are as wide a variety of identities as there are social categories, such as age, gender, occupation, nationality, regionalism, sexuality, religion, physical ability, and many others. The important point is that although identities are experienced on an individual level, they are linked with the social world because they reflect social categories.

George Herbert Mead (1934) developed the idea of the "self" and "other" as being reflexive and interlinked with each other (p. 173-78). In his view, the self is comprised of two components, the "I", which represents individual characteristics and uniqueness, and the "Me", which represents the "internalized other". The internalized other refers to the sets of attitudes, beliefs, and

behaviours of both significant and generalized others, which one has integrated into one's own sense of self.

Similarly, Charles Horton Cooley (1964) emphasized the social aspects of the self. Cooley conceptualized the "Me" as the "looking-glass self" (p. 196), in which individuals learn to see themselves as reflected through the eyes of other people. Cooley explained that "the thing that moves us to pride or shame is not the mere mechanical reflection of ourselves, but . . . the imagined effect of this reflection upon another's mind" (p. 184). According to Cooley, the self is dependent on, but not determined by, other people. The "looking-glass self" is a flexible process; as individuals change their beliefs and values, they tend to seek people who are supportive while drawing away from those who are not. The development of self, from Cooley's point of view, is achieved most importantly through close relationships with people such as family members and friends, although the specific individuals who represent those close relationships may change over time.

Victor Gecas (1982) problematized Mead's and Cooley's concepts of the self because, in his view, such concepts are not accessible to empirical investigation. Alternatively, the "self-concept" is empirically measurable because it is the measurable product of reflexive activity, a product which comprises the totality of thoughts, feelings, and perceptions from which one references oneself as a social object. The self-concept might arise as the reflected appraisals of others through the "looking-glass self", as described by Cooley, but, as does

Mead, Gecas points out the discrepancy between how an individual views oneself, and how other people view that individual.

According to Gecas, self-concepts arise, in part, from social comparisons. Social comparisons -- the self-assessment of one's characteristics in social contexts -- tend to be made in situations "where knowledge about self attribution is ambiguous or uncertain" (p. 6). Comparisons tend also to be made in reference to particular groups which provide a source of norms and standards for self-evaluation and reevaluation (Cass, 1979). Rather than passive, the self-concept is active: social interaction is a reciprocal process in which individuals have the capacity to negotiate their identities. For Gecas, individuals and the social world are reciprocal; self-concepts, including identities, are emergent, reciprocal, and negotiated.

To explain the self in the context of society, Erving Goffman (1959) employed the metaphor of the stage to imply that the successful performance of identities is achieved through a "veneer of consensus" (p. 9) among all of the players who tacitly agree that all of the self-presentations are real. Self-presentations are usually performed as shared understandings of social roles. Roles are not monolithic or inflexible, but, rather, exist as a framework around which individuals fill in the details of scripts in the negotiation of social interactions. By emphasizing the performative nature of the self, Goffman emphasized the active, as opposed to the passive, aspects of human actors.

Another view of self-concept is proposed by John C. Turner (1982). He suggested that self-concepts are comprised of social identities and personal

specific attributes such as "feelings of competence, bodily attributes, ways of relating to others, psychological characteristics, intellectual concerns, personal tastes, and so on" (p. 18). Social identities, on the other hand, are the result of processes by which people locate themselves within a system of social categories. In Turner's view, self-concepts are adaptive. People learn to

regulate their social behaviour in terms of different self-conceptions in different situations. Different situations tend to 'switch on' different conceptions of self so that social stimuli are construed and social behaviour controlled in the appropriately adaptive manner (p. 20).

The notion that self-concepts as identities are not fixed, uniform, or consistent is similar to the views of some historians. For example, Michel Foucault (1978, p. 42) and Jeffrey Weeks (1989, p. 108) argued that, during the nineteenth century, social regulation provided the conditions under which some people self-actualized their own consciousness and identities in accordance with newly-emergent categories which were regulated and repeatedly articulated, especially within the medical community. This process of emergence is purported to have been especially salient among homosexual people because of a scientific focus on sexuality. Weeks (p. 102) and Foucault (p. 43) argue that, while homosexual acts have existed throughout human history, homosexual people -- that is, people with homosexual identities -- did not exist until the nineteenth century.

Theorists such as Goffman, Gecas, Turner, Weeks, and Foucault support the view that individuals actively engage their identities in conjunction with the social world. Such a perspective contrasts with the common belief that sexual orientation and sexual orientation identities are stable, consistent, and uniform.

The Role of Behaviour in Identity Acquisition

Sometimes, identities are associated with specific behaviours. For example, people who engage in homosexuality often describe themselves as being "homosexuals". Other people might use descriptives such as "gay", "lesbian", or "queer". An important question here is whether or not behaviour is a necessary component in the formation of a particular identity.

John H. Gagnon and William Simon (1973) argued that behaviours, such as sexual ones, follow social scripts. In their view, the socially-scripted nature of human sexuality is hidden by an emphasis on biological explanations of the etiology of sexual behaviour. According to Gagnon and Simon, sexual experiences are unlikely to occur without sexual scripts:

Combining such elements as desire, privacy, and a physically attractive person . . . the probability of something happening will, under normal circumstances, remain exceedingly small until either one or both actions organize these behaviours into an appropriate script (p. 19).

Gagnon and Simon included sexual arousal in the scripted process. They observed that many physical acts are homologous to sexual ones, such as "the palpation of the breast for cancer, the gynecological examination, the insertion of

tampons, mouth-to-mouth resuscitation" (p. 23), but the context is such that the social situation and actors are not defined as sexual. In such situations, sexual arousal is usually not facilitated because the sexual script does not tend to include such contexts. According to Gagnon and Simon, sexual acts occur through the channel of socially-learned meanings attached to situations and events (p. 23).

If one engages in homosexual activity, and if such activity follows a social script as argued by Gagnon and Simon, do homosexual social scripts necessarily result in persons who identify as homosexual? Less specifically, what is the significance of behaviour in the formation of identities? Perhaps not all people who have experienced homosexuality self-identify as being "homosexuals" (Humphries, 1970, p. 112). According to theorists such as Richard Green (1974), behaviour is a necessary component of identity, but not the only component. Green argued that sexual identity is composed of three components: a person's basic conviction of being either female or male, the behaviour of an individual which is culturally associated with being female or male (femininity and masculinity), and individual preferences for female or male sexual partners (p. xv). Most theorists would now likely separate those components into three distinct but related areas of identity: sex, gender, and sexual orientation.

It is apparent that Green attributed identity from behaviour in his statement that social scientists "have been accumulating knowledge into the origins of those behaviours which constitute sexual identity" (p. 307, italics mine).

In contrast to theorists who attribute, but do not explain, homosexual identity, Vivienne Cass (1979) developed a cognitive model of the acquisition of homosexual identity. I will explore each of the stages of the Cass model in depth later in this chapter, but the important point to be made here is that Cass has problematized identity and the role of behaviour in identity acquisition. For Cass, identities are best understood as achievements of individuals. On one hand, specific behaviours might precede identity acquisition, but on the other hand, such behaviours might also follow identity acquisition. One way to express the distinction between homosexual behaviour and homosexual identity is to refer to the former as "sexual orientation" and the latter as "sexual orientation identity" (Devor, 1993, p. 304).

Orientation refers to the set of sexual fantasies, desires and / or activities.⁵ The term "sexual orientation" is a relatively modern one, but it seems appropriate to suggest that the Kinsey Heterosexual-Homosexual Scale (KHHS) (Kinsey et al., 1948) is a scale that describes sexual orientation, rather than sexual orientation identity. Kinsey and his colleagues developed the KHHS as a scale ranging from zero (exclusively heterosexual) to six (exclusively homosexual), rather than as two discrete categories (p. 638). The scale was developed by studying the sexual behaviours of 6300 men, focusing largely on overt sexual experiences (p. 57).

Some theorists have since modified the KHHS. Michael Shively and John De Cecco (1977), for example, divided sexual orientation into two components:

⁵ The absence of fantasies, desires, and/or activities might suggest an asexual orientation.

physical and affectional preference for male and/or female sexual partners (p. 45). Sexual orientation can be measured by using two physical preference scales and two affectional preference scales (heterosexual and homosexual), each ranging from "not at all" to "very". The dual scales for both physical and affectional preferences were improvements of the Kinsey scale in which sexual preference of individuals is measured behaviourally on a single 0-6 scale because, according to Shively and De Cecco, the Kinsey scale expresses one orientation at the expense of the other.

Another modification of the KHHS is the Klein Sexual Orientation Grid (KSOG). The KSOG was developed in 1985 by Fritz Klein, Barry Sepekoff, and Timothy Wolf, and builds on the Kinsey sexual orientation scale. In the view of Klein and his colleagues, the KHHS privileges overt sexual activity at the expense of other elements of sexuality, such as attraction, fantasy, lifestyle, emotional preference, social preference, and self-identification (p. 38).

The KSOG is a two dimensional grid. The vertical axis is composed of seven variables, three of which describe the sexual self (attraction, fantasy, and behaviour), three other variables which describe components of sexual orientation (emotional, social, and lifestyle), and a final variable which describes self-identification (p. 46). In addition, the horizontal axis is composed of past, present, and ideal responses for each area of sexual orientation. Thus, twenty-one ratings result from a 7 x 3 grid. In each cell, respondents were asked to rate themselves according to the Kinsey seven-point scale.

Using the KSOG to measure sexual orientation, Klein et al. found that sexual orientation is a process which often changes over time (p. 45). In addition, Klein et al. found that the categories of homosexual, heterosexual, and bisexual are simplistic and inadequate to describe sexual orientation. Although the KSOG is a useful tool to differentiate and describe individuals, including the ways in which they identify themselves concerning sexual orientation (p. 48), it is not able to describe the process of identity formation.

Scales such as the KHHS and the KSOG tend not to account for stigma. Stigma is a factor which is especially important in the process of sexual orientation identity acquisition because the acquisition of an identity associated with a stigmatized behaviour lacks social support (Goffman, 1963). Theorists and researchers have tended to focus on explaining stigmatized behaviours, leaving normative behaviours unexplained. It is therefore useful to look at some theories which try to explain sexual orientation in general, rather than homosexual orientation in specific.

Eidelf Wasserman and Michael Storms (1984) formulated one such theory. They argued that the age of sexual maturation is critical in the development of sexual orientation. They hypothesized that the onset of sexual maturation during heterosocial bonding periods in adolescence leads to the eroticization of heterosexual cues. Similarly, the onset of sexual maturation during homosocial bonding periods, which Wasserman and Storms define as being between the ages of eight and thirteen, often leads to homosexual attractions. They found a positive relationship between early onset of sexual

maturation and higher levels of adult homoeroticism for men, but no statistically significant results could be found for women.

Daryl Bem (1996) explained sexual orientation by emphasizing childhood gender conformity or non-conformity, rather than the onset of sexual maturation. For Bem, childhood gender conformity / non-conformity is the "strongest [and] only significant childhood predictor of later sexual orientation for both men and women" (p. 322). According to Bem's Exotic Becomes Erotic (EBE) theory, gender-conforming children become aware that they are different from other-sex peers, while gender-nonconforming children become aware that they are different from their same-sex peers. Such childhood feelings of dissimilarity ("exotic") form the basis of adult sexual orientation ("erotic").6

The work of Wasserman and Storms, and Bem, are important because they draw the focus away from homosexuals and homosexuality and attempt to explain sexuality in general. Missing, however, is an analysis of identity acquisition. It is therefore necessary to examine and explain not only sexual orientation, but sexual orientation identity as well. Doing so broadens understandings of the ways in which individuals place themselves in the social world, assists in examining group affiliation and disaffiliation, and sharpens

⁶ Although Bem uses the term "gender" as the basis of the EBE theory, he assumes that there is a congruence between sex and gender. He hypothesizes that gender conforming (masculine) boys and will be attracted to gender conforming (feminine) girls because of the eroticization of "other". However, his schema does not account for the possibility of attractions between gender non-conforming boys and gender non-conforming girls, and between gender conforming boys and gender non-conforming boys. The expressions of masculinity and femininity are not traits only of gender-conforming boys and girls, respectively (Devor, 1989). Rather than gender (boy / girl), the EBE theory more accurately refers to gender role (masculinity / femininity).

analysis of the ways in which individuals negotiate social stigma and cognitive dissonance.

Social Sanctions and Identity

The stigmatization of homosexuality implies that some identities are prescribed while others are proscribed. Homosexuals are among individuals whose behaviours and identities are "discreditable" (Goffman, 1963, p. 42).7 The term "discreditable" might apply to gays or lesbians who are closeted about their sexuality, who keep it hidden from all but their most trusted others, and who adopt strategies to pass as heterosexual in public. Individuals who pass commonly feel anxiety about accidental disclosure, and often experience feelings of self-contempt because of the discreditable nature of their identity (Goffman, p. 87-8; Humphries, 1972, p. 69).

For individuals who might be found to be "blemished" by the majority of people if their "discreditable" behaviour or identity were to become public information, social stigma often facilitates an internal conflict. Such conflict might be experienced because of the felt inconsistency between action and beliefs, or between identity and social norms. According to Leon Festinger (1957) most

⁷ I would argue that homosexuality is generally not as strongly associated with social stigma today as when Goffman proposed his theories in 1963, depending on factors such as geographic location, education, and religiosity. In contrast to when Goffman wrote <u>Stigma</u>: <u>Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity</u>, many more people now reject the notion that homosexuality is abnormal and have voluntarily "come out" in society as gay or lesbian people. In addition, many heterosexuals have accepted and support their gay and lesbian family members, friends, and coworkers. However, strategies of identity management in order to "pass" as heterosexual (p. 80-1) remain relevant among many homosexuals.

people will, at some time or another, experience inconsistencies between their beliefs and actions. He called such discomfort "cognitive dissonance".

Festinger refers to dissonance and consonance as "relations which exist between pairs of elements" (p. 9). Two elements are dissonant if they do not fit together in one way or another. He also suggests that the magnitude of dissonance increases as the importance of the value of the elements increases (p. 18). The greater the dissonance, the greater will be the motivation to reduce it.

Consonance can be achieved by changing one's behaviour to correspond with one's social environment, or by requiring one's current social groups to accommodate one's behaviour. If not impossible, the latter approach is often more difficult than the former approach because it requires changing the attitudes or beliefs of others, rather than those of one's self. However, Festinger added that another approach is to add new cognitive elements (p. 21-4), such as information which challenges the assumption that homosexuality is abnormal and deviant. Changing one's social groups, for example, can provide such new cognitive elements.

Overtly compliant behaviour may be elicited by threatened punishment or promised reward, depending on the magnitude of each. Among individuals whose behaviour conforms, dissonance continues only as long as one continues to maintain one's initial private beliefs and opinions (Festinger, p. 94).

Correspondingly, a reduction of dissonance may result from a change in private beliefs. The point to be underscored is that, as Festinger put it, social groups are

at once a major source of cognitive dissonance for the individual and a major vehicle for eliminating and reducing the dissonance which may exist in [her or] him (p. 177).

Festinger's cognitive dissonance theory is useful in the context of homosexuality because of the social stigma which continues to accompany homosexual behaviour and identities, and the strategies which some homosexual individuals employ to manage such stigma. Some homosexual individuals are attracted to groups which seek to change their sexual orientation from homosexual to heterosexual. So-called "reparative therapy" and Christian "ex-gay" groups attract some homosexual people who feel persistent conflict about being homosexual, and who seek resolution of such conflict by seeking to become heterosexual (Davidson, 1991; Haldeman, 1991; Silverstein, 1991). For other homosexuals, the reduction of cognitive dissonance is achieved through seeking other groups, such as gay-positive counselling and gay Christian groups. Regardless of the context, affiliation reflects Festinger's observation that individuals often attempt to obtain social support for the opinions that they wish to maintain. If successful in this venture, dissonance will be reduced.

Richard R. Troiden (1988) illustrated stigma and dissonance associated with homosexuality as arising from a variety of linked factors. According to Troiden, individuals usually experience confusion and inner turmoil prior to identity acceptance. The decision to define themselves as homosexual is often proscribed within associated groups such as family, church or synagogue, and / or schools. Stigma and secrecy infuse homosexual identities with an awareness of social disapproval. In order to adopt and accept a homosexual identity, one is

often led to switch allegiances, perhaps by withdrawing from individuals and groups who disapprove of homosexuality and by associating with those who do not (p. 97-8).

Referring to religious contexts, Chana Ullman (1989) believes that the experience of intense negative emotions is common to all religious converts prior to their respective changes (p. 91). Such dissonance acts as an impetus for self-motivated change. However, contrary to Mead, Cooley, and Gecas, Ullman suggested that the self cannot be adequately described as merely a "looking glass" that reflects the beliefs, roles, and values prescribed by significant others. According to Ullman, potential religious converts are not merely passive recipients of social pressure or manipulation, and tend not to experience a mere temporary infatuation with particular authority figures, peer groups, or transcendental objects. Rather, a transformed self is one that undergoes a profound, long-term, and variably self-motivated shift in perspective. Ullman underscores the argument that adult identities are, in fact, resistant to change (p. 93).

Behaviourist, Psychoanalytical, and Biological Theories about Sexual Orientation

Behaviourists emphasize that sexual orientation is a consequence of the reinforcements in a person's environment to which one has been exposed.

Behaviourist explanations of non-normative behaviours, such as homosexuality, emphasize life experiences and learning processes. From a behaviourist perspective, adult homosexuality is linked with childhood experiences, some of

which might be classified as traumatic (such as sexual assault), while others might be classified as associative (such as childhood gender non-conformity). Most behaviourists do not tend to consider or investigate the causes of normative behaviours. However, some such theorists emphasize the necessity of clinical intervention to reverse non-normative behavioural patterns (McGuire, Carlisle, and Young, 1965) while others do not (Money and Russo, 1979; Green, 1987). Theorists who do not necessarily recommend clinical intervention also tend to consider the ways in which social prejudices, such as homophobia, are sometimes disguised as behavioural modification programs.

Nevertheless, one of the implications of behaviourists' emphasis of learning theory is that, because behaviour is learned, it can also be unlearned. This notion has lead to so-called "aversion therapies" designed to shift the sexual orientation of homosexuals to heterosexuality through the administering of apomorphine-induced nausea and electric shock to male "patients" while they view erotic photographs of men (LeVay, 1996, p. 92). The purpose is to "unlearn" homosexuality by associating it with unpleasant and physically painful experiences.

Psychoanalysists do not emphasize social learning as a factor of behaviour. Instead, they explore the inner passages of the mind which are not readily accessible on a conscious level. Sigmund Freud argued that male homosexuality is a failure or inhibition of full human sexual development resulting from unresolved Oedipal conflicts (LeVay, p. 73). He suggested that, as children, male homosexuals have intense erotic attachments to a mother figure because

of the combined effect of maternal tenderness and paternal absence. The implication for many psychotherapists, such as Mayerson and Lief (1965), Bieber (1976), and Van Den Aardweg (1985) is that the resolution of the inner Oedipal conflict would "convert" homosexual clients to heterosexuality. During the 1960s and 1970s, psychoanalytic theory was highly influential and emphasized defective parenting in the form of detached fathers and domineering mothers as representing family dynamics in which an unresolved Oedipal conflict is typically manifested.

A third perspective on the etiology of homosexuality are biological theories of sexuality. Such theories have a long history and currently constitute perhaps the most influential of theoretical perspectives. One of the first of such theories was presented in 1864 by Karl Heinrich Ulrichs, a German sexologist, who suggested that the human embryo has the potential for mental and physical development in the direction of being either female or male (LeVay, 1996, p. 12). He argued that among male "inverts" (a term used to describe homosexuals before the word "homosexual" was coined), the sex of the body is male, while the mental development is female. Among female "inverts", Ulrichs argued that the body development is female, while the mental development is male.

Biological theories became more sophisticated throughout the twentieth century since Ulrichs' early theory. Shortly after the turn of the century, Magnus Hirschfeld coined the term the "third sex" to describe homosexual people. He suggested that homosexuals constitute a third category of humans, apart from males and females, because of inborn sexual variance (LeVay, p. 30).

The emphasis on the biological differences between heterosexuals and homosexuals continues to be a prominent theme in research about sexuality. According to Simon LeVay (1991), male homosexuality can be largely explained by prenatal sexual differentiation of the brain. He found a significant difference in a small section of the hypothalamus (known as INAH3) between men and women, and between gay men and straight men. He hypothesized that there is a correlation between the size of INAH3 and sexual orientation toward females, specifically that the INAH3 would be larger in heterosexual men and homosexual women than in gay men. LeVay found that gay men have significantly smaller INAH3's than do heterosexual men, but he did not examine female brains.

Among geneticists, Dean Hamer studied genetic material of gay brothers and claimed to have isolated a possible "gay gene", Xq28, near the end of the X chromosome. Xq28 has been unofficially named Gay-1 within the geneticists' lexicon (Burr, 1996, p. 196-97). A genetic marker in that region, according to Hamer, indicates a predisposition towards homosexuality.

While such biological theories attempt to explain the etiology of homosexuality, there are problems with the work of LeVay and Hamer, among other biological theorists. I do not pretend to have the expertise to critique their work from a biological standpoint.8 However, the social implications of their work are problematic. First, researchers who have developed biological explanations of sexuality have concentrated their attention on the sexuality of men. Apart from the sexism evident in such male-oriented research, the validity of such theories

⁸ Byne (1995) and Swaab, et al. (1995) provide a critique of biological theories of sexuality.

is questionable unless they include research on and about women. Second, the interpretation of their findings by others may lead to the conclusion that homosexuality can now be conclusively "cured" through brain surgery, or eliminated through disposal of fetuses found to carry the gay gene. This is not the intent of researchers such as LeVay and Hamer, but the potential for such eugenics directed toward homosexuals is salient, given that some clinicians, psychotherapists, and researchers continue to view homosexuality as deviant.

Furthermore, whereas learning theories, psychoanalytic theories, and biological theories attempt to explain sexual orientation, they do not account for sexual orientation identity.

The Formation of Sexual Orientation Identity

Much of the emphasis among a wide variety of researchers has been on sexual behaviour and sexual orientation. My interest lies with sexual orientation identity. Sexual orientation identity is different from sexual behaviour because behaviour is not synonymous with, or even necessary in, the development of sexual orientation identity. Furthermore, identifications as gay, lesbian, straight, or "bi" do not necessarily follow from corresponding sexual orientations as homosexual, heterosexual, or bisexual.

Sexual orientation identity has been the focus of several theorists who have proposed a variety of "stage" models to explain gay male identity, lesbian identity and bisexual identity formation (Plummer, 1975; Ponse, 1978; Cass, 1979; Kitzinger, 1987; Troiden, 1988; and Rust, 1992). Such models are useful,

not as grand theories, but rather as typical-case scenarios or broad guidelines. While representing varied sexual orientation identities, each model emphasizes identity as being socially constructed, and psychically interpreted and negotiated. I will describe only two such models in depth because, according to Michele J. Eliason (1996, p. 53), only the Cass (1979) and Troiden (1988) models have been empirically validated after having been developed. The strength of the Cass and Troiden models, in Eliason's view, is that the stages of identity development have been formulated to correspond to people's experiences, rather than the other way around (p. 53).

The Cass Model

From her work as a clinical psychologist in a counselling service specifically for homosexual people, Vivienne Cass (1979) developed a theoretical model of homosexual identity formation. The Cass six-stage model emphasizes cognitive development in the acquisition of a homosexual identity; individuals continually evaluate and reevaluate their status as homosexuals. The question, "Am I a homosexual?" is the hallmark of the first stage, the confusion stage. It is during this stage that some people might compare their own behaviour with the behaviours that they associate with being homosexual. The question "Who am I?" is usually accompanied by varying degrees of personal alienation. One strategy for resolving the confusion is to seek relevant information, perhaps in the form of reading books about homosexuality, or going for counselling. Another strategy is to conclude that the meaning of one's

particular behaviours is indeed homosexual in nature, and is also undesirable. In such a case, one might reject the notion that one is a potential homosexual.

Identity comparisons are common during the second stage, the comparison stage. The realization that, "I may be a homosexual", is perhaps the first step toward commitment to a homosexual identity, and is done in the context of making comparisons between oneself and feedback from others or between oneself and one's perceptions of homosexuality in general. Negative comparisons or perceptions may abort or delay further exploration of a homosexual identity. Positive ones may encourage the individual to make contacts with other homosexual people and are beneficial to managing the expectations and behaviours of an emerging homosexual identity. Such a strategy might be especially important if one is abandoning heterosexual lifestyles and expectations.

The third phase is the identity tolerance stage. During this phase, an individual realizes that "I probably am a homosexual", and tolerates, rather than fully accepts, a homosexual identity. Making contacts with other homosexual people is seen as a necessary strategy for alleviating social isolation.

Acceptance by other homosexual people increases one's awareness that one is not a heterosexual, and therefore one gradually detaches from social involvement with heterosexual friends.

Acceptance of a homosexual identity is indicative of the fourth stage in which individuals increase involvement with members of homosexual communities to validate their homosexual identity. Some individuals subscribe to

the philosophy of "partial legitimization", which is the belief that homosexuality is fine as a private identity, but should not be expressed in public. Passing becomes a routine management strategy, but restricting social contacts with heterosexuals limits the need to pass. Those who decide that passing is unacceptable subscribe to the philosophy of "full legitimization", which is the belief that homosexuality is valid both privately and publicly.

Most individuals are aware of the incongruency that exists between a positively-held identity as homosexual and the rejection of homosexuals by other members of society. During the identity pride stage, individuals become totally self-accepting as homosexuals, but are acutely aware of differences between themselves as homosexuals and the rest of society. The importance of heterosexuals in the lives of people in the pride stage is devalued, and identification with a gay subculture is increased. However, some individuals find that, contrary to their expectations, some heterosexuals are accepting of homosexuals, and some homosexuals are not desirable allies. The line dichotomizing heterosexuals and homosexuals becomes blurred, leading to Stage Six.

Identity synthesis, the last stage of the Cass model, is achieved when individuals integrate personal and public homosexual identities: "A fully developed sense of self as 'a homosexual' requires accord between self-perception and imagined views of self held by all others constituting the individual's social environment" (Cass, 1984b, p. 111). The "us and them" view of society, the sharp division in perceptions about homosexuals and

heterosexuals typical of the identity pride stage, begins to weaken. Pride about one's homosexuality remains strong, but there is often a renewed perception of similarity to heterosexuals and a growing awareness of dissimilarity in contrast with some other homosexuals.

The Troiden Model

Troiden (1988) constructed a four-stage ideal-typical model of identity formation. The first stage, sensitization, occurs before puberty. During sensitization, childhood experiences, such as generalized feelings of marginality and / or differences, sensitize future gay and lesbian individuals to self-definitions as homosexual. Individual perceptions of difference or marginalization is typically related to social and gender roles rather than to the cognitive adoption of gay or lesbian categories. The sensitization stage accounts for feelings of difference which many gay men and lesbians experience in childhood. Similar to Bem's focus on childhood gender conformity / non-conformity, Troiden emphasized the importance of the meanings which people subsequently attach to childhood experiences.

The second stage is identity confusion. During adolescence, individuals usually experience inner turmoil and uncertainty about the possibility that they may have an ambiguous or stigmatized sexual status. Strategies that individuals choose to cope with confusion usually involve a variety of avoidance techniques, such as adopting anti-homosexual postures, engaging in heterosocial (and perhaps heterosexual) immersion, and / or "escaping" through drugs, suicidal

ideation, or suicide. Another strategy involves an individual's redefinition of her or his behaviour along more conventional lines, such that homosexual feelings are deemed to be "one-time" occurrences, or "special-case" relationships. For some people, identity confusion does not necessarily lead to the continuation of the process of homosexual identity acquisition; Troiden acknowledges that some people who experience sexual orientation identity confusion never adopt homosexual identities.

For other people, identity assumption follows identity confusion. Usually occurring during or after late adolescence, this third stage reflects one's self-definition as homosexual. People who enter stage three begin to self-identify as homosexual and might begin to disclose their identity to others, as least to other homosexuals. Social and sexual exploration begin to take place. Individuals make contacts with other homosexuals and might interpret such contacts as either positive or negative. Positive contacts might facilitate identity formation, while negative contacts might hinder, halt, or reverse identity formation. The intensity and frequency of those positive and negative experiences will have an impact upon the identity formation process. During the initiation of such contacts, individuals often have lingering perceptions of the increased risks of living as gay or lesbian in homophobic cultures.

Once a gay or lesbian identity is adopted, individuals must employ strategies for managing the accompanying stigma. Strategies to do so may include "passing" as heterosexual among heterosexuals, and "group alignment", in which gay men and lesbians become absorbed in gay or lesbian communities

to achieve a sense of belonging and to avoid the stigma they feel while in the company of heterosexuals.

The final stage in Troiden's model is the commitment stage, the hallmarks of which are self-acceptance and comfort with a homosexual self-identity and social role. "Internal indicators" of commitment may include the integration of a homosexual identity into an overall image of self; the perception of the homosexual identity as valid and positive; and the degree of satisfaction about one's homosexual identity. "External indicators" may include the establishment of same-sex relationships, the disclosure of one's homosexual status among heterosexuals, and a shift in stigma-management strategies. Stigma-management strategies typically shift from passing and group alignment to "blending" or "converting." Individuals who "blend" attempt to act in gender-appropriate ways, while neither denouncing nor announcing their homosexual identity to heterosexuals. Individuals who "convert" endeavour to shift their perception about their homosexuality from being a "vice to a virtue."

Troiden explained that his model is developed specifically for *homo*sexual orientation identity formation, as opposed to *sexual* orientation identity formation, because homosexual identities are infused with "transsituational significance" (p. 33). He provided four considerations to explain such significance: the social stigma about homosexuality, the cultural link between homosexuality and gender-atypical behaviour, the assumption that individuals are "born" heterosexual, and the inferiorization of minorities by dominant groups. Such transsituational significance explains why some homosexuals feel that their

homosexual identity takes priority over their other identities. It also explains the emphasis placed on homosexual identities in others among most heterosexuals. Such a prioritized identity is known as a master-status (Becker, 1963).

Comparing and Evaluating the Cass and Troiden Models

Although Cass has specified two more stages in her model than does

Troiden in his, both models reflect the process of homosexual identity formation
as a gradation from one stage to the next, each stage indicating greater levels of
commitment to a homosexual identity. Neither Cass nor Troiden emphasized
overt sexual experiences in the various stages of their models, suggesting that
sexual behaviour is a possible but not a necessary factor in the development of
homosexual identity. However, both Cass and Troiden agree that the success of
homosexual identity acquisition is buttressed by social, and perhaps sexual,
interactions with other homosexuals. Positive interactions with other
homosexuals is seen to facilitate the development of a homosexual identity,
while negative interactions have the potential to abort or reverse, at least for a
time, continuation of one's identity formation process. Positive interactions
become increasingly important as one moves from one stage to the next.

Both Cass and Troiden allow for interruptions of the process at any point.

Individuals can choose to forgo identity development, and can also return at a later date. Many gay men and lesbians choose heterosexual marriage, believing that making such a choice and engaging in such behaviour would change their SOI from gay to straight. Later in life, after realizing that homosexual desires and

fantasies remain, many such individuals begin, or return to, the process of acquiring a homosexual identity. Similarly, some people choose psychotherapy to "cure" them of their homosexuality, and some seek Christian "ex-gay" ministry and prayer to "heal" them of the traumatic experiences and "emotional brokenness" purported by some Christians to be the root cause of homosexuality (Payne, 1981; Moberly, 1983; Anderson-Barnes, 1991). The result tends to be exacerbation of cognitive dissonance until such time as the individual seeks resolution and self-acceptance of being a homosexual.

One difference between the Cass and Troiden models is that Troiden accounts for childhood and adolescent experiences which contribute to adult identities as gay or lesbian. No such age specification is included in the Cass model. Another difference concerns the finals stages of homosexual identity formation. While Cass separates overall acceptance into a pride stage (Stage Five) and an integration stage (Stage Six), Troiden groups the nuances of self-acceptance of one's homosexual identity into one stage (commitment). Perhaps Cass has organized such nuances because of her overall assumption about identity acceptance. Her model is based on the notion that for individuals who have "completed" the identity acquisition process, homosexual identity is integrated into all aspects of their lives, including public realms in which they might have little contact with other homosexuals and much contact with heterosexuals.

Although the Cass and Troiden models have been highly influential among identity theorists and clinical practitioners, three problems are evident.

First, the models suggest identity acquisition as a more or less linear process, even though the models are premised on the assumption that identity is negotiated and therefore never permanent. Cass and Troiden do account for interruptions or reversals in the process. Nevertheless, the implication is that homosexual identity acquisition has a theoretical beginning and a theoretical end. Among some self-identified gays and lesbians, perhaps the process is linear and permanent over their respective lifetimes. Among others, however, perhaps sexuality and sexual orientation identity reflect a pattern that is more fluid.

A second problem is that both Cass and Troiden apply their respective models to both men and women in the formation of gay and lesbian identities. Some of the other "stage" identity theorists specify application of their respective models as being appropriate for either men or women, but not both. Paula Rust (1992) attempts to account for bisexual identity formation among women. Some other theorists and researchers are in sharp disagreement with the assumed isomorphism of homosexuality in men and women (Gonsiorek, 1995; Eliason, 1996). Laura Brown (1995) argues that, although gay men and lesbians may have sexual minority status in common, the experiences of women that are germane to sexual orientation identity are significantly different from those of men. Specifically, Brown suggests that the awareness of same-sex attraction for women tends to begin affectionally rather than sexually, the latter being more reflective of the identity formation of gay men.

A third problem is that models of identity formation, while acting as broad guidelines of a single, but nevertheless very important, aspect of one's life, tend not to consider the ways in which other self-identity markers intersect sexual orientation identity. Eliason listed factors such as race, ethnicity, and gender as potentially being interlinked with one's homosexual identity (p. 52). Most of the research concerning coming-out theories has been conducted on white, middle-class individuals. Hence, such research cannot reflect or account for the conflict that some people experience between homosexual identity and some other identities. Michael Red Earth (1997), for example, self-identifies as Native and as gay, and describes his experiences of homophobia expressed by some other Native people, and of racism expressed by some other gay men (p. 214-15). Given the specific focus of this study, I would add religious identity to Eliason's list.

Religious Identity and Sexual Orientation Identity

As the experiences of Michael Red Earth suggest, the ways in which individuals self-identify are not always harmoniously integrated. Dissonance occurs when individuals experience conflict between two or more aspects of their overall identity. Some other examples might include physicians who smoke, feminist men, lesbians who are members of visible minorities (within a white majority), and transgendered people in a gender-dichotomized society.

Religiosity can confound one's acceptance of being gay. While most of the world's major religions have expressed opposition to homosexuality in a

variety of ways, I will specify my analysis to Christianity because Christianity is the dominant religion in North America, and because Christian moral values usually motivate anti-gay political movements. Such political involvement is undertaken by individual and groups of Christians collectively and commonly known as the "Christian Right" (Herman, 1997). Anti-gay activism sometimes takes the form of personal beliefs such as the notion that homosexuality is contrary to God's will for humans. Such a belief itself is rather benign; political action that is motivated from such a belief is more harmful to gays and lesbians than are one's religious values alone. People who subscribe to the conservative views of the Christian Right are often involved in campaigns to deny gays and lesbians their civil rights, thereby perpetuating heterosexual privilege.

The salient anti-gay Christian social and political context indicates one reason why I have not explored theories about religious identity with equal depth as theories about sexual orientation and sexual orientation identity. In spite of homosexual political activism and social visibility, homosexuality remains somewhat stigmatized, while Christianity is generally not fraught with such stigma, even though Christian beliefs and practices might be discouraged among some gay individuals or groups. Nevertheless, my focus is to explore the development of homosexual identities against a backdrop of Christianity, regardless of the order of emergence. While an important ideological tenet of evangelical Christianity is traditional family values (mother, father, and their children) -- which implicitly, and sometimes explicitly, excludes homosexual

individuals and gay relationships -- being gay in contemporary North American society does not tend to require the exclusion of Christians and Christianity.

A second reason that I have focused this literature review on homosexual identity formation is that the research about religious affiliation tends to focus on conversion (Suchman, 1992, p. 15). Conversion implies a complete change in identity construct (Thumma, 1991, p. 334). Alternatively, my focus on the integration of gay and Christian identities implies an analysis of the ways in which systems of meaning are created and maintained through identity negotiation in part through interaction with others. Such processes of meaning, otherwise known as symbolic interaction by social scientists, might be thought of as social products. For theorists of symbolic interactionism, the meanings of objects, phenomena, and events are not intrinsic nor formed through psychological interpretation. Rather, meanings are created, maintained, and negotiated through social interaction. Such a symbolic interactionist perspective explores the negotiation and maintenance of integrated identities through the process of socialization (Mead, 1934; Goffman, 1963). Scott Thumma (1991) refers to religious or sexual orientation identity negotiation as "a part of the natural process in which people engage to create a more stable and coherent self-concept" (p. 334). Such shifts in identity, less dramatic than common notions about conversion, illustrate general, but nevertheless complex and subtle, processes of negotiation and re-negotiation that take place in the everyday social world.

A third reason for my lack of attention to theories about religious identity is practical limitations. An expanded version of this research would pay close examination to the temporal emergence of incongruent identities, and the ways in which such temporality has an impact upon the magnitude of dissonance and choice of resolution strategies (Mahaffy, 1996). Such a future work would require thorough examination of theories that explain religious identity formation.

This study is somewhat limited by the lack of exploration of theories about religious identity formation for the reasons that I have described. Nevertheless, the absence of such a discussion does not impair my ability to provide a critical examination of the Cass and Troiden models of homosexual identity formation by using Christianity as a backdrop for analysis. My particular focus is on the ways in which some gays and lesbians have exercised their rights to full participation in society on par with heterosexuals, even in the face of Christian environments that tend to exclude, stigmatize, and sometimes demonize homosexuals. One of the ways in which some gays and lesbians have exercised their equality rights is by claiming their right to practice Christianity while expressing their gay or lesbian identity (Goss, 1993; Wagner et al., 1994; Cuthbertson, 1996; Bawer, 1997).

Conclusion

In view of the theoretical research that I have presented in this chapter, one can consider sexual orientation identity to be acquired through a process characterized by self-initiation and self-acceptance, negotiation and re-

negotiation, and relative longevity. Such a process is dependent on, but not determined by, society. Self-concepts such as sexual orientation identity and religious identity are informed, rather than determined, by interactions within the social world. For homosexuals, the social context is one which is generally not favourable toward homosexuality. For Christians, there tends to be less cause for concern about stigma than tends to be the case for homosexuals. Among individuals who define themselves as both Christian and gay, interpretations of the self are informed by communities of people who variably express disapproval of either, or both, identities.

Cass and Troiden have included such individual and social factors in their respective formulations of homosexual identity formation. However, neither theorist considered the role that other identities play in the process of self-identifying as homosexual. The intersection of a Christian identity and a homosexual identity provides a place that is rife with possibilities for theoretical ruminations and political interests. More specifically, the intersection of these identities provides a place from which to assess the Cass and Troiden models by analyzing and describing the ways in which some men have integrated their gay and Christian identities. The next chapter describes what I did to conduct such an assessment.

Chapter Three: Research Methods

Methodological Strategies: Choices and Rationale

In this chapter, I describe the strategies that I employed to gather data in order to examine the ways in which some men have integrated their gay and Christian identities. My personal experiences which I described in the introduction, as well as the experiences of some of my friends and acquaintances who resolved their own cognitive dissonance about being gay and Christian, have lead me to make the *a priori* assumption that being gay and Christian does indeed require individuals to experience some process of conflict resolution concerning one's self-identities.

In general, I am concerned with the processes of identity formation and of identity conflict resolution through integration. Such attention to process implies qualitative research procedures rather than quantitative ones. Qualitative research methods are similar to quantitative ones because each are employed to discover answers to specific questions through the application of systemic procedures, rather than to simply amass data. However, qualitative research methods are used to answer specific research questions which quantitative methods cannot adequately address. According to Bruce L. Berg (1995), qualitative procedures

provide a means of accessing unquantifiable facts about the actual people researchers observe and talk to As a result, qualitative techniques allow the researchers to share in the understandings and perceptions of others and to explore how people structure and give meaning to their daily lives. Researchers using qualitative

techniques examine how people learn about and make sense of themselves and others (p. 7, italics mine).

My particular research inquiries are phenomenological in nature.

Phenomenology is a type of qualitative research used to examine the ways in which human lived experiences are interpreted by individuals as meaningful (Rudestam and Newton, 1992, p. 33; Creswell, 1994, p. 12). Phenomenological inquiries seek not to explain the causes of a given phenomenon, but rather to elucidate the essential features of experience and consciousness pertaining to a particular social phenomenon.

In addition to phenomenology, I am also employing aspects of feminist methods, methodology, and epistemology. The term "methods", according to Sandra Harding (1987, p. 2), refers to techniques for gathering data. Dominant social science methods posit that researchers record data by remaining "objective" in their observations of social life. Alternatively, feminist methods encourage researchers to engage in a research process that is interactive with research participants, one that "continually change[s] in response to new information and new participants" (Kirby and McKenna, 1989, p. 72).

The term "methodology" is not synonymous with "methods", although they are often used interchangeably. Sandra Harding suggests that methodology is a theory of how research is to proceed (p. 3). The methodological underpinnings of my research are phenomenological in the sense that I seek to investigate the ways in which participants interpret, negotiate, and express their self-identities in the context of their social worlds. One component of the methodology I have

chosen is the theoretical assertion that I, as the researcher, should attempt to interact with participants on a relatively equal level. Such attempts to promote egalitarianism contradict the dominant methodological assumption that researchers must remain "unbiased" so as to not "contaminate" the research process and the analysis of data. I subscribe to a methodological perspective that promotes egalitarianism and connectedness between myself and research participants. Accordingly, the method I have employed is "interactive interviews" (Kirby and McKenna, p. 66) to facilitate dialogue, rather than interrogation (Reinharz, 1992, p. 33).

The term "epistemology" refers to theories of knowledge. Feminist epistemologies legitimate women as agents of knowledge. Traditional epistemological perspectives, which are based in masculinist perspectives and in the experiences of men, have tended to disregard the experiences and knowledges of women (Harding, p. 3). Although I am not conducting research about women, I am inspired by feminist epistemologies that challenge masculinist epistemological hegemony in social science research, such as the notion of "value neutrality", perhaps also known as objectivity. Social science tends to reflect androcentrism in addition to heterosexism and thus legitimates heterosexual experience and knowledge and disregards and subjugates homosexual experience and knowledge. By confronting heterosexism and heterosexual privilege, I am also challenging sexism because the dominant perspective of masculinity, and indeed of gender, assumes heterosexuality (Rich, 1993).

Who to include and Why

During the writing of the proposal, I had decided to include only men in the research for three reasons. First, my decision was based on the views of some researchers, in opposition to Cass and Troiden, that the patterns of sexual orientation identity acquisition of women are generally different from those of men (Brown, 1995; Eliason, 1996). Cass and Troiden each claimed that their respective models of homosexual identity development are relevant for both women and men. Second, I decided to include only men also because of the personal nature of the research, specifically concerning my own identity development as a gay person. In exploring how other men worked through the challenges of developing a gay identity, especially while identifying as Christian, I had hoped to gain further understanding about myself and about other people who had made choices concerning identity other than the ones that I had made. A third reason is that, quite simply, I was compelled by expediency for financial and professional reasons.

The criteria that I used as guidelines for judging inclusion of participants in the research, aside from narrowing the search to only men, shifted during the process of conducting interviews. Originally, I constructed a screening process that included three distinct features. First, I was interested in men not only who identified as gay (for at least five years) and as evangelical Christian, but who also generally felt comfortable about being both "out" as gay among heterosexuals and other gay people, and "out" as Christian among other non-Christian people. To be "out" is self-defined relative to one's subjective

outness as general comfort about expressing one's identities comfortably among other groups of people. For example, expressing one's gay identity only among other gay people would not have satisfied the criteria for inclusion. Similarly, being "closeted" about one's Christianity except among other Christians would also have not met the inclusion requirements.9

Another criterion for inclusion was the subscription to evangelical expressions of Christianity among participants. Whereas some Christians who are also gay might subscribe to liberalized forms of Christianity, I felt that evangelical Christians would likely be more conservative by comparison to non-evangelical Christians. Social conservatism is often expressed by non-gay evangelical Christians as their being exclusive and often contemptuous of gay and lesbian people. Given such a political and social context, I wanted to investigate the attractions that evangelical Christianity holds for some gay men.

The term "evangelism" implies actions that are motivated by particular belief systems. A wide variety of actions might be considered to qualify as being evangelism, such as preaching, "witnessing", 10 or seeking to attract other people to Christianity by modeling one's behaviour on that of Christ. The term "evangelical", on the other hand, refers to a particular belief systems which might underlie evangelism. To define "evangelical" for the purposes of this study, I employed the operational definition of Scott Thumma (1991, p. 338) and

⁹ Although the metaphor of the closet is typically used to describe the degree of outness of gay, lesbian, bisexual, transgendered, and transsexual individuals, I am extending the metaphor to refer to one's Christianity for the purposes of operationalization.

Kimberly Mahaffy (1996, p. 393), both of whom argued that "evangelical" constitutes four necessary criteria: the belief in the inerrancy of Scripture, the divinity of Christ, the role of Christ as the only path toward salvation, and the importance of conversion through acceptance of Christ as one's personal saviour.

The term "evangelical," as I have used it in this study, reflects some overlap with the term "fundamentalist Christian" and also with the term "liberal Christian." Some people might even consider the term "fundamentalist" to be synonymous with "evangelical." However, fundamentalist Christians, in my view, tend to emphasize Biblical literalism more than do evangelical Christians. To use a legal metaphor, fundamentalist Christians tend to interpret Biblical scripture in a letter-of-the-law manner, while evangelical Christians tend to focus on the spirit-of-the-law.

Some people might also argue that the operational definition of "evangelical" that I have employed provides no distinction between evangelical Christians and liberal Christians. On the contrary, I argue that liberal Christians, in contrast with evangelical Christians, tend not to emphasize a personal relationship with Jesus Christ beginning with conversion.

A final criterion for inclusion was one's degree of resolution about being simultaneously gay and Christian. Whereas some people resolve dissonance concerning their religious identity and sexual orientation identity by ceasing to

¹⁰ To "witness" is a form of evangelicalism whereby Christians tell other people about their belief in salvation through Christ.

identify as one or the other, I sought men who have fully integrated both identities, both of which are of crucial importance to their overall identity.

Revision of Criteria for Inclusion

Throughout the process of gathering participants and conducting interviews, some unpredictable factors arose concerning the methodological journey as I had planned it prior to actually beginning the process. One such factor involved the ways in which I had operationalized certain terms of reference. Unlike my working definition for the term "gay", I encountered problems with the term "evangelical Christian." The term "evangelical" is methodologically problematic because of its association among some Christians with Sunday morning televangelists or door-to-door Christian "salespeople". Such intrusive fervency has compelled some people to reject Christianity altogether, or to express Christianity in other ways. Negative associations have compelled some Christians to reject self-descriptions as evangelical, despite evangelical motivations behind some of their actions.

After I conducted each interview, and after I had transcribed each taperecording, I took time to analyze the strengths and weaknesses of each interview
so that I could improve subsequent ones. After the third interview, I began to see
that the term "evangelical" was problematic in a similar way as was the term
"homosexual". As I have previously discussed, some people have homosexual
fantasies, desires, and encounters, without necessarily identifying as
"homosexual". In a parallel fashion, some people reject self-descriptions as

"evangelical." During the recruitment stage, I had asked each participant whether or not he defined himself as such. Although each man responded affirmatively -- which lead me to proceed with scheduling each interview -- two individuals hesitated to express themselves quite so definitively during the actual interview. One of these men was David. In my discussion with him, he appeared to synonymize the term "evangelical" with the term "fundamentalist." Nevertheless, I would describe David's orientation towards Christianity as evangelical in nature based on other parts of our discussion which implied his belief in the four criteria of evangelicalism as I described them above.

The other individual who expressed uncertainty about the term "evangelical" was Scott. During the interview, he said that he hesitates to "essentialize" his identities, that is, to assume that certain characteristics are intrinsic to any given individual. However, he nonetheless described the ways in which he worked through the identity conflict which he had felt about simultaneously "being" gay and Christian. Although I remain uncertain about Scott's status as evangelical, given the four criteria that I used to operationalize "evangelical", I included Scott among the participants because he had originally stated that he was an evangelical Christian prior to being interviewed. Ultimately, Scott contributed a great deal to this study. Moreover, the participation of both David and Scott provided an interesting source of contrast among the participants and therefore a richer source of data than otherwise might have become available.

Another operational definition that became problematic was my conception of "outness" concerning being gay and being Christian. I had originally sought individuals who were entirely out as gay men, even in non-gay Christian social settings, and who were entirely out as Christians, even in non-Christian gay social settings. During the time that I spent thinking about how to improve the interviews and in my preliminary readings of the transcripts, I realized that I had incorrectly associated "outness" with "resolution." The experiences in the lives of some of the participants demonstrate that there are many reasons to be selectively closeted about being either gay or Christian, or both, but such self-controlled closets are not necessarily reflective of continued cognitive dissonance about being gay and Christian. While it might, in some people, indicate continued inner conflict about one's homosexual orientation identity in light of one's Christian values and beliefs, it might merely indicate a strategy for managing particular circumstances. Only in the interviews did I discover that some of the participants did not meet my original requirement concerning "outness," although they had all originally claimed to be "out" as both gay and Christian. Nevertheless, I perceived these individuals not as experiencing continued conflict about their identities, but rather as negotiating circumstances in their lives. In my view, the major criteria for inclusion in the research above all others was resolution of identity conflict through identity integration. I came to realize that outness was a possible, but not necessary, indication of such.

Evolution of methodological procedures, such as I have described, reflects characteristics of the process of qualitative research methodology and analysis such as emergence, negotiation, and reflexivity (Lofland and Lofland, 1995, p. 181). Data analysis occurs simultaneously with data collection in qualitative research. Although methodological strategies are intended to be concrete steps in the research process, Lofland and Lofland add that, "the process remains, and is intended to be, significantly open-ended in character. In this way, analysis is also very much a creative act" (p. 181). I had not intended to evolve the methodological procedures to simply accommodate my needs as a researcher. On the contrary, adopting shifts in conceptualizations facilitated analytical richness by accommodating experiential diversity among the participants.

The Recruitment Process

To locate participants, I employed a variety of strategies. I started by contacting churches which I knew to provide gays and lesbians a setting in which to express their spirituality and their sexual orientation identity. I scheduled meetings with the board members of those churches, and asked if I could place an ad (see Appendix One) in their respective church bulletins. In the ad, I specified that I was looking for men who identified as gay and as evangelical Christian and who would tell me their stories about how they came to identify themselves as such. In each of the meetings with the respective board members, I was asked to explain my interest in conducting research about men who self-

identify as both gay and Christian. I provided a brief summary of my experiences, and concluded that my decision to discontinue my Christian identity was the primary motivation for my research. During one of those meetings, one of the board members objected to the inclusion of my ad in their church bulletin based, in part, on the fact that I no longer identified as a Christian. In retrospect, I consider such an objection to be reasonable, given that some gay non-Christian people do not express tolerance for, or acceptance of, Christianity as subscribed to by others. The board member who expressed such a concern assumed that, as an ex-Christian, I had further cause to feel resentment toward Christians, and that I would be using my thesis to conduct anti-Christian research. He was correct that doing so would be an inappropriate use of interview data, but he was incorrect that I had an agenda to, in my words, "Christian bash."

I explained that, contrary to his concern, I was motivated, in part, by a political agenda that celebrates the right of gays and lesbians to subscribe to and practice Christianity within an overall agenda of promoting social equality of gays and lesbians with heterosexuals. The board members voted on the matter, and it was agreed that my intentions were valid and honourable, although the one board member who expressed concern about my intentions declined further participation. The ads were printed in various church bulletins. Four participants responded and each was scheduled for an interview.

Another strategy for locating participants was a flyer (see Appendix Two) which was constructed in a similar fashion as the church bulletin advertisement. I distributed the flyer to organizations and social functions that I believed might be

frequented by men who self-identify as gay and evangelical Christian. Although the flyer itself did not yield participants directly, one participant volunteered through word-of-mouth generated from the flyer. The remaining three participants were individuals whom I knew personally.

I had anticipated a "snowball" sample to have been generated from word-of-mouth (Lofland and Lofland 1995, p. 38), but this did not happen in spite of my attempts to "spread the word" by contacting various organizations and talking with many individuals in gay, Christian, and gay Christian communities. Perhaps some individuals who live in relative proximity to my geographic location might have felt disinclined to volunteer participation because of their concerns about anonymity. Another factor which might have undermined the efficacy of word-of-mouth for locating participants is the long-distance nature of this research project. I had anticipated that I would have to search beyond Victoria because of its limited population, and because of the rather unusual nature of the specific individuals whom I was seeking. Most of the participants came from outside of Victoria, from as far away as Toronto. Five of the participants were from large urban centers, and three were from moderately-sized cities. None were small town or rural dwellers.

The participants reflected neither wide geographic diversity nor wide variation in class status or racialized category. All of the participants described themselves as middle-class, although some reflected a lower middle-class status while others reflected an upper middle-class status. All of the men described themselves as having Canadian, English, and / or Scottish descent, except for

David, who described himself as having an Italian ethnicity. Other demographic features of the participants were widely diverse. The ages of the participants were twenty-nine, forty-three, fifty, fifty-five, sixty, and two men were thirty-four. The average age was almost forty-five. Their educational levels were grade ten, grade twelve, grade twelve plus certification, an undergraduate degree, a masters degree, three years of a Ph.D. program, and two men had seven years each of post-secondary education. Significantly, two participants have been in a 30-year relationship with each other.

I also asked each participant how long he had described himself as being gay, and how long he had described himself as being Christian. Most of the men described identifying as gay since their childhoods or teenhoods. However, rather than describing a precise moment of clarity about their gay identity, they instead described an experience, perception, or feeling of either being "different" from other boys, or having a childhood crush on another boy. Given that some of the participants had such experiences, perceptions, or feelings before the term "gay" gained common usage as a reference to homosexual identity, they have likely framed their childhood or teenhood experiences within the identity of being gay later in their lives. Furthermore, their identities as being gay were typically described as a process of positive and negative experiences, finally culminating in acceptance of a gay identity in late teens or early adulthood.

By contrast with gay identities, Christian identities were usually posited as precise moments of conception, typically as a decision to accept Jesus as their personal saviour. Scott is perhaps the only exception to this general trend. He

described himself as being a Christian for the past five years, but hesitated to "essentialize what it means to be Christian". The decision each participant made to become a Christian was made with having had earlier exposure to Christianity; six of the eight participants were raised in Christian homes, while the other two were involved in Christian youth groups.

The Interview Process

During each pre-arranged meeting time, but before I began the actual interview, I asked each participant to read and sign a letter of informed consent (see Appendix Three). I ensured that each person had time to read the letter thoroughly. The letter informed them that I would guarantee their anonymity. I proposed using a pseudonym rather than their real first names within the text of the transcripts and the analysis chapters. I also promised to alter or delete any information in the interviews that might threaten anonymity, such names of people and places. I informed them that, if they wished, they could verify the alteration of identifying information by reading their respective transcript. However, some of the participants did not want me to use pseudonyms and expressed that, as out gay men, some of whom are politically active, they were unconcerned about remaining anonymous. For these men, I secured written permission to use their real first names. The names used in the transcripts and the analysis chapters are thus a mix of pseudonyms and real first names.

¹¹ Bob, Lloyd, Scott, Wayne, and David preferred me to use their real first names, while Charles, Pete, and Thomas chose pseudonyms.

The location of the interviews varied somewhat. Two of the participants expressed discomfort about using their homes as locations. In each such case, we agreed to meet at a nearby coffee shop where we found a quiet corner in which to talk. The other interviews were conducted in people's homes. The interviews were tape-recorded; those that took place in homes were much easier to transcribe than those in coffee shops, despite how quiet the coffee shops initially sounded. I was solely responsible for the task of transcribing each of the interviews, and I ensured the safe storage of the transcripts and tapes during the process of transcription. As stated in the letter of informed consent, the audio tapes were stored in a locked cabinet to which only I had access. They were erased after I had sent each participant his transcript to ensure its accuracy. Only two of the men asked me to make alterations to their transcripts by either clarifying some points that they had made, or by deleting some identifying information.

All of the participants expressed interest in seeing their respective interview transcripts. Some, but not all, suggested changes for the purpose of clarification. Such changes helped me to understand some specific details that became important during the process of data analysis. Two of the participants asked me to delete some information that they deemed irrelevant and I did as they asked.

¹² I had described in the consent form that I would ask each participant for a code which he could use to access his transcript. After I had conducted all eight interviews, I decided that using the code key would not be necessary because the number of participants was small, and also because I had become well-acquainted with the matches of transcripts with individuals.

The Interview Schedule

Using interviews as a research technology allowed me to talk with men who, unlike me, were able to integrate gay and Christian identities. I decided to use a semi-standardized style of interview to quide me through a series of predetermined questions which were organized within a list of topics. Although I used such an organization as an interview guide. I also designed the interviews to facilitate a somewhat informal dialogue. Unlike standardized interviews, dialogues are characterized by openness, uniqueness, spontaneity, and engagement with each participant (Kirby and McKenna, 1989; Reinharz, 1992). A standardized interview, I felt, would preclude possibilities for openness, connectedness, and self-disclosure. Employing a semi-standardized interview format allowed me to encourage each participant to disclose information I had not considered in advance (Berg, 1995, p. 33). In addition, I wanted to avoid the tendency among many social scientists to attempt to gain control over participants in the research process (Reinharz, 1992, p. 20). Although I disclosed to each participant that I am a graduate student at the University of Victoria, I intentionally downplayed my academic role in favour of highlighting my personal experiences which lead to my interest in doing this research. Doing so facilitated rapport and promoted egalitarianism and open dialogue.

Apart from some general demographic questions, such as age, educational level, and ethnic background, I organized the interview schedule into four sets of questions. The first set covered gay experiences, perceptions, and identity acquisition, such as: What were the participants' perceptions of

homosexuality or gay people while they were growing up? What were the source of such perceptions? When did they first begin to think of themselves as being gay? Did they tell other people about it? How did others react to the participants' disclosures? How did the participants feel about themselves as a gay, or possibly gay people, in light of the reactions from others? At what age did they first have sex with other men? How did they feel about those experiences? Did they ever attempt to stop being gay? What were such experiences like? How did they feel about themselves during attempts to stop being gay? How did such attempts come to an end?

A second set of questions was designed to investigate participants' experiences concerning Christianity, such as: Were they raised in Christian homes? How was Christianity manifested in their families as they were growing up? What experiences led them to becoming Christian? What were their families' attitudes about Christianity? In what ways did their families show support for their Christianity, or lack thereof? How did the participants feel about themselves in light of such attitudes?

A third set of questions focused on the intersection of the participants' gay and Christian identities. Examples included: At what age did they first think that they were Christian and gay at the same time? How did they come to believe that their gay and Christian identities are compatible? How did they reconcile their gay identities in light of Biblical passages which appear to condemn homosexuality? What were some of their experiences with his Christian friends concerning being gay? Did they receive support from other Christians concerning

their gay identities? Did they receive support from other gay people concerning their Christian identities? How did they feel about themselves in light of such support or lack thereof?

Within the three major topics that I wanted to cover in each interview, my hope was that there would be natural opportunities for participants to discuss their current circumstances concerning being gay and Christian. Such natural openings for disclosure were sometimes taken; otherwise, I probed for further discussion about their current circumstances. In any event, a fourth topic was designed to inquire about the participants' current situations, such as: Do they have partners? Are their partners also Christians? Are their congregations supportive of their being gay? Do they encounter hostility from other Christians about their being gay? Do they encounter hostility from other gay people about their being Christian? How do they react to such hostility? How do they express themselves as gay people while in Christian social settings? How do they express themselves as Christians while in gay social settings?

Although it might appear from the interview schedule that I had, in spite of my intentions, designed a highly-standardized interview, the selective use of the questions facilitated spontaneity, openness, and interaction. Such an interview orientation did indeed facilitate "dialogue". I interviewed -- dialogued with -- eight individuals who volunteered to participate. Doing so is contrary to the standard procedures of quantitative researchers who employ certain techniques to choose a representative sample from which to generalize their findings to a larger population. My aim, however, was to conduct exploratory research that describes

general themes and processes employed by those people who participated, and to contextualize such analysis within larger social processes. Limiting the number of participants to under ten also facilitated manageability of the project because searching for participants, scheduling the interviews, transcribing each tape recorded interview, and conducing analysis on each one proved to be very time consuming. Lack of financial and time resources compelled me to set limitations to the number of participants. In sum, conducting eight interviews allowed me to proceed with research that is exploratory in nature, as well as to keep the project at a manageable size.

Preparation for Data Analysis

Data analysis was an ongoing process which began with the first transcript. I read each new transcript several times before conducting another interview in order to attain a familiarity with themes that were beginning to emerge in the data. In the tradition of qualitative research, I decided to interweave presentation and analysis of the data to reflect the simultaneous process of collection and analysis. My decision was also based on the large amount of data which I had collected. I felt that presentation would necessarily be limited to discussion which was most germane to the core questions of "How?" and "Why?". The task of deciding which data were the most relevant was, in itself, a component of the data analysis process.

Collectively, the transcribed interviews added up to 141 pages of single-spaced, ten-point, Helvetica text. I required a system that would organize the

data into a more manageable form, one that would also facilitate the emergence of themes and contrasts of experiences, feelings, and beliefs of the participants. To do so, I used the interview schedule to generate numerical codes that corresponded to the general topics covered in each interview (see Appendix Five). The numerical codes are not meant to imply a seguential order of events. but instead are merely a method of labeling for the purposes of organization. I scoured each transcript to manually label particular sections with appropriate codes. Parts of the dialogue were coded with more than one numerical value because they reflected more than one theme. After manually coding each transcript, I then created documents in a word-processor software package whose file names corresponded to each topic. From each transcript on my computer hard-drive, I then "cut and pasted" each coded section of the text into the appropriate topic document. The final result was twelve documents (see Appendix Five), each corresponding to one theme and containing the relevant comments of the participants. 13

I continued by analyzing the data in the central theme -- Theme Eight -- which I titled, *Strategies for resolution through integration*. I felt that the strategies of the men to integrate their previously conflicting identities would draw attention to a variety of experiences in their lives that I had categorized within the other themes. I analyzed each statement that I had included within Theme Eight, and counted seventeen strategies. I then grouped the seventeen strategies into five types according to qualitative similarity. For example, some

¹³ A qualitative software package, which I lacked, would have accomplished the same result.

men said that they came to believe that their perception of God -- being divine perfection -- was distinct from their perception of church -- being an imperfect human organization, though a holy one. Other men drew a distinction between a homosexual orientation and a so-called homosexual lifestyle. I discerned that both distinctions implied the acceptance of a perceived inconsistency in order to reduce dissonance. Hence, I classified such perceptions under a broad type called *Acceptance of Inconsistencies*. The analysis chapter of this study provides details on each of the five types of integration strategies, and includes relevant transcript excerpts.

The final stage of analysis was to compare the five types of strategies with theories about homosexual identity formation, specifically the Cass model (1979) and the Troiden model (1988). Neither theorist discussed the ways in which a homosexual identity is integrated with a Christian identity. However, comparing the five strategies with each of the models highlights the strengths and weaknesses of each model. The motivating question which guided such comparisons was: Is each stage of each model reflected in each participant's account of his journey towards a fully integrated gay and Christian identity? Assessing that question in light of the five types of strategies, in combination with the data that I had coded within the other eleven themes of the interview schedule, guided my critique of each model. Developing such critiques, which were grounded in the interview data, allowed me to propose recommendations for change in the models in order to bolster their respective strengths and minimize their respective weaknesses.

A large amount of data is not recorded in this thesis due to sheer volume. However, I used the remaining data as a backdrop from which to understand the contexts of specific comments made by each participant. It has been my aim to present data in a way that honours past experiences which underlie each man's present understandings of his identity development.

The methods that I have described above imply that this study is largely academic in nature. In addition to being an academic exercise, the research process of data collection, reporting, and analysis allowed me to make suggestions for social and political change. Not surprisingly, I had anticipated proposing that Christian communities move toward acceptance of gay and lesbian members. However, I did not anticipate other suggestions for social and political change until I had thoroughly analyzed the data. An account of social and political considerations, as I see them, appears in the concluding chapter of this study.

Chapter Four: Reporting and Analysis of the Interview Data

As I mentioned in Chapter Three, I had decided to combine both data reporting and analysis in one chapter to avoid including the entire collection of transcripts. Which data to include and which to exclude reflected early stages of data analysis. Presenting data separately from analysis would therefore be rather illogical. This chapter represents the final product of those decisions. It also represents the outcome of the process of data analysis which had been interwoven throughout the larger research process.

Data analysis, as I conducted it, resulted in an overall understanding of the motivations of these men to integrate a gay identity with a Christian one.

More specifically, I describe five types of strategies from which they achieved identity integration. Not all of the men employed all five types of strategies.

Rather, the five types represent a summary of the most common strategies of identity integration evident in the data. Prior to presenting the details of the five types, I discuss some general issues concerning identity integration which serve as a backdrop for contextualization.

The Overall Outcome of the Process of Integration

If one were tempted to view men who identify as both gay and Christian as being wracked with internal conflict about the supposed incompatibility between Christian beliefs and homosexuality, the stories told by these eight participants would quash that temptation. The overriding theme of the

discussions, as I discern it, was the expression of comfort with being both gay and Christian. Such comfort was usually expressed with keen enthusiasm.

However, occasionally some lingering but relatively minor reservations surfaced. For example, two participants, Pete and Charles, referred to general contentment, laced with minimal uncertainty, about being gay and Christian. Pete acknowledged that he had not resolved "everything," while Charles said, "I don't think I've ever felt this contented with myself as I do now, in spite of the fact that there are inconsistencies."

By contrast to Pete and Charles, Lloyd was adamant in his belief that being gay is acceptable in the eyes of God. Speaking on behalf of himself and Bob, his partner of over thirty years, Lloyd emphasized without reservation the importance of his being at once Christian and gay:

[W]e have reconciled our Christianity and our homosexuality. There is absolutely no conflict. I feel so secure that it will never be a problem for me. . . . If I didn't believe that I would have to believe that God is a cruel God to do that to so many people. I look at it differently, that God created us for a special reason. I don't know what that special reason is, but I do know that many, many gay people [are] in a servant-type ministry that cares for people.

In the above excerpt, Lloyd implies through his use of the word, "we," that Bob and he have developed strategies for identity integration in concert with each other. It is also apparent that Lloyd links his understanding of his being gay with Christian evangelicalism. Bob expressed similar sentiments about his security in being gay while also being Christian, and his belief that God uses him

to spread what Bob sees as the Christian message of love and grace to other gay people. He said:

[E]ven from a young age, I would not allow people to trod on me. I'm a person of value, and God is my judge. . . . I believe that God arms us for [adversity]. He'll protect us. If there's a battle to be won, we've won the battle. But we just have to be strong in our faith, and in who we are as gay people. . . . The gospel has to be spread. It has to be spread to the gay community because they have been disenfranchised by mainline churches, by these [anti-gay] pastors who think they are doing good.

The above comment by Bob reflects a process of self-identity that seems to include relatively little conflict about being gay and Christian, in part because of his feelings of self-worth which have their roots in his childhood.

Wayne expressed similar feelings of self-worth which he has felt since childhood. He was raised in a highly religious evangelical Christian family. In spite of being raised in a religious tradition that emphasizes heterosexuality within marriage as the norm and as the only Christian option for sexual expression, Wayne explained:

I've been Christian since the age of four, and I've been gay as far back as I can remember as well. My first recollection of that is, at the age of five in kindergarten, seeing a cute guy and being aware, not necessarily of the implications of that and what it would mean to the rest of my life, but knowing that there was that attraction there. So as far back as I can remember those two aspects have been integral parts of my identity. . . . A lot of gay people don't accept their being gay until a much later point, which I think might tend to make it more difficult to have the two existent in their life at the same time. . . . But for me, both aspects go back as long as I can remember. I've always had those two things to deal with, and

perhaps that's made it easier for me to deal with it, to rationalize it, to accept it.

Other men described strong and long-term feelings of inner turmoil about being gay, either in conflict with co-existing Christian values and beliefs, or prior to adopting Christianity. Charles, for example, gradually adopted his Christian beliefs during his teenage years. Prior to doing so, he had had experiences in his boyhood that signified early homosexual attractions and provoked much anxiety at the time. He told me that he started to perceive that he was attracted to other males when he was about thirteen years of age. He described his reaction to that realization:

I was horrified, but attracted at the same time. In the apartment building i was living in with my parents, I and another boy played with each other, touching penises. I felt it was wrong, but I liked it. [W]e didn't go to climax. He just touched me, or I touched him. I can't remember clearly, but we certainly didn't masturbate. I think the difficult thing for me was that I liked it.

One of the ways in which Charles attempted to circumvent his homosexual feelings was through heterosexual marriage. As did Pete and Lloyd, Charles felt that his homosexual attractions would cease to exist within heterosexual marriage. However, same-sex attractions remained, and anxiety continued.

[I experienced] terrific guilt when I was first involved in intentional sexual activities with men, terrific guilt about my marriage and the infidelity that I created in my marriage. That raged on for years. After every [homo]sexual experience, I vowed not to do it again.

The degree to which each participant experienced internal conflict about being gay, whether in combination with a Christian identity or prior to adopting one, varied in longevity and severity. David, Lloyd, Charles, and Pete had made earlier decisions to reject a gay identity, but ultimately came to believe that being Christian could include being gay. None of the eight participants attempted to reject their Christian identity, although Charles, a pastor, had left the Christian ministry, believing that his role in church leadership was incompatible with being gay. He later returned to Christian leadership.

In spite of the earlier decisions of David, Lloyd, Charles, and Pete, the ultimate outcome for all of the participants was resolution through integration rather than through permanent rejection of one identity or the other. One could argue that their identities as gay and Christian are only apparently stable; given such earlier shifts in identity, it is possible that future dramatic shifts might occur. Such shifts are indeed possible. However, earlier shifts occurred in the presence of self-dissatisfaction. My aim here is not to predict the futures of each participant, but rather to suggest that the contentment that each man expressed about the integration of his Christian and gay identities would likely have a stabilizing effect rather than a destabilizing one. My interest here is to investigate the ways in which each of these men secured such apparently stable identities, especially given the political climate in which many Christians are not accepting

of gays and lesbians, and many gays and lesbians are not accepting of Christians.¹⁴

The overriding question of this research, then, is, "How?". The discussions I had with the eight participants incorporated commentary on a number of broad issues that are germane to that core question, such as gay identity development, Christian identity development, family upbringing, relationships with other Christians, relationships with other gay people, management of a gay identity in Christian social contexts, and management of a Christian identity in gay social contexts. From the interview data, I was able to discern a variety of strategies that they employed to achieve identity integration.¹⁵

Strategies of Integration: Five Types

Biblical Interpretation

Among the eight participants, the most commonly articulated strategy that was adopted for the purposes of identity integration is one that emphasizes exegesis, critical interpretation of Biblical text, in contrast with literalist interpretation. Exegetical readers consider the social, historical, or political contexts in which the text was written, whereas Biblical literalists do not. For most Christians, the Bible is considered to be the central authority from which

¹⁴ The difference between these two social phenomena is that while many Christians actively participate in anti-gay campaigns, no campaigns have been organized by gays and lesbians with strictly anti-Christian purposes.

¹⁵ In using the term, "strategy," I am not only referring to conscious will or explicit intention, although some strategies do reflect such awareness of intent. I am also referring to the making of choices that may not be consciously linked with clear or explicit outcomes.

philosophical and moral standpoints are based. The <u>Bible</u> is often used by some Christians as the cornerstone with which to justify anti-gay attitudes and actions. Literalist interpretations of the <u>Bible</u>, commonly associated with the Christian Right, have lead readers to believe that God condemns homosexuality. Given such a common assertion about God's supposed rejection of homosexuality, I asked each participant to articulate his view of the <u>Bible</u>. My aim was not to enter into discussions about interpretation of specific Biblical scriptures, but instead to investigate the ways in which each participant negotiates the sections of the <u>Bible</u> that appear to denounce one of the central ways in which they identify themselves. In other words, I wanted to investigate the ways in which the <u>Bible</u>, as the central textual authority of Christianity, informs gay and Christian identities.

All eight men described having to struggle to locate a positive sense of themselves within scripture and to feel free from condemnation. Eventually, each one came to believe that Biblical literalism is an inappropriate way to interpret the Bible, and is not a valid cornerstone for one's beliefs about philosophy and morality. Wayne, for example, explained that,

If you retrace history and look at many things that the Christian church has taught, [it] has supported blatant sexism, [and] has advocated slavery. . . . I look at the <u>Bible</u>, there's the traditional Pentecostal view that it's the literal word of God, and that everything should be taken literally. . . . To that, I would say that there is so many things that you can't take literally. They are part of the word of God, and they're there for a reason, but we have to look at them in their historical perspective.

Wayne also explained that whereas beliefs about certain issues in mainline Christian churches appear to be steadfastly-held, they actually have not been held firmly throughout the years. The example he presented was the common practice in some Christian churches, especially those that subscribe to Biblical literalism, of denying membership on church boards of directors to women. He said that such a practice

is an example of how something is hard and fast in one particular generation, a few years later, or a different generation, it can be totally different. That can be said of sexism, slavery, and I would maintain that eventually, . . . some of the denominations now, they're starting to deal with homosexuality.

For Pete, literalism simply did not make sense. He was quite certain of his relationship with God in his assertion that,

God keeps on answering my prayers, all the time, one after the other. I have so many answered prayers to be thankful for I can't even begin to name them. . . . If God considers [homosexuality] to be an abomination, why does He keep answering my prayers? Why does He keep on communicating with me?

Two men explicitly described having been reassured, through reading Biblical scripture, that God approved of their being gay. David said:

I specifically remember reading <u>Bible</u> verses and parts of scriptures that I thought were really cool, like David and Jonathan. I remember sitting in church and reading stories, like they were such good friends and I'm sure that they [engaged in sexual activities with each other]. I think that one of the things that the church doesn't realize is that homosexuality is not about sex. For me, even

back then, it wasn't about sex, it was about two people loving each other. I looked at David and Jonathan and I thought, "I'm sure they were in love." And I always took comfort in that.

Similarly, Lloyd described what he saw as God actively providing assurance through scripture.

Even after I was saved, I needed some assurance. I hadn't read the <u>Bible</u>, but God lead me to a scripture . . . Acts 8. . . . When I read that I knew it was talking about me. It's telling me right now that I'm OK. . . . There is a scripture in Matthew 19 where he talks about the eunuchs. I believe that when he was talking about eunuchs he was talking about us. People not being able to marry, and all that, I think he was talking about gay people. They didn't call them gay in those days.

A humanist perspective of scripture was employed by Scott to bolster his sense of social justice for gays and lesbians, as well as for members of other marginalized groups.

God is the real essence of [spirituality]. I think Jesus was an important person, but I don't think of him as a saviour in that sense. I don't think I need to be saved from anything. I think of God as a helping thing. . . . To me, an intelligent person would say -- this is very judgmental, but -- [Jesus] stood up for what is right, he aligned himself with the most marginalized people, and said, "You're OK." And that's a very powerful example for me, knowing I'm OK, and knowing that it's partly my responsibility to help others.

Another perspective on the Biblical interpretation was articulated by

Thomas. He asserted that, in fact, most Christians are unable to list the particular scriptures of the Bible that are used by members of the Christian Right primarily against gays and lesbians. He argued that, "they just have this blanket [notion]

that] it is written in there that homosexuality is wrong. What did Christ say about homosexuality? Absolutely nothing. Most Christians don't know that." Thomas also expressed his belief that Jesus -- after whom Christians purport to model their beliefs and behaviour -- has not been recorded in the <u>Bible</u> as having discussed homosexuality. For Thomas, then, the rejection of gays and lesbians by many Christians cannot be Biblically justified. His perspective has been met with anger from many other Christians. He explained further that, "I'm blessed because I'm like the leper that they wouldn't touch, . . . but God loves me."

All of the eight men expressed criticism of other Christians who reject gay and lesbian people based on the belief that God condemns homosexuality. Legalistic Christians are commonly associated with such hostility. The term, "fundamentalism" is commonly used to describe conservative legalistic Christians, most of whom reject gay and lesbian individuals. However, somewhat surprisingly, Thomas described himself as a fundamentalist. He was the only participant to do so. Whereas some gay and lesbian people have "reclaimed" words such as "fag," "dyke," and "queer" for positive self-description, likewise Thomas asserted his right to reclaim the term "fundamentalist" from its negative connotation as being narrow-minded and fraught with bigotry. He spoke rather disdainfully about liberal Christianity. His rejection of liberal Christianity seems counter-intuitive to what one might expect because liberal Christians tend to be more accepting of gays and lesbians than are most legalistic conservative Christians. Nevertheless, he was adamant about his support of the term "fundamentalist" and explained his perspective thusly:

Fundamentalism means that you believe in [the] real essentials of the <u>Bible</u>, that those essentials are common to all churches, that Jesus Christ came to bring us good news of salvation, [that] he wants to have a personal relationship with every one of us, [and] that he came from God the father. Those are the fundamentals to me. And that's how I use that word, and [liberal Christians] are not taking it away from me.

Thomas was the most vocal, but not the only, opponent of liberal Christianity. In a similar manner, Bob maintained that what he sees as the core essentials of the <u>Bible</u> -- he did not use the term "fundamentals" -- are reduced to a "watered-down theology" when viewed through a liberal lens.

When David and I discussed the matter of Biblical interpretation, he contributed an additional perspective that was unique among the eight men. He described having a "linguistic advantage" in being bilingual and explained:

I guess my whole approach to the whole scripture thing is one thing: interpretation. I can speak from that firsthand, not only because of [having taken] Greek [classes], but because I was raised bilingual anyways. And when you have this linguistic advantage . . . you look at languages different than someone who is taught just one language.

Overall, then, all eight men rejected literalism and six rejected fundamentalism. However, they all subscribed to what they consider to be the *fundamentals* of Christianity, those being love and grace. Perspectives on the <u>Bible</u> were diverse, but similar in outcome; each man described having achieved an understanding of the <u>Bible</u> that facilitated, rather than undermined, a gay identity. Each one expressed his view that, although the <u>Bible</u> is a divinely inspired text, it is, nevertheless, fraught with historical and social contextuality.

Within such an interpretive framework, identities, such as gay ones, that challenge literalist interpretations are able to emerge in concert, rather than in conflict, with Christian identities.

"A Christianity of Questions"

Another common type of strategy involved the perception of inconsistencies between idealized views of life and actual lived experience. It is the management of such perceptions that is a key element of the process of integration. For example, one could attempt to resolve all of the inconsistencies, specifically concerning sexual identity and religious beliefs, that impinge upon one's identities. By contrast, one could choose to simply ignore such inconsistencies. But one could also accept perceived inconsistencies without feeling compelled to resolve them, as demonstrated by some of the participants.

I have already alluded to minor reservations expressed by Pete and Charles in their statements that they have reached general states of inner contentment about their identities despite not having resolved every troublesome detail in the complex process of integration. They did not express a compelling need to address lingering questions, nor did they imply that the lack of utterly complete resolution necessarily signifies inner conflict. On the contrary -- and somewhat counter-intuitively -- it seems that the recognition and acceptance of inconsistencies has been a cognitive device with which these eight men have gained inner resolve about their identities.

The eight participants made statements that implied that they had made an active choice to accept certain inconsistencies concerning their identity integration, in contrast with other possible choices. One of the most common avenues for accepting inconsistencies, which paradoxically contributed to identity resolution, is through the recognition of the differences between God and church. Wayne, for example, was raised in a conservative Christian family. During much of his youth and early adulthood, Wayne held leadership positions in the church that he and his family had attended since Wayne was very young. Through a series of events. Wayne was "outed" by two self-described "ex-gay" visitors to his church to whom he had disclosed his (then physically unexplored) homosexual orientation. The next day, the church pastors asked Wayne to resign his membership to the church and to step down from his leadership positions. Wayne described the occasion as sad, but not traumatic, saying that he felt that it would have happened eventually. He also said that he felt that it was part of God's plan to eventually guide him to a new congregation in a gayfriendly church a few months later. The process that Wayne described was instrumental in his realization that God is an entity distinct from His followers.

I think it's safe to say that in my life, and I'm sure in many others of people who have reconciled homosexuality and Christianity, the Lord has given us the grace and the understanding and the strength to endure the misunderstanding and the hardship and the broken relationships and to move on. And to focus on the Lord, because it's really our relationship with the Lord, it's not our relationship with the church. Looking back on my life, I thought I would be going to that church for the rest of my life . . . but you don't realize that the Lord might have another plan for your life.

Differentiating between God and church enabled identity integration also for David. He expressed that the turning point at which he was able to merge his gay identity with his Christian one was when he realized that God and church are different, but overlapping, entities. He expressed having felt alienated from God because of his belief, influenced by other Christians, that homosexuality was contrary to God's intent for human sexual expression. He described how a feeling of alienation from God metamorphasized into one of closeness.

The catalyst [for me in accepting that I was gay] was me coming to the point where I was going to kill myself. At that point, I thought, "No, this isn't what God wants for me. God does not want me to kill myself. This is way beyond anything that He would ever want for my life." At that point, that's where the freedom was. I realized that for so long I was mad at God, and I had embraced the church. But at that point, I realized that it's not God that I should be mad at. It's the church that I should be mad at. I was able to embrace God at that point. . . . The church was totally abandoned.

Other men did not state their understanding of the distinction between God and church directly, but rather implied it. For example, Pete described a series of events that lead him to lower his expectations of other Christians, but not of God. He had been living in a small rural town, and he and his (then) wife of nineteen years were actively involved in the local Christian community. She knew about his homosexual desires, but urged him to go for counseling in hopes that such desires would be expunged. He attended counseling sessions, but, indeed, his sexual desires for men remained. In spite, she disclosed his homosexuality to various people in their small town. Pete briefly described the result of some of the reactions from local townspeople toward his being gay: "I

would say that a good percentage of the ones in the . . . church [would not talk to me]. Not all of them, but a good chunk were pretty cold . . . I just felt that some of this was not Christian." Significantly, Pete felt somewhat betrayed by some of the Christian people in the town, but he did not feel that God had betrayed him.

Many other statements were made by some of the participants that implied their recognition of the lack of congruence between God and church. Lloyd said, "[My partner] Bob and I have met so many anointed gay people. . . . I mean, God would not be anointing all these people unless he loved them. He's using them. He's using them in a powerful way." Lloyd also expressed his belief that certain social problems commonly associated with homosexuals by many Christians result not from so-called unhealthy homosexual lifestyles, but rather from Christian bigotry:

I don't understand why Christians wouldn't want gay people to get married 'cause then it's sacred. We [could] have sex [within wedlock]. If we can't have sex out of wedlock, then [we should be able to get] married. All of their arguments don't make a lot of sense to me because I would think that it's common sense to draw couples together in monogamous relationships. That would cut out a lot of the problem with AIDS, and a lot of other problems. But no, [Christians] are not having any of it.

Recognizing the differences between idealized spiritual beliefs and human imperfections is one of the ways in which some of the participants expressed that they had achieved resolution through identity integration. Attaining an awareness of the incongruencies between the beliefs held by Christians and the ways in which Christians actually live their lives provides cognitive "spaces" in which

some of the men were able to self-actualize beyond the standard dualistic paradigm of "gay or Christian." Doing so took place apart from, and perhaps in reaction to, negative attitudes about gay and lesbian people expressed by many Christians. Whereas some gay men internalize such messages (some of whom participate in "ex-gay" ministries), others see opportunities for deeper self-acceptance by choosing paths that are generally denied and forbidden within mainstream Christian churches.

For two of the participants, parental role models provided examples of non-conformity within Christian social groups. The stories of Wayne and Thomas suggest that their choice to accept inconsistencies is rooted in their childhood experiences. Wayne's parents, for example, were very active in an evangelical and fundamentalist church, but his father was denied board membership because he was a smoker. Wayne described him as a proud smoker, and explained, "the church teaches that anyone who smokes can't be a board member, and isn't as truly as spirit-filled as someone else is. And yet, when I look at my Dad, [he] is more of a Christian than many who profess to be." For Wayne, his father was a role model for questioning church authority without necessarily doubting one's beliefs in God. In doing so, Wayne's father modeled his belief in the separation of God and church; God is perfect, but churches are imperfect human organizations through which God works.

A similar perspective was evident in Thomas' upbringing. Thomas perceived a similar disjuncture between Christian beliefs and behaviour through the example of his mother who he described as an evangelical Christian and an

alcoholic. Simply put, Thomas and Wayne understood at an early age that Christians are not always what they appear to be, or what other Christians feel that they should be. In his youth, Thomas felt uncomfortable about his mother's alcoholism, but did not doubt the viability of her being a Christian as well, even though he knew that alcoholism is not becoming of a Christian. He also felt that his mother's situation was beyond his capability to resolve. A "ripple-effect" resulted, and grew into a general understanding about life.

We live in a society that wants to resolve things, and we never do. But when we kind of leap past it, and say, "You know, God, I can't deal with all of this stuff. Can you deal with it for me?" That's where I want to be.

For Thomas, the inability to resolve "things" is a key component of his Christianity, but such a notion also functions as a kind of philosophical model from which his gay identity had emerged in concert with his Christianity. His mother's alcoholism did not fit into accepted schemas of Christianity, nor did his homosexuality. Such a recognition -- a "cognitive space" -- provided Thomas with a potential venue for self-definition.

A statement made by Scott provides an apt summation. He said that he prefers "a Christianity of questions rather than a Christianity of answers" because the former, but not the latter, allows for personal growth and change. Subscribing to a Christianity of questions, Scott implies, challenges purported doctrinal "truths," undermines the agenda of some Christian activists to promote homosexuality as "evil" or "sick," and allows possibilities for self-actualization as both gay and Christian. Resolution of one's conception of God and one's

interpretation of scripture is a part of identity integration, but is not synonymous with it.

Choice

A third type of strategy of identity integration concerns the matter of choice. The issue of choice is especially contested in the area of homosexuality, and much less so in the area of religious identity. Many Christians, and others, continue to view homosexuality as a "chosen lifestyle." By contrast, many gays and lesbians claim that they were born with their particular sexual orientations. A variation of such a claim is that God made certain people gay or lesbian.

Five of the eight men explained that their sexual orientation is a product of God's work. Bob, for example, described an interaction he had at a former workplace with an administrator. Bob had challenged him after the administrator had made negative comments about gay people, specifically that homosexuality is "fundamentally against God." Bob offered a sound rebuttal to the administrator.

"Who told you that? Did God tell you that? I don't think so." And I said, "Stop taking the scripture out of context. . . . " Every person who goes into a church and hears a pastor spewing off at the mouth are too lazy to look it up for themselves. And I said, "You [promote anti-gay agendas] with Jerry Falwell and all those guys down in the States cause it's big bucks." "Yeah," [the administrator] said, "[but] I still don't understand." I said, "I'm not asking you to understand. I'm not asking you to come to bed. If you're naturalness, so to speak, is to be straight, so be it. I respect that. Mine is not. God made me who I am, and God made you who you are. That's all I'm asking for is mutual respect."

Bob's belief that God made him who he is underlies his claim that his homosexuality is a "natural" aspect of his overall personhood. Bob explained to me that he had felt, from a very early age, that God created and approved of every aspect of his being. "With regards to being gay," he told me, "I never had a problem with it. . . . [I] knew right from the beginning that God loved me for who I was . . . What was natural for (my partner Lloyd and I) was for us to be together." Lloyd, shared a similar perspective, stating, "[being together] is normal for [Bob and I]." Wayne also expressed that self-acceptance followed his faith in God's acceptance of him. He said, "[I] really felt the Holy Spirit comforting me, and letting me know that it was OK to be the way I was. And also, that God created me the way I was." He added, "the Religious Right uses the term 'lifestyle choice.' [Being gay] is not a choice. The choice is whether you accept it or not." Subscribing to the notion that gays and lesbians do not choose to be homosexual often underpins homosexual identity formation. Moreover, identity integration, as described by each of the participants, suggests that making the choice to accept being gay can result from, rather than contradict, one's particular beliefs in Christianity.

The belief that being gay is predestined by God can provide the basis for feeling resentful towards God, at least initially. David said that, prior to accepting a gay identity, he had felt confused and had struggled to find answers to some questions that were critical to his self-identity.

I couldn't make sense of [being gay]. It just didn't make sense to me. How could God love me and create me and turn around and

say this is wrong and sinful and not take it away from me? And if it wasn't Him who did this to me, if it wasn't Him who created me this way, then why wasn't He just taking it away from me?

As did other participants, David implied that the cornerstone from which acceptance of being gay, in combination with being Christian, was made possible was his belief that he lacked a choice in the matter of being gay.

It is worth noting that, so far, I have made reference only to statements made by some of the participants that their homosexuality -- not their Christianity -- is somehow an innate feature of themselves. Homosexual orientations are framed as being a decision of God. However, the source of Christian identities are not explained in a similar fashion, possibly because of the common belief among many Christian individuals that subscribing to Christianity requires an act of one's will. For example, Christian people, particularly evangelicals and fundamentalists, commonly make statements such as, "When I became a Christian . . .," or "I decided to follow the Lord." Such statements imply that individual agency is required in order to "be" a Christian. It seems reasonable to suggest, then, that such a belief explains why the matter of choice -- or lack thereof -- was expressed by the participants strictly in the context of processes of homosexual identity formation, and not in context of Christian identity formation.

Thomas, however, was the one exception to that general trend. He was the only participant who asserted that both his homosexuality and his Christianity were beyond his choice. He emphasized that, contrary to the views of many Christians, his status as a Christian is an act of God's will rather than of his own:

I probably believe different things about salvation than [other Christians do] because I don't believe salvation is a choice. I think God chooses us, and I could pull out ten scriptures in the <u>Bible</u> where it says He chooses us. No one is drawn to Christ unless the Father draws him. So people say, "Oh no, it's your free will. You choose". . . . His ways are His ways, and His thinking is way higher than our thinking. . . . [S]alvation is based on God's plan for you, not anything that you've done.

Only one participant implied uncertainty about the etiology of his homosexuality. In contrast with the other seven participants, Scott expressed resistance towards what he referred to as "essentialist" views of identity.

I don't know [if I always knew that I was gay]. I mean, it's easy to say that now that I have a gay identity and I make it a focal point in my [academic] work. But there was a time that I thought that I was bisexual. I don't know. It seems now as though I always was gay. It feels that way anyway.

Even though Scott did not express that he was either made or born gay, he did imply, as the above comments suggests, that he nevertheless lacked choice in being gay. He also expressed similar concern about essentializing Christianity:

I don't know. I mean, its funny. Because you think, 'Well, do I consider my self a Christian?' and its sort of like there. You know, there's the question. . . . I have alot of resistance against . . . to me Christianity becomes so essentialized so easily. And probably because it has been the dominant religion, so that everyone seems to define themselves against what it means to be Christian, against what they think it means to be Christian, and so in order to do that, they essentialize what it means to be Christian, and what that means is bad, and stupid, and uninformed, and naive and patriarchal. And so, you know, they don't want to be Christian. . . . I think that Christianity is one of the ways to express [spirituality].

In sum, seven of the participants implied or stated directly that they were either born or made gay. Some believe that God made them gay, in part, for evangelical purposes (as is the case for Lloyd, Bob, and Wayne). David and Pete described making the choice to accept themselves "the way they are" -- specifically referring to their homosexuality -- in order to confront temptations to commit suicide. The theme of lack of choice was commonly expressed as one way in which identity integration was facilitated. Subscribing to notions about lack of choice concerning sexual orientation is a way in which participants accepted and bolstered their homosexual identities. In the case of Thomas, the belief that Christian orientations are pre-ordained by God provided him with further evidence that God approves of his overall personhood.

The influence of others

The social world, by its very nature, is one in which individuals are influenced by other people. Identities arise within social contexts, as Mead (1934) suggested with the "I" and "Me" metaphors. Seven of the eight participants made statements that described the ways in which processes of identity integration are informed through social interactions with other people. Some men, such as Pete, Lloyd, and Wayne, acknowledged that interacting with other people at gay-positive <u>Bible</u> studies helped them to reconcile themselves with particular scriptural texts from which they had previously felt alienated. They implied that alienation resulted from standard interpretations of particular

scriptures, which are usually expressed by other Christians in an anti-gay manner.

Pete, Lloyd, and Wayne attended gay-affirmative <u>Bible</u> studies that were attended mostly by other gay Christian people. Both Charles and Pete stated that they had felt validated about their identities from meeting other men who identified as gay and Christian. But not all of the participants made the choice to study, attend church, and socialize with other gay Christians. For example, although David mentioned that a gay priest was instrumental in showing him different approaches to Christianity apart from a literalist one, he also said that a friend, a heterosexual minister, supported him through his struggle to accept his homosexuality in the context of his Christian identity.

Neither Thomas nor Scott discussed having frequented social circles in which men who identify as gay and as Christian tend to travel. Thomas described feeling quite comfortable attending a small church whose membership consisted mostly of heterosexual people. He said that he and his partner have been included, as a couple, in a variety of church events and social activities. Similarly, Scott expressed his preference for attending church in an otherwise mostly heterosexual congregation:

My own internalized homophobia is not challenged when I go to a strictly gay church. When I go to a church where there's lots of straight people, and I see them accepting me, and I see them in this sacred place -- which I feel is sacred, and they feel is sacred -- and I feel them accepting me, it really works on the [internalized] homophobia because they're validating me being there, and they're interested in me being there. And making an effort. Whereas, if it's

all gay, we are just sort of all there, and it can become just like another gay club, almost.

Each of the eight participants has expressed himself in various ways when in the company of other Christian people. As I have noted, some have chosen to find similar others with whom to relate and develop friendships. Other men, such as Thomas and Scott, have found gay-positive -- but not necessarily gay -- churches where they feel accepted and supported by other Christians.

Each participant also said that he receives support for his gay identity from some other Christians, both gay or straight. Conversely, some stated also that their Christianity is generally not tolerated by non-Christian gay people, and that they had not found non-Christian gay people with whom they could comfortably interact. David specified such difficulties as being linked with his Christian morality:

[M]y personal morality is not something that is accepted very well... The gay [friends] are not supportive of my Christianity.... In terms of dating it does [result in conflict]. I have convictions about my morality that for the most part, the [gay] people I have met don't come close to. It's kind of [like] a one-way street: Christians have hated gays for so long and yet now to be a gay Christian is difficult because gays hate Christians so much that to be a gay Christian is something that's bad.... When I tell people this is my perspective, this is where I come from, they treat me like I'm just out to lunch. There isn't an acceptance of that.

Thomas articulated a similar view. He said that he has generally discontinued social interactions with non-Christian gay people. However, his belief that Christians are compelled to spread the gospel of salvation, and that

doing so is a matter of God's timing, sometimes has lead him to selectively discuss his Christianity among non-Christian gay people.

I don't hide [being a Christian], but as a Christian, we are called to witness. A witness is someone who is called to the stand to give their testimony [about being Christian]. . . . A witness doesn't run into the courtroom and tell everybody what happened. They're patiently waiting for the judge to say, "OK, would you come up and give your story?" So that's what I think of as a witness. It's almost like you can create hostility within people by pushing that on them. That's not how to win others to Christ. Christ wouldn't do that. You have to be sensitive to people.

In the above statement, Thomas implied that his expressions of Christianity among non-Christian gay people is selective and dependent upon his perception of God's timing. Thomas believes that God uses him as a vessel from which the message of salvation is expressed to others, some of whom are gay. Such a belief is qualitatively different from the assertions of other participants that they have a right to express their Christianity among non-Christian gay people. Charles, for example, felt that he is not accepted by the gay community. But he emphasized that if non-Christian gay people demand acceptance from non-gay Christians, then they must, in turn, accept individuals who are Christian, whether gay or straight. Charles may feel that, in his life, non-acceptance is equally weighted on both sides. In broader society, however, efforts to compel Christians to accept gays and lesbians are much larger, and have more political consequences, than those which compel anti-Christian gays and lesbians to accept Christian people.

In contrast with Thomas, Charles did not frame expressions of his Christianity as being a dimension of God's timing for the purposes of evangelism.

I tend to talk a lot about spirituality [around other non-Christian gay people]. I was a typical liberal church minister. I downplayed being a follower of Christ. I downplayed anything spiritual. I really tried to be an invisible influence for good. Now, I say I'm a follower of Christ, a believer in the <u>Bible</u>, and I'm saved. I admit and I'm open about it. Just like you want to be open about being gay, I am ready now at this stage of my life to being open about being Christian. I don't try to hide it.

Charles' situation reflects another dimension apart from those of the other participants because he is currently married to a woman, although they do not live together. He explained that divorce seems unnecessary because it is bothersome, and he and his wife remain good friends. His marital status, in combination with his Christianity, has lead to experiences in which other non-Christian gay people have expressed negative judgments about the way in which Charles leads his life.

I know that I am not accepted in the gay community. There are a number of gay people who come to this church, and are actively part of it, and know what my scene is. Yet, I recognize that, by and large, if I go down to [the gay bar], they look about and say, "There's that married minister. What an asshole." I have to live with that. That's how I'm perceived by some. . . . There are some [non-Christian gay] people who believe I am not living up to Christian principles. . . . I had been [to the bar], and I had one guy turn to me and say, "What kind of a fucking Christian are you, anyway?" I said, "A flawed one."

For Charles, most of the judgmental comments about his identities have come from non-Christian gay people. In describing himself as "flawed," Charles was referring neither to his homosexuality nor his marital status in combination with his homosexuality. Rather, he expressed that, as a human being, he is fundamentally flawed in the eyes of God, as he believes all human beings to be. Such a belief is the fundamental tenet of evangelism, specifically that Jesus saves people from their flawed and sinful natures so that God can receive them, in perfect spiritual form, into an eternal kingdom.

The theme of evangelism was also interwoven throughout comments made by Lloyd and Bob. Lloyd said,

[Bob and I] don't have a lot of interest [in socializing with non-Christian gay people]. I find I'm uncomfortable going to a secular-type party, or something like that. I really find it uncomfortable. We don't have a lot of gay friends. Only ones out of the church. [Hearing other gay people bashing Christians] bothers me because I know that I'm part of their community, the gay community, but yet I'm Christian also. It does bother me, 'cause I understand where they're coming from. They're angry. I get the same way. But I try to reach out to them.

Lloyd described an example of how his beliefs in evangelism override his feelings of discomfort in being Christian among non-Christian gay people. He said,

[For a] couple of years [Bob and I marched in the gay pride parade] as part of [our] union. . . . We were the only one's there [from our church]. There was two of us. They were all hiding in the crowd. When we marched [under the banner of our gay church], I didn't

feel uncomfortable being gay, I felt uncomfortable being Christian there.

Bob, Lloyd's partner, added, "[Becoming Christian] wasn't an easy thing either because we lost most of our friends because of what they called our 'nuttiness'."

Bob also said:

We're not shoe-leather evangelists who shove it down people's throats. What I say is if they would just come into the church [and] sit down -- they don't even have to stay if they don't want to. But just sit there, and experience the service, and experience something within themselves. Give it a chance instead of writing it off right away. Because I do, I fear for their souls.

For Lloyd, and Bob, among others, evangelism tends to override feelings of discomfort about expressing Christian beliefs among non-Christian gay people. But for men such as Charles, an "equal rights" perspective, combined with an evangelical one, facilitates his conviction to express his Christianity among other gay people in spite of some negative comments that some gay people have directed towards him.

The participants reflect a usual social phenomenon, namely, that most people seek like-minded others with whom to associate. However, rejection by others can sometimes bolster one's identity, rather than erode it. The recognition that some Christians are hostile toward gays and lesbians, and that some gays and lesbians are hostile toward Christians, does not necessarily discourage some individuals from accepting and celebrating self-images that combine Christian and homosexual identities. On the contrary, occupying such a space

within the social matrix enables some individuals to integrate identities into meaningful whole images of self, free from the compulsion of having to choose between one identity or the other. Such self-images are influenced, rather than determined, by people who are supportive, as well as by those who are not.

Self-Affirmation

A final type of strategy of identity integration involves asserting one's individual agency. Individuals often make choices that facilitate and bolster one's identities, apart from the influence of particular others. For example, the adoption of alternative perspectives on the <u>Bible</u>, such as those that challenge Biblical literalism, is one way in which some people assert their individual agency within social groups which emphasize conformity.

I have mentioned above that some Christian homosexual people, such as so-called "ex-gays," feel badly about their homosexuality in part because they have internalized literalist and anti-gay interpretations of the <u>Bible</u>. However, alternative perspectives can encourage acceptance of one's homosexuality in concert with one's Christianity, thereby functioning as a conduit to identity integration. Adopting alternative perspectives to those of mainstream Christians can sometimes reflect a very long process of developing self-awareness.

Charles expressed the difficulties and rewards of such a process:

[My acceptance of being gay and Christian has come about] through a long, arduous and painful process of coming to terms and accepting myself. It's taken years to accept myself. The biggest thing was developing my own self-worth [and] self-esteem.

I have had a very poor self-image, and yet at the same time, I've been involved in a lot of leadership. It's a poor combination when you have [both] low self-esteem and leadership skills. I've had to work on seeing myself as successful. I think that's the biggest thing that I've discovered. I am successful, in spite of my flawed nature. It works.

Pete described a similar process of self-acceptance in being gay in combination with being Christian.

I remember saying, "I am like this," and I finally said to myself, "You know, you have a long time to live yet. You'd better start liking yourself." So I would count that as a turning point in my life as to me accepting me, who I was, even though all of the conflicts weren't resolved. . . . It got to the point that I realized that the only way I could stop being gay was to commit suicide. It wasn't that I was going to commit suicide; it was just that was the only way out. So what's the point in going on with [that] exercise? I guess I make decisions, and that's it.

Sometimes, participants expressed self-affirmations that emerged from childhood experiences of feeling "different." Wayne, who had recognized his attractions to other boys at an early age and who was raised in an evangelical and fundamentalist Christian home, described the rather pragmatic way in which he combined his Christian beliefs and his homosexual attractions:

I had been brought up with [family] values very strongly. To me, somehow, I just took all these values and just transposed them onto my new sexuality. So it wasn't that I was gay and I was going to the bar, and [doing] the gay thing so to speak -- the clubs [that is]. I just transposed, so whereas I was supposed to look for a woman and get married and have kids or whatever, I transposed, meaning that I was going to find a partner of the same sex. And I had visions of getting married to a same-sex partner as early as my mid-teens, probably. Like thirteen or fourteen maybe.

Rather than feeling condemned, Wayne recognized in his youth that his identities could be accommodated without having to discontinue his Christian beliefs. For Wayne, such a cognitive "transposition" was a relatively minor difference from the norm considering that he continued to subscribe to the familial notions about morality, views on the family, and beliefs in Christianity.

Summary of Identity Integration Strategies

The five types of strategies presented above reflect the most frequently-articulated ways in which the eight participants resolved the identity conflict that they acknowledged as having experienced, albeit to varying degrees of severity. Overall, resolution was ultimately achieved not by discontinuing one identity or the other, but rather by blending both identities into their everyday lives. The strategies suggest that both individual agency and social processes facilitate identity integration.

The interview data represent rich life histories, and I have discussed some aspects of those stories. Unfortunately, practical constraints do not allow me to explore other aspects of their histories here. Analysis of some of the data yielded insights into the questions of "How?" and "Why?". I intuited a variety of strategic themes that I organized according to types. The process of doing so was grounded in the words and stories that each participant shared with me about his life.

The most common strategic theme was *Biblical Interpretation*. I discussed the ways in which the <u>Bible</u> informed the gay identity of each man, particularly

through exegesis. A second common theme was summed up by the phrase "A Christianity of Questions", a expression that Scott used to describe his philosophical orientation towards Christianity. For Scott, faith in Christianity lies not in discovering divine truths about the physical and spiritual worlds, but rather in recognizing and accepting inconsistencies between idealized religious perspectives and actual lived experience. Each participant discussed having accepted some inconsistency in order to understand himself as being Christian and gay. A third theme concerned the issue of choice, particularly in reference to homosexual identity. Most of the men felt that they did not have a choice in being gay, but had made a deliberate choice to become Christian. The only exception was Thomas; he argued that he chose neither to be gay nor to be Christian. Another strategy concerned the influence on identity integration of the social worlds in which the men were situated. In general, each participant sought particular social groups in order to facilitate gay and Christian identity integration. The final strategy that I discussed concerned the ways in which each man affirmed himself in simultaneously being gay and Christian, such as making deliberate choices to adopt perspectives on Christianity other than fundamentalist ones.

All of the strategies facilitate identity integration and are linked by the component of agency, which I see as asserting one's will to make decisions.

Each participant expressed why he pursued identity integration. In particular, some of the men expressed their opinion that homosexuality was not a choice and that Christianity was an attractive venue for expressing their spirituality. After

recognizing that they could retain both aspects of their lives, they sought avenues for identity integration. Some of the participants implied that subscribing to Christianity, participating in Christian practices, and associating with other Christians are not exclusive rights of heterosexual Christians. They have held firm in their belief that identifying as Christian does not preclude their gay identities and they have overtly and covertly confronted individuals who believe otherwise. Similarly, they have asserted their right to express their Christianity among other gay people, some of whom have expressed disapproval about their Christianity.

It is possible, but unlikely, that the initial motivation of each participant to integrate his identities was to promote equal rights. The question "Why?" might imply an agenda to promote equal rights with heterosexuals, specifically concerning access to religion and participation in gay communities as Christians. However, the promotion of equal rights and political awareness likely followed the search for personal peace. The desire to resolve identity conflict was more likely the issue that compelled each man to pursue identity integration, including the men who had originally attempted to discontinue their gay identities. Finding inner peace through identity integration was ultimately achieved through a variety of strategies, reflecting factors such as choice of social groups and organizations, interpretations of Biblical scripture, and beliefs about the nature of (homo)sexuality.

Although I argue that the actions of these men are political in nature, I am not suggesting that every participant has embraced the political work of

promoting equal rights. Gay and lesbian communities in North America have not promoted an explicitly anti-Christian agenda. Therefore, it appears that political work in this context tends not to extend beyond being out as a Christian in non-Christian contexts. However, many Christian communities have initiated and promoted political agendas which are clearly anti-gay in nature, some of which actively condone violence against gays and lesbians (among others). In spite of the need to challenge such agendas, some of these men do not appear eager to do so. The strategies that I have presented in this chapter reflect the participants' primary intention to reduce cognitive dissonance (in part through building supportive social ties and relationships) rather than to confront discrimination.

Moreover, the five types of strategies collectively emphasize that, among the eight participants, homosexual identity formation has taken place within the context of, rather than apart from, evangelical Christianity. The identity theories of both Cass and Troiden, discussed in Chapter Two, do not account for such a possibility. More generally, neither theorist considered the effects of a conflicting identity upon the process of homosexual identity formation. Implications of the five types of strategies for the Cass and Troiden models are the focus of the next, and final, chapter.

Chapter Five: Evaluation of the Cass and Troiden Models

In this chapter, I first present a brief discussion about some of the issues raised in the data from Chapter Four in order to separately analyze the strengths and weaknesses of the Cass and Troiden models of homosexual identity formation. I then return to the five strategies of identity integration, specifically elucidating the ways in which the Cass and Troiden models can be revised in order to account for homosexual identity formation in the context of conflicting identities. Finally, I present a synthesized and revised model.

A General Discussion of the Data

The men in this study have learned to blend their identities as gay and Christian as a way of making sense of their sexual and religious orientations. The strategies that they have used to do so indicate that they highly value being both gay and Christian. The necessity of implementing strategies of identity integration arose in part from being told by others that being both gay and Christian is not possible because homosexuality and Christianity are mutually incompatible. That message comes particularly from other Christians because of a general Christian bias against homosexuality. To a lesser extent, some gay people who hold a bias against Christianity have attempted to deter the participants from also being Christian.

Rejection of gays and lesbians by some Christians and rejection of Christians by some gays and lesbians are not equally powerful social phenomena. As I have argued throughout this thesis, the ability of Christian

ideologies to impose moral values upon society is more pronounced than are the influences of gay and lesbian political activism on social values. Whereas anti-Christian attitudes and sentiments are usually expressed as a reactive defense against Christian condemnation of homosexuals, anti-homosexual attitudes and sentiments, especially those of right-wing Christians, are typically expressed as proactive attacks against gays and lesbians. Anti-Christian attitudes among some gays and lesbians might not arise if it were not for Christian campaigns that explicitly promote negative stereotypes, discrimination, and, at times, hatred against gay and lesbian individuals and their loved ones.

Right-wing Christian campaigns against gays and lesbians are perhaps the most visible, and sometimes sensational, ways in which Christian ideologies are imposed upon society. Some more moderate Christian denominations also condemn homosexuality and have done so for centuries. The notion that homosexuality is immoral and unnatural has thus become axiomatic in societies which are dominated by Christian values, even among people who are not actively Christian themselves. Gay activism functions in such societies where anti-gay Christian campaigns are organized, and where homophobia is mostly the status quo.

In spite of such prejudices, the men in this study have come to accept their being gay and Christian, not merely with a sense of resignation, but with contentment. As they proceeded along their respective paths of identity development, they made particular decisions -- adopted various strategies -- which facilitated a harmonious blending of their (previously-conflicting) identities.

I have suggested that identity integration can result in spite of anti-gay or anti-Christian biases expressed by significant or generalized others. In light of some of the strategies which I discussed in the last chapter, I would add that identity integration can also result *because* of such biases, as a kind of defiance against those who disapprove of people who subscribe to Christianity while at the same time identifying as gay. The adoption of Christianity by gays and lesbians may be perceived by some gays and lesbians as capitulation to political foes; in their view, Christianity may reflect a narrow, exclusive, and authoritarian moral regime that gays and lesbians should entirely reject. For many Christians, the acceptance of being gay or lesbian in combination with being Christian represents a moral contradiction.

Such perspectives indicate that the identities of being gay and Christian emerge in contexts of social and political power; blending identities, as some of the men in this study have implied, represents an act of resistance against particular moral or political regimes that attempt to deter their respective processes of identity integration. Be that as it may, the forces of Christianity, in my view, are much more powerful within society than those of gay and lesbian communities, in part because the latter continue to be mostly hidden within society. Devout Christians with homosexual orientations must contend with the widespread notion that their soul and salvation are jeopardized because of their sexual orientation. On the other hand, gay or lesbian people who are also Christian have only their social lives to consider when their Christianity is condemned by gays or lesbians. I do not mean to downgrade the significance of

anti-Christian opinions of some gay individuals on the lives of some of the men in this study. Rather, I mean only to suggest that men such as Charles, Lloyd, Bob, Wayne, and perhaps others, would likely consider their souls and salvation as ultimately paramount over their physical lives on earth.

Although the participants described having faced challenges in their lives that impeded successful identity integration, they were not deterred from doing so. Achieving a point in their lives at which they felt relatively little inner conflict about being both gay and Christian reflects processes of identity acquisition that are dialectical in nature. Once integration strategies were in place, they no longer compartmentalized the expression of their identities in accordance with social mores of particular groups. Most of the participants reached a point in their lives at which their private identities were expressed comfortably around other people, both gay and straight, Christian and non-Christian.

I have described the nature of the participants' integrated identities as dialectical to account for their acceptance of a gay identity in combination with a Christian identity, rather than for their entire identity formation processes. All had been raised in Christian homes except for Charles and Scott, both of whom had participated in Christian youth activities. Apart from whether or not they were raised in Christian homes, their Christian identities were likely well-grounded, or at least rooted, by the time they began to accept their gay identities. In the interviews, many of these men discussed childhood experiences that they later understood as signifying their adult homosexuality. However, such experiences are not synonymous with having a gay identity from childhood. My description of

their gay and Christian identities as dialectical implies that they had adopted identity integration strategies. I think of their integrated identities as reflecting a "continual reciprocity." Prior to attaining continual reciprocity, their Christian identities emerged in the absence of their gay identities or were mentally and socially compartmentalized from their gay identities.

The models of homosexual identity formation that I described in chapter two, one developed by Cass (1979) and the other by Troiden (1988), do not reflect continual reciprocity of (previously) conflicting identities. A brief review of the Cass and Troiden models here is beneficial for explanation. Cass developed a six-stage model that emphasizes cognitive development in the acquisition of a homosexual identity. She described the ways in which individuals continually evaluate and reevaluate their status as homosexuals. The six stages are: confusion, comparison, tolerance, acceptance, pride, and synthesis. Identity synthesis represents the last stage of the Cass model and is achieved when individuals integrate personal and public homosexual identities.

The model of homosexual identity formation that was developed by Troiden is somewhat different from that of Cass. Troiden's model reflects four stages. The first stage, sensitization, occurs before puberty, often as feelings of being different from peers. Confusion, assumption, and commitment are the other three stages. According to Troiden, commitment is typically felt as self-acceptance and comfort with a homosexual self-identity and social role.

Both Cass and Troiden described their respective models as ideal-typical and as general portrayals of the ways in which individuals come to perceive

themselves and present themselves in society as homosexuals. The overall strength of each model is that they describe general processes and common experiences of homosexual identity formation. In doing so, the implication is that homosexual identity formation typically contrasts with that of heterosexuals. For example, most heterosexuals are afforded the luxury of never or rarely having to question their sexual orientation, and of never or rarely having their sexual orientation questioned by others. Heterosexuality is a "given" for most people, unless they demonstrate or claim otherwise. As Cass and Troiden point out, doing "otherwise" involves a process of continual self-evaluation concerning sexual orientation identity that is distinct from that of most heterosexuals.

The data that I presented in Chapter four reveal strengths and weaknesses of the models of homosexual identity formation. Each theorist emphasized cognitive perceptions and presented social and political factors that might facilitate or discourage the continuation of homosexual identity development. A more detailed assessment of each theoretical model in view of the interview data will bring some of their respective strengths and weaknesses into focus.

The Cass Model: A General Analysis

Cass describes a process by which homosexuals, both men and women, come to see and accept themselves as homosexuals. In her view, a stable

¹⁶ Heterosexuality tends to be attributed to individuals, whether gay or straight, based more on gender cues than on actual sexual activity. By "given," I am referring the attribution of heterosexuality at birth by others as a "default" sexual orientation identity. I am also referring to the continual validation of heterosexuality from others throughout one's life.

homosexual identity is achieved when three levels of one's perception are congruent with each other: perception of oneself concerning characteristics associated with being gay, perception of one's behaviour associated with being gay, and perception of other people's attitudes about one's characteristics. She emphasized that acquiring a homosexual identity is an active process; people make decisions to either continue with the process of acquisition or to foreclose upon it. Like other identity theorists, Cass described usual strategies that are adopted to reduce cognitive dissonance. Along the journey of sexual orientation identity acquisition, one increasingly "commits" to a homosexual identity, specifically in conjunction with public openness about it (what Cass calls public homosexual identity).

As I see it, there are three problems with the Cass model in light of the data I presented in the last chapter. In no particular order, one concerns Cass' argument that, during the second stage (Identity Comparison), feelings of inner tension about the possibility of being homosexual compel one either to inhibit overt and covert behaviours that one associates with being homosexual, or to reduce associations with others whom express anti-gay attitudes. Homosexual identity formation is foreclosed in the former scenario, and fostered in the latter scenario. Cass states that "giving up membership in a church group" is an example of a strategy that fosters homosexual identity formation. Cass conducted her research in the 1970s and likely did not have examples of church groups where gay and lesbian people would be welcomed. Such groups either did not exist or were unknown to the vast majority of people. However, in the

context in which the interviewees lived, it is possible to retain one's religious beliefs (and even church membership) while also accepting a gay identity.

The men in this study have been active agents in their respective processes of identity acquisition. Some have discontinued their association with people who are openly hostile towards homosexuals, but some have also decided to retain their religious beliefs and associations with non-gay Christian groups and individuals. Thomas and Scott even prefer to attend church with non-gay Christians rather than with gay ones. Furthermore, all of the men demonstrate that retaining such beliefs and associations can be a vital source of support for acquiring a homosexual identity. A revised Cass model would reflect such possibilities.

Another problem is that while Cass is clear that her model represents general processes which culminate in private and public homosexual identity integration (the Synthesis stage), she does not account for the ways in which individuals might arrive at the final stage while skipping one or more of the other stages. Cass explains that individuals can foreclose on identity acquisition at any time, and return to it later (or not return to it, as the case may be). She presents the model as though each stage is requisite in the process of homosexual identity acquisition. However, none of the men in this study described experiences that reflect the fifth stage of the Cass model, the Pride stage. None of the participants described having experienced a zealousness about his homosexual identity such that he considered all heterosexuals to be opponents and all other homosexuals to be allies. Contrary to Cass, each participant

instead described feelings of frustration in not finding enough allies among other non-Christian gay men whom specifically supported their Christianity. Feelings of adversity were perhaps directed more towards non-Christians than towards heterosexuals. In any case, it remains unclear why Cass considers all stages to be necessary, rather than possible, steps towards full homosexual identity development. Perhaps this stage represents an artifact from a particular historic time when pride was more tenuous.

Finally, the Cass model does not discuss age-specific experiences, perceptions, and feelings that often inform the development of a gay identity. The first stage of identity acquisition, the Confusion stage, appears to begin in adulthood, although Cass is not explicit about this. She does not discuss childhood experiences that many adult homosexuals consider, in retrospect, to represent early indications of being gay, such as gender-atypical behaviour. All of the men in this study discussed boyhood experiences such as having "crushes" on other boys that they later understood as being clues that would help to direct them out of the confusion that they had felt about their homosexuality. Subsequent adult gay identities emerged in part from such clues.

Smaller problems with the Cass schema are also evident. She correctly points out that making contacts with other homosexuals can lead to increased self-acceptance of a gay identity. Such contacts can result in finding sexual and / or romantic partners, gaining support for one's homosexuality from other homosexuals, and, moreover, "normalizing" homosexuality so that one's perceptions of homosexuality as deviant, pathological, or sinful are reduced.

Cass adds that making contacts with other homosexuals can also lead to identity foreclosure if those contacts are perceived as negative. According to Cass, some men with homosexual orientations who have not adopted a gay identity negatively associate increased involvement with other gay men with further acceptance of a gay identity.

While it is true that finding support among other homosexuals is a typical way in which individuals reduce cognitive dissonance about being homosexual, Cass reifies such contacts by describing them in the context of "the gay subculture" (p. 231). Cass first published her model of homosexual identity formation in 1979. The term "subculture" might have been more appropriate during that time when social visibility of gays and lesbians was not as integrated into public consciousness, discourse, and popular culture as when the interviews for this study took place. Perhaps many gays and lesbians no longer need to locate "subcultures" to find social support for their homosexual identity, but instead find support from individuals who represent a variety of sexual orientations in a variety of social settings and through mass media. I am not suggesting that gays and lesbians have not formed particular communities and cultures; I am instead arguing that the term "subculture" implies a singular organization. Gay and lesbian communities are complex, diverse, and comprise many social groups and organizations. As the men in this study indicate, social support can be found from a variety of people representing various sexualities and religious perspectives, including heterosexuals and Christians.

Furthermore, the data I presented in Chapter four indicates that, for the men in this study, other homosexuals (and other Christians) have not always offered them affirmation. A revised Cass model would elaborate on ways in which homosexual people seek affirmation through individuals who are supportive of their identities even if those individuals are not homosexual.

Overall, the strength of the Cass model is its detailed overview of general processes of homosexual identity formation and its emphasis on individual agency in such acquisition. However, Cass does not account for the ways in which homosexual identities emerge for individuals who simultaneously identify in ways that are usually considered to be in conflict with homosexuality, such as being Christian. According to Cass, the men in this study would likely have discontinued church membership and / or religious beliefs in order to attain a homosexual identity. Instead, they chose to do the opposite and yet have achieved similar results.

To summarize, the Cass model is problematic in some key areas not because Cass employed poor methodological or analytical practices. Rather, the Cass model suffers from being somewhat dated. Social circumstances for gay and lesbian people have changed significantly during the two decades since Cass' research was first published. Gay and lesbian communities have flourished since 1979, particularly in urban centres and especially for white, middle-class populations. Most people have access to venues of mass media which provide more positive reflections of gay or lesbian people than was the case even a few years ago. An updated version of the Cass model need not include a

comprehensive list of venues that are currently available for the purposes of affirmation, but would reflect the notion that identity formation tends to be achieved in diverse ways which are not necessarily as sequential as her model implies. An updated version might also mention that some churches have become more welcoming of gays and lesbians.

The Troiden Model: A General Analysis

In accordance with Gagnon and Simon's (1973) theory that physical acts become meaningful for individuals when contextualized within social scripts, such as gender and sexual orientation scripts, Troiden emphasizes the significance of childhood experiences which later form an important part of adult homosexual orientation identity. Unlike Cass, Troiden presents detailed descriptions of childhood experiences, usually pertaining to gender-atypical behaviour rather than to sexuality, which are later infused with significance for many homosexuals. He remarks that, "childhood experiences gained in social, emotional, and genital realms come to be invested with homosexual significance during adolescence" (p. 44-5).

As I have mentioned above, men such as Pete and Charles are, from Cass' perspective, developmentally problematic because they have not fully integrated public and private homosexual identities. Troiden argues that Cass erroneously equates identity acquisition with identity disclosure and suggests that identity disclosure is more a matter of identity management than identity development. Deciding who is correct depends on one's particular definition of

"identity." Throughout this thesis, I have emphasized that identity formation is an outcome of agency, which is to say that when one comes to accept a particular self-description, identity has been achieved. However, I have also implied that social processes are integral in the process of identity development. The concept of "Me," to refer again to Mead's (1934) description of identity as a function of "internalized others," captures part of the identity formation processes of the participants in this research. For these men, "Me" includes the influence of family, friends, individuals in gay or Christian communities (or both), and society in general.

In view of "Me" and Cooley's (1964) "looking-glass self," I am inclined to side with Cass on the issue of public disclosure. In my view, identity is fully-established when it can be reflected back by others. In my own life, I do not feel compelled to hide from other people the fact that I have a male spouse, rather than a female spouse. Due recognition from others of my spouse, and therefore also of my sexual orientation identity, contributes to my identity as a gay person. Furthermore, I have argued throughout this thesis that gay and lesbian identities (among others) are inherently political, not only because I believe that everyday actions and decisions have political implications, but also because such identities transgress compulsory heterosexuality (propounded especially by Christian people). Identity formation as both gay and Christian reaches fruition when one expresses both identities publicly, especially in areas of one's life which are voluntary, such as church.

When viewed from Troiden's model, the homosexual identities of Pete and Charles are no longer problematic because Troiden posits identity disclosure as optional rather than necessary in the process of identity development. In other words, Pete and Charles have achieved self-acceptance with a homosexual identity and social role and represent full identity development as described in Troiden's Stage four (the Commitment stage), as do all of the other men in this study. It appears that Troiden and Cass each operationalized "identity" in two very different ways which lead to two very different theoretical constructs.

The descriptions of identity development by the eight participants indicate that there appear to be no significant problems with the Troiden model. Each of the men I interviewed provided an account of identity acquisition that reflects the four stages of homosexual identity development described by Troiden. One resulting conclusion of the Troiden model could be that it is analytically robust; it generally reflects the processes of homosexual identity development as the men in this study described them. But each of the four stages is extremely broad, thus weakening their explanatory potential. Rather than constructing a model design that is "ideal typical," as Troiden calls it, Troiden has instead offered a model that is so general that it seems somewhat superficial; it could describe gay identity formation patterns of practically all gay men in North America, and perhaps elsewhere. Sensitization, confusion, assumption, and commitment, the four stages in the Troiden model, are somewhat obvious components of homosexual identity acquisition. In my view, each of these stages are too broad for maximum

theoretical efficacy, although they specifically address homosexual identity formation, rather than other aspects of identity.

In support of Troiden, he addressed the problem of linearity more clearly than did Cass. He described his model not as a series of step-by-step stages, but rather as a "horizontal spiral, like a spring lying on its side. Progress through the stages occurs in a back-and-forth, up-and-down fashion . . . [because] the stages overlap and recur in somewhat different ways for different people." (p. 42). Given the difficulties in attaining comfort with being gay as described by the men in this study, the metaphor of the horizontal spiral is an apt one. Although not addressed specifically, an interpreter of the Troiden model could frame "conflicting identities" as a possible constituent of the back-and-forth, up-and-down pattern of homosexual identity development. An improvement on the existing model would reflect the possibility that conflicting identities, especially ones that typically reference conservative views on sexual morality, can interfere with the process of accepting that one is gay.

A somewhat minor quibble with Troiden is his choice to describe men and women who have accepted and feel comfortable about their respective homosexual identities as "committed homosexuals" (p. 53). In my view, the word "committed" evokes an image of mental institutionalization, and implies subscription to organizations or activities, such as "committed social activist." People actively "commit" to doing particular things, but they tend not to "commit" to identifying as any particular sexual orientation. It also erroneously implies that other sexual orientation identities cannot co-exist with being homosexual, such

as bisexual and queer. I have argued that identity acquisition requires agency in order to make certain decisions that either facilitate or discontinue identity development. However, people tend not to "commit" to homosexual identities like others might sign up for military duty. Replacing "committed" with "self-accepting" more accurately evokes an inner and gradual process of self-awareness. The term "self-accepting" also implies that multiple and apparently-contradicting identities can co-exist, including multiple sexual orientation identities.

The Cass and Troiden Models and the Five Strategies of Identity Integration

In order to propose a synthesized and revised model, it is useful to discuss the ways in which each the five strategies is, or is not, reflected in each model.

The first strategy that I discussed, and the one that was referred to by the eight participants more than any other strategy, was *Biblical interpretation*. Both Cass and Troiden mention that, on the path from identity confusion to identity acceptance, homosexuals characteristically pursue sources of information that affirm their homosexual identity. Cass also states that, within the Pride stage, homosexuals often "immerse [them]selves in the gay subculture, voraciously consuming gay literature and culture" (p. 233). Such an observation is absent in Troiden's model probably because each theorist emphasized two different outcomes. For Troiden, identity formation is complete when individual's accept a homosexual identity, whereas Cass emphasized that individual acceptance and public disclosure are requisite components of full identity formation. It could be

that Troiden considers "additional sources of information" to mean "gay literature and culture," as Cass puts it. On the other hand, Troiden does not explicitly preclude sources of information such as the <u>Bible</u>.

Most people would consider the <u>Bible</u> to be expressive of hostility towards gays and lesbians. Clearly, the men in this study are not among them. I assume that Troiden is referring to material and literature that is explicitly gay-affirmative. Neither theorist has considered the ways in which texts that are usually used against homosexuals can be claimed by gays and lesbians for self-affirming reasons. David and Lloyd, among others, turned to the <u>Bible</u> as a reference point for understanding their homosexual identities. In the context of homosexual identity formation, the <u>Bible</u> is significant because it is the cornerstone of anti-gay activism among members of right-wing Christian organizations, and yet it also often underlies opinions that homosexuals cannot be Christian, even among non-Christians.

Acceptance of inconsistencies was the second strategy that I presented, referring to the ways in which some men learn to accommodate their Christian beliefs within circumstances of their lives that do not typically foster Christian beliefs or reflect usual Christian values. Thomas' mother, for example, was a Christian and an alcoholic and Thomas learned to accept that particular inconsistency. He also incorporated it as a general lesson in life that not everything can be resolved to eliminate inconsistencies. Other men were able to retain their Christian beliefs even though they recognized that the behaviour of others was, at times, not reflective of Christ as they interpreted Him to be.

Acceptance of inconsistencies was adopted as a strategy for retaining their Christian identities, in particular, within the context of a developing homosexual identity. Doing so can be an important factor in the integration of conflicting identities but it is not factored into either the Cass or Troiden models. Neither theorist entertained the notion that the acceptance of inconsistencies in perception of core values and beliefs can be a component of homosexual identity self-acceptance.

The perception of *lack of choice* was the third strategy that I presented. The issue of choice is discussed by both Cass and Troiden, specifically as identity acceptance through claiming "personal innocence" (Cass, p. 228). Some of the men in this study referred to their belief that they were "born gay," implying lack of choice, as a conduit to identity acceptance. Significantly, for some men, such a belief was also formed in reference to being Christian, evident in some statements that being gay was a result of God's will. Both Cass and Troiden acknowledged that, for many homosexuals, perception of lack of choice underlies acceptance of their homosexual identity. The claim made by some of the participants that "God made me homosexual" does not appear to contradict the "personal innocence" strategy discussed by Cass, even though neither she nor Troiden explicitly discussed the former notion. For many of the men in this study, their belief that God made them gay -- in contrast with merely claiming innocence -- provided a strong foundation for accepting their gay identities.

As a fourth strategy of identity integration, I discussed the influence of other people. I use the term, "influence" to refer to individuals or groups who

encouraged gay and Christian identities, as well as those who discouraged such identities. Both Cass and Troiden pointed out that, generally, the quality of contacts with other homosexuals is a significant factor in decisions to either continue or discontinue homosexual identity acquisition. Their observation is an accurate one, but it does not capture the complexity of homosexual identity formation for some men whom also identify as Christian. For the men in this study, identity acquisition was complicated by their perception that some gay men objected to their Christianity, and that -- predictably -- some Christians objected to their being gay. These men have found affirmation for their gay identities through Christian-positive gay people and gay-positive Christian people. However, people who are only Christian-positive can only foster Christian identities. As these men also demonstrate, identity integration can also be fostered by feelings of defiance against those who disapprove.

The final strategy I discussed was *Self-affirmation*. In general, the development of a homosexual identity is continual and progressive, and, in part, necessitates self-affirmation. Both Cass and Troiden pointed out that people make a myriad of decisions, based on emotions, situations, and perceptions, to achieve a positive and perhaps even proud self-identity as gay. But achieving a Christian identity in combination with a gay one problematizes the models. In my view, Christianity is an important consideration in the acquisition of a homosexual identity for the men in this study because Christianity is as important to their self-definition as is being gay. For Thomas and Wayne, Christianity

constitutes a central way in which they describe themselves, in addition to their gay identities.

In assessing each model by examining the degree to which they reflect five types of strategies of gay and Christian identity integration, I am not suggesting that each of the Cass and Troiden models should address issues that are specific to Christianity. Instead, I am proposing a revision that would address the general issue of conflicting identities, relative to homosexual identity formation. In this study, I have focused on Christian identity as a case study. However, the concept of conflicting identities, in the context of homosexual identity formation, can be broadened to reflect the experiences of many other people who define themselves as gay. For example, some individuals perceive their gender identity as conflicting with their homosexual one. Some men, for example, feel that being gay compromises their masculinity and therefore undermines their status as "men." Other people experience conflict between a homosexual identity and an ethnic / racialized one (Cochran and Mays, 1998).¹⁷ In North America at least, some people perceive being gay or lesbian as an issue that concerns middle-class white individuals. Being gay or lesbian and a member of a visible minority can result in feeling compelled to choose between one identity or the other. The integration of homosexual and ethnic / racialized identities can often lead to feeling marginalized in homosexual communities because of being non-white and feeling marginalized in ethnic / racialized communities because of being homosexual.

The five strategies outlined above have a common characteristic apart from describing the processes of identity integration. Each strategy hinges on the meanings, developed through individual agency and social interaction, which some men attribute to their being gay in combination with being Christian. Gay people who also have a strong commitment to Christianity may actually be well-equipped to counter anti-gay arguments because they are motivated to adopt ideologies which support their identities. Many other gay individuals, however, become alienated from Christianity, religion, and spirituality because they are unable to make connections between Christianity and being gay in most Christian contexts. For still other people who live in societies dominated by Christian beliefs, acceptance of a gay identity may be slowed by living in a Christian context, whether or not they define themselves as Christian.

Towards Synthesis and Revision of Theoretical Models

I have discussed many aspects of the Cass and Troiden models, including the ways in which the data and analysis presented in this thesis bring their respective strengths and weaknesses into focus. But what is the point of proposing ideal typical models in the first place? What purpose do such models serve? In general, ideal types are used to compare and contrast empirical evidence against some benchmark of knowledge about a particular phenomenon. Ideal types are distinguished from stereotypes in the way that they

¹⁷ I use the term "racialized," as opposed to "race," to imply the socially-constructed nature of racialized categories.

are continually revised in light of current research (Troiden, p. 35). My aim here is to propose revisions, following Troiden's cue to do so.

Research underscores the impetus for the development of models of homosexual identity formation, but such work cannot be partitioned off from politics. Models such as those proposed by Cass and Troiden implicitly reflect societies where sexual orientation diversity is neither highly valued nor encouraged. Most people in North America, and elsewhere, grow up in a social context in which heterosexuality is continually affirmed through familial relationships, social and religious rituals, and popular culture. Social and legal rewards, such as having one's opposite-sex relationship recognized and sanctioned by others and by the state, encourage individuals to self-identify as heterosexual. In addition, the threat of censure from family, friends, co-workers, and teachers bolsters conformity to heterosexuality and heterosexual identity.

Gay and lesbian people do not have all of the social and legal privileges of heterosexuals. Self-identification as gay or lesbian requires a cognitive shift away from culturally-sanctioned and enforced heterosexuality towards sexual orientation identities that are transgressive. Achieving a stable homosexual identity requires particular efforts from individuals who experience homosexual fantasies, desires, and attractions. Cass and Troiden each attempt to explicate the process of such an achievement, somewhat analogous to the "best fit" line in statistical analysis.

¹⁸ Cass and Troiden tend to use the term "homosexual". I have done likewise, particularly when discussing aspects of their research. However, I use the term "gay and lesbian" to refer to contemporary Western social groups in contrast with "homosexual," a term which is more general, and usually refers to eroticism rather than to socio-cultural identity.

I have discussed what Cass and Troiden each consider to be the "best fit" model to describe the process of homosexual identity formation. I have also assessed the respective strengths and weaknesses of each model in light of narratives from eight gay men. Overall, neither model adequately reflects the identity development process of the participants as each one described them to me, specifically concerning the influence of conflicting identities. Had I asked questions in the interviews that focused only on being gay, perhaps the models would more closely resemble the lives of the men in this study. Clearly, doing so would have neglected to account for a significant portion of the homosexual identity formation processes of these men. To avoid such an oversight, I asked questions about their Christian identities so that I could learn about the ways in which their respective homosexual identities were confounded and, to my surprise, encouraged by subscribing to Christianity. I found that the "path" of homosexual identity development as described by the eight participants, in view of their Christianity, contrasts with the two models that I have examined. Both the Cass and Troiden models lack the theoretical sensitivity necessary to capture many of the important dimensions of homosexual identity formation of the participants in this study.

Although being gay might give rise to inner conflict in light of one's

Christianity, the converse is also true; one may feel conflict about one's

Christianity in light of being gay. I have used the term "continual reciprocity" to

describe the identity development processes of the men in this study. However, I

have attended more to Christianity as a confounding aspect of homosexual

identity development, rather than the other way around, because both the Cass and Troiden models concern homosexual identity development only. ¹⁹ I have attended to Christianity also because each of the participants were Christian before they were gay and therefore developed a gay identity against a backdrop of Christianity, rather than the other way around. The overall question I have asked is, "How do conflicting identities (specifically being Christian) confound and / or reflect the processes of homosexual identity development as described by Cass and Troiden"? Having assessed each model in light of the interview data, my aim here is to propose a synthesis and revision of the models to account for identities that tend to conflict with being gay. Although my focus has been on the influence of Christian identities upon one's gay identity, I have attempted to design a new model of gay identity formation which has wider implications beyond Christian identity.

In light of the interview data, I propose several changes to the Cass and Troiden models. First, I would place more qualifiers upon the "stages" metaphor in describing identity formation processes. In my view, the term "stage" implies linearity too strongly, and evokes the image of a path similar to that of ascending a staircase. Troiden's metaphor of the horizontal spiral aptly evokes flexibility and illustrates possibilities for moving throughout the process in an up-and-down and back-and-forth fashion. However, the potential for skipping stages or jumping back two or more stages is not adequately conveyed through the horizontal

¹⁹ Had I chosen to investigate the validity of models of religious identity development, my focus would have been on assessing the ways in which other identities conflict with religious identity, specifically concerning Christianity.

spiral metaphor. The provision of more qualifiers in order to account for the limitations of the "stages" metaphor may result in a model which accounts for gay identity formation patterns which indicate various fluctuations as well as those which are more-or-less linear.

An updated model should also reflect current phrases and terms concerning sexual orientation identity. Both Cass and Troiden rely on the term "homosexual" which sounds rather clinical. Most people use either "gay," "lesbian," and / or "queer." Also, phrases such as "committed homosexual," (discussed above) and "the gay subculture" are no longer appropriate to describe the social milieu in which the interviewees lived, if they ever were. The so-called "gay subculture" evokes the image of monolithic, singular, and somewhat hidden group of individuals linked by sexual orientation identities. Such a singular subculture likely never existed. Historians such as George Chauncey (1994) and Kennedy and Davis (1993) have examined the ways in which gay and lesbian individuals have been divided not only by sex and gender, but also by class status and racialized category. Current gay and lesbian communities do indeed reflect cultural expressions, but communities and cultures are pluralistic rather than singular. In addition, the most visible cultural expressions tend to reflect white, middle-class values and corporate capitalism.

Third, I would place limitations on the model so that sexual orientation identity formation patterns of lesbians, said to often contrast those of gay men, are not blurred. Future research would have to be conducted on an updated synthesized model in order to make the claim that the new model reflects identity

Patterns of both lesbians and gay men. Meanwhile, researchers such as Paula Rust (1992) provide further evidence that sexual orientation patterns of women tend to be distinct from those of men.

A fourth recommendation is that an updated model retain Cass' emphasis on the synthesis of public and private gay identities to represent full identity formation. Troiden argued that public disclosure is more reflective of identity management than identity development. I agree that public disclosure concerns identity management, but public disclosure also represents a dimension of identity other than self-identity. One's identities are enhanced by reflection from other people. Some of the men in this study discussed having made decisions to not disclose their gay identities in particular situations for particular reasons, such as church leadership (in the case of Charles) and respect for a closeted partner (in the case of Pete). Other gay and lesbian individuals are selectively closeted in situations where they feel emotionally and / or physically unsafe. In my view, such choices are certainly valid, but they nevertheless limit the potential for identity formation beyond self-identification.

Finally, I suggest that the Cass model should include discussion about childhood experiences as Troiden has done. The Cass model would then account for childhood experiences, perceptions, and feelings that many homosexuals subsequently frame as predicting later gay or lesbian identity. The men in this study discussed, at length, particular aspects of their childhoods that retrospectively formed a cognitive basis of their adult gay identities. I do not agree with Troiden that childhood experiences constitute a first stage of

homosexual identity development because such experiences are not usually framed within gay identities until later in life. The inclusion of childhood experiences would have to be understood not usually as the beginning stage of a gay self-identification, but rather as experiences which are later understood differently in light of a developing gay identity.

Many gay and lesbian people refer to their childhood gender non-conforming behaviour as early evidence of their later gay or lesbian identities. However, many gender non-conforming children do not grow up to become gay or lesbian adults. Furthermore, many gay and lesbian adults describe their childhoods as gender-conforming. The emphasis, then, should be not on the gender, but on the understandings of the gender. For example, some people might interpret their childhood gender non-conformity as simply non-conforming behaviour, or perhaps as pre-transgendered or pre-transsexual (Devor, 1997). The inclusion of discussion about retrospective association of childhood experiences with gay identity throughout the Cass model retains the original six stages.

In later research to develop a standardized model, Cass (1984a, p. 163) observed few statistically-meaningful distinctions between stages one (Confusion) and two (Comparison), and between stages five (Pride) and six (Synthesis) (Cass,). Collapsing these stages would result in a four-stage model which I use as the basis of a revised model.

In sum, the Cass and Troiden models are useful analytical tools from which to explicate and describe homosexual identity formation. Given my

assessment of each model using the data from each of the eight participants, I think of the models as skeletal frameworks which portray only part of the identity formation picture. The inclusion of Troiden's discussion about childhood experiences would complement the theoretical efficacy of the Cass model. In my view, theoretical models are useful tools in describing "best-fit" scenarios. However, the data from this study indicate that the experiences of many people fall outside of those scenarios.

Accounting for Conflicting Identities: A Revised Model

Identities such as gay and Christian are widely perceived to be mutually exclusive. However, the lives of some people, including the eight participants in this study, indicate that a gay identity can be compatible with other apparently non-complementary identities. These men demonstrate that being Christian does not necessarily rule out being gay. I recommend merging Cass' four statistically-meaningful stages with Troiden's discussion about childhood experiences to provide a framework for a revised model that attends to the issue of conflicting identities. I have done so because, as the identity patterns of the eight participants suggest, one's identities which one perceives to be incompatible with being gay tend to have a significant impact upon one's gay identity formation.

In discussions about the Cass and Troiden models, I expressed concern about possible implications of using the "stages" metaphor, such as the notion that identity formation is built from one necessary step to the next until completion is attained. Cass discussed the possibility that identity could be

discontinued at any point, but was less explicit about variations in patterns of gay identity development, such as skipping one or more stages or returning to earlier stages. She implied that all stages are requisite in the guest for full homosexual identity formation. She also implied that identity is permanent once the developmental process is complete. Identity categories such as "gay" arise for particular historical reasons, as Weeks (1989) and Foucault (1978) argued, and often become common ways of expressing certain concepts of identity. However, identity categories might not be as permanent as Cass implied. Some social analysts have expressed dismay about the identity "gay," that it is specific to white males and that it is imbued with capitalist interests. Such critics, many of whom prefer the term "queer" instead of "gay," have been called "post-gay" or "anti-gay" (Manning, 1996). Potentially, the term "gay" might itself become an historical discursive artifact. Meanwhile, "gay" remains in common usage, and those who identify as "gay," especially men, tend to perceive and express their gay identity as more-or-less permanent.

In contrast with Cass, Troiden presented a model which attended to possibilities for greater variation in identity formation patterns, but which did not fully account for the identity formation patterns of the eight participants.

Analyzing patterns of gay identity formation only, in isolation from the other ways in which people might also identify themselves, might suggest a more-or-less linear progression. However, this study indicates that the ways in which people identify themselves, in addition to being gay, can have significant effects upon the path towards full gay identity formation.

Cass spent years gathering data from dozens of participants in order to design her model of homosexual identity formation. I do not pretend to have equivalent resources. Nevertheless, the identity patterns of the eight participants in this study reveal some limitations of the Cass model, the most significant of which is that Cass does not address ways in which other identities have a potential impact upon gay identity acquisition. The data that I presented and analyzed in this study indicates that patterns of gay identity formation tend not to reflect a linear progression. A focus on identity integration reveals various shifts in the pattern of gay identity acquisition, including skipping ahead one or more stages and jumping back to previous stages.

In less detail than the models of Cass and Troiden, I describe below a revised model in four broad stages in accordance with Cass' revised (1984) model. The four stages are: confusion / comparison, tolerance, acceptance, and pride / synthesis. In my view, only Stage Four (pride / synthesis) is requisite in attaining full identity formation because it represents the fruition of identity formation through the blending of private and public identities. Throughout the description, I make references, where appropriate, to each of the five strategies of identity integration. The five strategies are specific to identities of gay and Christian and are not all meant to be applied to being gay in combination with other potentially conflicting identities. Those strategies which are least likely to be more widely applicable are *Biblical interpretation*, *A Christianity of Questions* and perhaps *Choice*.

Identity Confusion / Comparison

Stage One is characterized by confusion. Individuals who are confused about their sexual orientation identity typically ask the question, "Who am I?".

Doing so is sometimes prompted by their perception that behaviours or feelings during childhood (such as gender non-conformity or feelings of physical attraction to other boys) constitute early indications of being gay. Confusion may also arise if one subscribes to particular social mores which often accompany identities that tend to conflict with being gay, such as usual Christian moral values and / or heterosexual hegemony.

One's feelings and behaviour alone do not necessarily result in a gay identity. One must also associate one's feelings and behaviour with the possibility of being gay. Subscribing to negative views about gay men (such as negative stereotypes) can exacerbate confusion and / or compel one to truncate gay identity formation. On the other hand, neutral or positive perceptions of one's feelings and behaviour can facilitate gay identity self-acceptance.

Identities in addition to a (potential) gay identity may be stable but not permanent. To accommodate (the possibility of) a gay identity, one might choose to shift the meanings that one holds about current identities, perhaps by seeking resources for alternative information. An example of doing so is to use Integration Strategy 1: *Biblical Interpretation*. Abandoning current identities which are stable relative to a (potentially) emerging gay identity is usually not considered as an option during the confusion stage. Gay identities may not result even for people who are homosexually active; confusion may become chronic

and perpetual. One might perceive that being gay is counter to their current identities, such as men who also identify as straight, or as Christian, or as Jewish, or as Indo-Canadian, or as athletes. Some people might also find that same-sex attractions or sexual experiences are fleeting or rare, thus provoking gay identity confusion without necessarily leading to further consideration of a gay identity.

If one chooses to continue investigation of a gay identity, various decisions may be made to resolve cognitive dissonance about the possibility of being gay. Typically, people assess themselves through comparisons with other people. Feelings of difference may arise with being gay, sometimes in combination with retrospective associations of childhood feelings and behaviour. Feelings of difference may be perceived with pride ("I enjoy being different and there is nothing wrong with it.") or shame ("I don't like being different because other people don't accept me."). Not wanting to be different may lead to aborting or further delaying gay identity acquisition, evident in the pursuit of masculine activities thought to be indicative of straight men, and / or through the seeking of reparative therapy or religious "healing" to quash homosexual feelings. One may decide that same-sex attractions only represent a brief phase in one's life, in which case a gay identity is not usually explored beyond the confusion stage.

Confusion is felt by many, but not all, gay men prior to self-acceptance of a gay identity. Some men might not experience confusion about "who they are" depending on a variety of circumstances. For example, one might have access to gay-supportive social groups, reflecting Integration Strategy 4: *The Influence*

of Others. One's gay-positive attitudes, which are an example of Integration
Strategy 5: Self-Affirmation, might also facilitate self-acceptance of a gay identity.
Acceptance of a gay identity may be attained sooner than for those who feel confusion and who lack gay-positive resources. The confusion / comparison stage is the likely point at which most, but not all, gay men begin to self-actualize about the possibility of being gay.

Identity Tolerance

For those who have not foreclosed upon a gay identity and also for those who have not yet accepted a gay identity, the feeling that "I probably am gay" often arises. The qualifier, "probably," implies tentative consideration that one may be gay, perhaps as a bridge to acceptance, or perhaps as a temporary phase that does not yield to gay identity acceptance. For those who think that they "probably" are gay, associations with gay people may be sought, or existing associations may become more meaningful, both of which reflect Integration Strategy 4: The Influence of Others. If perceptions of those associations are negative, one may choose gay identity foreclosure. If perceptions are positive, gay identity acceptance may result. Conflicting identities may compel some people to seek similar individuals to foster retention of existing identities while attaining a gay identity. For such men, finding people who are "more like me" provides them with social support to integrate conflicting identities. Some examples which men might use are: finding men who are masculine ("real men"), who are similarly religious, who are Asian, or who are physically disabled.

Finding similar others with whom to associate potentially reduces alienation that might be felt about being gay, in combination with other significant but possibly conflicting identities. Alienation might also be reduced through associations with supportive yet dissimilar people.

The quality of contacts may influence one's perceptions of being gay, perhaps in combination with other identities. Gay identity foreclosure may result, either on a permanent or temporary basis, when one decides that one does not want to be gay, or that one does not like being gay. Lack of success in achieving integration of an emerging gay identity with other significant identities may lead to foreclosure of the more tenuous identity, likely the gay one. On the other hand, feeling that one had no choice in being gay (Integration Strategy 3: *Choice*) in combination with unsuccessful attempts to integrate identities which conflict with being gay may lead to foreclosure upon identities other than being gay.

Identity Acceptance

If gay identity foreclosure has not taken place, one may decide to move beyond tentative self-awareness ("I probably am gay") to definite self-awareness ("I am gay"). One may *believe* that public expression of one's sexual orientation identity is equally valid to that of straight people. Nevertheless, expression of one's gay identity may continue to be reserved for partners, friends, and allies. Such a scenario reflects Integration Strategy 2: *A Christianity of Questions*.

Acceptance of a gay identity, which corresponds to Integration Strategy 5: *Self-*

Affirmation, refers to self-acceptance and reflects only partial gay identity formation.

Gay identity acceptance is often characterized by compartmentalizing various identities within corresponding social contexts as a routine strategy of identity management. Compartmentalization is an example of Integration Strategy 2: A Christianity of Questions. "Passing" as heterosexual in public settings is a common way of limiting expressions of one's gay identity to people who are familiar and supportive. For some men, "passing" as heterosexual may not attend to the management of their other significant identities. Gay Christian men, for example, may feel the need to manage their identities by expressing both their gay and Christian identities in the context of other gay Christians. Alternatively, they might choose to express their gay identity while suppressing their Christian identity among other non-Christian gay people. Yet another choice might be to express their Christian identity while suppressing their gay identity among other non-gay Christian people.

The acceptance of one's gay identity indicates the formation of a self-identity. Throughout the process of gay identity acquisition, a gay self-identity is continually re-evaluated in light of various factors. Among those factors are associations with others, which corresponds to Integration Strategy 4: *The Influence of Others*.

The recognition that, "I am gay," typically leads to further associations with gay people. Negative associations can lead to renewed confusion / comparisons or even to gay identity foreclosure. Positive associations can enhance

acceptance with feelings of pride about being gay. Gay identity acceptance might also lead to foreclosure of identities which one perceives to be in conflict with being gay. On the other hand, integration of conflicting identities might be facilitated through using Integration Strategy 4: *The Influence of Others*, perhaps by finding support from other people. For example, gay men who are sexually attracted to women might seek support from people who would encourage them to maintain a gay identity while also exploring a bisexual identity.

Compartmentalization may become a relatively permanent gay identity management strategy, thus quashing continued gay identity development. Some gay men find compartmentalization, reflecting Integration Strategy 2: *A*Christianity of Questions, to be a useful strategy for a time. However, they eventually might choose to express their gay identity in public settings. One's perceptions about one's other identities may compel one to make choices such as accepting a gay identity as compatible with other ways of self-definition or rejecting of a gay identity if one continues to view one's other identities as being incompatible with being gay.

Identity Pride / Synthesis

Pride about being gay often arises from or in combination with gay identity acceptance. Pride is characterized by an "us and them" attitude, typically perceived as "gay versus straight" in the political battle for gay recognition. "Us and them" may be difficult to delineate for those who have managed to integrate formerly conflicting identities. Among gay Christians, for example, "us" may refer

only to other gay Christians. Attitudes and expressions of only gay pride may not attend to their other significant identities. Feelings of pride, where "us" refers to gay Christians, might therefore imply identity integration in statements such as, "I am a gay Christian. All of my friends are gay Christians. People who aren't both gay and Christian don't understand me and can't support me."

The notion that all gay people constitute allies might eventually be perceived as erroneous. Likewise, one might become disillusioned if one believes that all gay Christian people constitute allies. Depending on many circumstantial factors, one could choose to discontinue one's gay identity. One could also experience renewed confusion / comparison in the wake of reevaluation. On the other hand, one could, over time, recognize that an "us and them" attitude represents a false dichotomy. Support for various identities, including gay identities, may be found through people who are not gay and who do not subscribe to similar identities such as by using Integration Strategy 4: *The Influence of Others*.

Among those whose patterns of identity formation reflect pride, "us and them" notions appear to arise relative to the degree to which one perceives one's identities to be tenuous, especially if little or no social support is found. As Igor Kon put it, people identify most strongly in the areas of their lives where they feel most threatened (personal communication with Holly Devor). Many people might find that being gay no longer carries the weight of social stigma that it once did. For people who have integrated one or more conflicting identities with a gay identity, securing social support is probably more elusive than is the case for

securing social support for a gay identity only. Pride, then, might reflect the blending of various identities, one of which is being gay.

One might not perceive sharp divisions between "us and them" as being indicative of pride if social support for being gay, perhaps in combination with other significant identities, is attained. Identity acceptance may then reflect the last stage of the gay identity formation process. On the other hand, circumstances and perceptions might compel one to decide to discontinue a gay identity, or might give rise, once again, to confusion / comparison. For those who retain self-acceptance of their gay identities, one might begin to disclose one's gay identity in public settings. Those who retain self-acceptance of their gay identities in combination with other (previously conflicting) identities might feel compelled to come out as doubly-identified, such as being a gay Christian. Synthesis of private and public identities occurs when this happens. Seeing one's identities acknowledged and reflected by others (the "looking-glass self") is the culmination of the identity formation process. Even at this point in the process, one may choose to either continue identifying as gay or abandon doing so.

I constructed this four-stage model from three central components: a blend of the Cass and Troiden models, a revision of the blend to resolve weaknesses in each model, and a focus on the issue of conflicting identities.

Where possible, I included references to the five strategies of identity integration, the first two of which (*Biblical Interpretation* and *A Christianity of Questions*) are specific to being simultaneously gay and Christian. The revised model is based

on the notion that individuals make decisions, within social contexts, to selfactualize their identities.

This model has broader application other than the issues raised in this thesis concerning being both gay and Christian. Although I have focused a combination of identities which tend to be discouraged within Western socio-cultural contexts, the central concept of conflicting identities more generally reflects a commonality among a much broader range of people. Most people have experienced cognitive dissonance concerning their identities at one time in their lives or another. The model suggests that people will make decisions aimed at achieving consonance. Those decisions might eventually result in identity integration rather than foreclosure of one or more meaningful identities.

Implications for Future Research

This research is exploratory, not conclusive. I have drawn tentative observations from which I have proposed recommendations for change to theoretical frameworks. The data were gathered from eight interviews. Three of the participants were found through advertisements that I had placed in bulletins of gay-affirmative churches; the other participants were gathered through word-of-mouth. The inclusion of more participants, or a different group of participants altogether, might have resulted in making other observations. Furthermore, if other researchers were to analyze the data, they might find patterns and themes other than those that I have described. I have not pretended to be an "objective" observer of social life in the process of doing this research; instead, I have been

explicit in my aim to promote social justice. I have also disclosed my own relevant identities -- gay and ex-Christian -- throughout the process of finding interview participants. I would not hesitate to do so again, even though one individual refused to participate strictly on the basis of my being an ex-Christian.

Another reason that I describe this research as tentative and exploratory is because the participants come from middle-class backgrounds, and also because I attributed each of their racialized categories as being white. Although I asked each participant about his ethnic background and class status, there was no further discussion about the effects of such issues on their gay and Christian identities. Descriptions such as "middle-class" and "white" are "unmarked" in the sense that the interviews bore little discussion about class status and racialized category. These men are denied social and legal privileges which are accorded to heterosexuals. However their white and middle-class status accords them more social support for their gay identities than tends to be the case for gay men of colour or of lower income levels. White gay men, for example, likely do not experience identity conflict between their racialized category and their sexual orientation identity, unlike many gay men of colour. For white gay men, perhaps the availability of a wider range of avenues for social support for their gay identities includes venues for religious expression and participation. In this study, the lack of participants from both visible-minority and low-income groups necessitates discussion that leads to tentative suppositions rather than to firm conclusions. Moreover, my aim in this thesis is not to make generalized or

concluding observations from data which are specific to the experiences of a very small group of white middle-class men.

In contrast with so-called "hard science" models of social research, this study was designed more to inspire questions rather than to provide answers. Lack of participants from both visible minority and low-income groups represents a significant limitation of this study, but does lead to many questions, such as: How does visible-minority status intersect with the identity integration processes of being gay and Christian? What are the identity experiences of individuals who are doubly-marginalized (by homosexual identity and visible minority status identity, for example)? What tentative conclusions would I have reached, and what recommendations would I have made, had African-Canadians, First-Nations Canadians, and Chinese-Canadians (to name some examples) who also identify as gay and Christian been included in this study?²⁰ Future research on integration of conflicting identities which reflects ethnic / racialized diversity among participants would augment present understandings of "How?" and "Why?".

Another issue for consideration in future research is age. A diverse agerange is represented in this study, from age twenty-nine to sixty. But the inclusion of gay youths would enhance understandings of identity formation processes, specifically because many young homosexuals reject descriptions as

²⁰ I made various attempts to achieve a sample of men whom would have reflected a wider ethnic / racialized diversity as well as a wider age-range. On one hand, the lack of such diversity could reflect a problem with my search strategies. On the other hand, it could also signify the limited appeal of evangelical Christianity beyond white middle-class urban populations.

"gay" based, in part, on the perception that such identities are indicative of older generations.

Finally, future research should thoroughly consider the issue of gender identity, specifically concerning transgendered individuals and women. I have mentioned that, according to some theorists, the Cass and Troiden models tend to be more appropriate to describe the processes of identity acquisition of gay men rather than those of lesbians. Such a view is contrary to that of Cass and Troiden, both of whom claim that their respective models are valid for both men and women.

Identity Formation, Political Potential, and Social Change

In this study, I have investigated the ways in which men integrate conflicting identities, specifically concerning being gay and Christian. After analyzing the transcripts from eight interviews, I came to understand that evangelical Christian and gay identities need not be compartmentalized in the lives of such men. Compartmentalization is more a strategy of identity management (making choices about how and when to express one's gay, Christian, or gay and Christian identity) than of identity formation (the cognitive and social process of acquiring and accepting a particular identity). Rather than choosing to express their gay identities only in gay social contexts, and their Christian identity only in Christian contexts, the men in this study generally found ways to express both aspects of their overall identities in most given contexts. Furthermore, I do not see their current identities as resulting from simply "fitting"

their gay identity into an already-existing Christian one. Developing a gay identity affected Christian identities, and vice-versa, in a dynamic way. I learned that each identity formed, in part, through the eventual influence of the other identity, in a process that I have called continual reciprocity.

As I described in the introduction, a central motivation for doing this research was to assess the political potential of men who describe themselves simultaneously as gay and Christian to erode the anti-gay agendas of right-wing Christian individuals and groups. Biblical literalists, many of whom are supporters of Christian right-wing ideologies, tend not to believe that Christianity and homosexuality are compatible because they subscribe to the notion that homosexuality is an abomination to God. They claim that the Bible tells them so. Members of right-wing Christian organizations are particularly well-organized and influential in their attempts to perpetuate such claims in order to deny civil rights to homosexuals and to perpetuate negative stereotypes of gays and lesbians. The more vitriolic members of right-wing Christian groups overtly encourage hate against gays and lesbians.²¹ In spite of such barriers, many gays and lesbians are claiming their right to subscribe to and practice Christianity. Paradoxically, some Christians and some homosexuals have expressed opposition, albeit for different reasons, to the adoption of Christianity by gays and lesbians.

David, Scott, Lloyd, Bob, Thomas, Pete, Wayne, and Charles have all adopted such identities. Being both gay and Christian is significant in their overall self-definitions. In general, they each challenge the view that they, and other

people who similarly self-identify, must choose between being either gay or Christian. They challenge negative stereotypes about gay men perpetuated by many Christians, such as the notions that gay men are concerned primarily with sexual activity rather than with committed relationships, and that spiritual or religious matters are not important to gay men. They also challenge negative stereotypes about Christians that are expressed by some gays and lesbians, such as the notion that all Christians are prejudiced against gays and lesbians. The challenge that these men pose tends to be more a product of being generally "out" as both gay and Christian among the people they encounter in their day-to-day lives, rather than as a result of overt political activism.

The degree to which political activism extended beyond "outness" varied among the participants.²² Some of the men took their political activism a step beyond being out as both Christian and gay. Organization of, and participation in, events such as gay and lesbian pride parades and rallies for social justice facilitates gay and lesbian social visibility. Such activism also opposes attempts to deny to gays and lesbians civil rights that heterosexuals enjoy. In addition to participating in pride parades under a Christian banner, Lloyd and Bob are lay ministers to a variety of other Christians, most of whom are non-gay; they said that they do not hide in any Christian context the fact that they have been spouses to each other for over thirty years. They also encourage non-Christian

Pred Phelps, a Christian minister from Kansas, is among the more notorious examples. Among other acts of hate against homosexuals, he is responsible for the website godhatesfags.com.
 Charles and Pete choose to remain selectively "closeted" about their homosexuality for particular circumstantial reasons. While I respect their right to do so, it is my view that social invisibility, particularly about being gay, does not challenge anti-gay beliefs and attitudes among some Christians, nor does it encourage social justice for gays and lesbians.

gay people to consider other ways of perceiving Christianity aside from expressions that highlight anti-gay attitudes and political activism. Lloyd and Bob attend a church that specifically appeals to gays and lesbians. Within that setting, much of their Christian evangelism manifests as helping other gays and lesbians to claim Christianity as a religious identity. In addition, Lloyd and Bob often participate in Christian lay ministry outside of their home church as a kind of "extra-curricular" Christian evangelism.

Lloyd and Bob, among others, face large challenges, particularly from some non-gay Christians. One of the more powerful components of right-wing Christian activism is the way in which supporters have seized upon particular interpretations of Biblical scripture to further their political agenda to deny social justice to gays and lesbians. The political goal of right-wing Christian ideologies to protect the so-called "traditional" family has garnered right-wing Christian organizations, and some individuals, a highly visible and influential place within the realm of social activism in North America (Herman, 1997); other Christian perspectives are somewhat eclipsed by comparison. Individuals who subscribe to right-wing Christian perspectives steadfastly believe that they hold the truth to Biblical interpretation and Christian moral values. Dissenting Christians are deemed by them as wayward in their commitment to Christianity. Bawer (1997) refers to the hegemony of such politically-motivated beliefs as "stealing Jesus." In my view, claiming Christian beliefs and expressing a Christian identity in combination with a gay one, as the men in this study have generally done, helps to erode the political efficacy of anti-gay right-wing Christian agendas.

Political challenge to right-wing Christian anti-gay agendas is augmented by gay visibility in non-gay Christian settings. Thomas and Scott, for example, "steal Jesus back" -- to extend Bawer's metaphor -- by being members of otherwise heterosexual congregations. Gay and lesbian Christians who publicly oppose right-wing Christian anti-gay agendas, such as some of the men in this study, benefit all gays and lesbians by encouraging rights for gays and lesbians equal to those of heterosexuals. The implicit political message of individuals who claim and express both gay and Christian identities is that gays and lesbians should have access, equal to that of heterosexuals, to Christian beliefs, rites, and institutions. Christianity, then, can no longer be considered to be an exclusively heterosexual domain even though some Christians continue to express discriminatory attitudes and sometimes overt hatred towards gays and lesbians. Gay and lesbian Christians also benefit most other Christians by challenging anti-gay activism of right-wing Christian groups and by confronting stereotypes about Christians that are perpetuated by some non-Christian gays and lesbians.

The impetus of this research was to encourage and support such political work. Some of the men in this study have taken on social and political activism to challenge right-wing Christian groups and individuals more than have others. I applaud the efforts that each has made to promote social justice and to erode negative stereotypes of Christians and of gay men. Apart from investigating the political potential in being both gay and Christian, I have learned from all of them that the answers to "How?" and (to some degree) "Why?" -- the two questions

that guided each interview -- are not theoretically complex when one considers that each participant expresses his identities in such a way as to imply that his identities are, in fact, not questionable.

Bibliography

- Anderson-Barnes, Christine. (1991). Effects of a Christian Treatment Program for Changing Ego-Dystonic Homosexual Orientation. Unpublished Ph.D. Dissertation. Biola University, California.
- Bawer, Bruce. (1997). <u>Stealing Jesus: How Fundamentalism Betrays</u> Christianity. New York: Crown.
- Becker, Howard. (1963). <u>Outsiders: Studies in the Sociology of Deviance</u>. Glencoe, Illinois: Free Press.
- Bem, Daryl J. (1996). "Exotic Becomes Erotic: A Developmental Theory of Sexual Orientation". <u>Psychological Review</u>, 103: 320-335.
- Berg, Bruce L. (1995). Qualitative Research Methods for the Social Sciences, 2nd ed. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Bieber, I. (1976). "A discussion of 'Homosexuality: The ethical challenge'".

 Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 44: 163-166.
- Bouldrey, Brian. (ed.) (1995). Wrestling With the Angel: Faith and Religion in the Lives of Gay Men. New York: Riverhead.
- Brown, Laura S. (1995). "Lesbian Identities: Concepts and Issues". In Anthony R. D'Augelli and Charlotte J. Patterson (eds.), <u>Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Identities Over the Lifespan: Psychological Perspectives</u>. (p. 3-22). Oxford: Oxford University.
- Burr, Chandler. (1996). A Separate Creation: The Search for the Biological Origins of Sexual Orientation. New York: Hyperion.
- Byne, William. (1995). "Science and Belief: Psychobiological Research on Sexual Orientation". In John P. De Cecco and David Allen Parker (eds.), Sex. Cells, and Same-Sex Desire: The Biology of Sexual Preference. (p. 303-344). New York: Haworth.
- Cass, Vivienne C. (1979). "Homosexual Identity Formation: A Theoretical Model". <u>Journal of Homosexuality</u>, 4: 219-235.
- Cass, Vivienne C. (1984a). "Homosexual Identity Formation: Testing a Theoretical Model". <u>Journal of Sex Research</u>, 20: 143-167.
- Cass, Vivienne C. (1984b). "Homosexual Identity: A Concept in Need of Definition". <u>Journal of Homosexuality</u>, 9: 105-126.

- Chauncey, George. (1994). <u>Gay New York: Gender, Urban Culture, and the Making of the Gay Male World, 1890 1940</u>. New York: Basic Books.
- Cochran, Susan D., and Mays, Vickie M. (1998). "Sociocultural Facets of the Black Gay Male Experience" In Michael S. Kimmel Michael A. Messner (eds.), Men's Lives, Fourth Edition. (p. 487-494). Needham Heights, Massachusetts: Allyn and Bacon.
- Comstock, Gary David. (1993). <u>Gay Theology Without Apology</u>. Cleveland: Pilgrim Press.
- Cooley, Charles Horton. (1964). <u>Human Nature and the Social Order</u>. New York: Schocken.
- Creswell, John W. (1994). Research Design: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.
- Cuthbertson, Kenneth L. (1996). "Coming Out/Conversion: An Exploration of Gay Religious Experience". <u>The Journal of Men's Studies</u>, 4: 193-207.
- Davison, Gerald C. (1991). "Constructionism and Morality in Therapy for Homosexuality". In John C. Gonsiorek and James D. Weinrich (eds.), Homosexuality: Research Implications for Public Policy. (p. 137-148). Newbury Park, California: Sage.
- Devor, Holly. (1993). "Sexual Orientation Identities, Attractions, and Practices of Female-to-Male Transsexuals". Journal of Sex Research, 30: 303-315.
- Devor, Holly. (1997). <u>FTM: Female-To-Male Transsexuals in Society</u>. Bloomington: Indiana University.
- Ebaugh, Helen Rose Fuchs. (1988). <u>Becoming an Ex: The Process of Role Exit</u>. Chicago: University of Chicago.
- Eliason, Michele, J. (1996). "Identity Formation for Lesbian, Bisexual, and Gay Persons: Beyond a 'Minoritizing' View". <u>Journal of Homosexuality</u>, 3: 31-58.
- Festinger, Leon. (1957). <u>A Theory of Cognitive Dissonance</u>. Evanston, Illinois: Row, Peterson, and Co.
- Foucault, Michel. (1978). <u>The History of Sexuality: An Introduction, Volume 1.</u>
 New York: Vintage.

- Gagnon, John H., and Simon, William. (1973). <u>Sexual Conduct: The Social Sources of Human Sexuality</u>. Chicago: Aldine.
- Gecas, Viktor. (1982). "The Self-Concept". Annual Review of Sociology, 8: 1-33.
- Goffman, Erving. (1963). <u>Stigma: Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity</u>. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- Gonsiorek, John C. (1995). "Gay Male Identities: Concepts and Issues". In Anthony R. D'Augelli and Charlotte J. Patterson (eds.), <u>Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Identities Over the Lifespan: Psychological Perspectives</u>. (p. 24-47). Oxford: Oxford University.
- Goss, Robert. (1993). <u>Jesus Acted Up: A Gay and Lesbian Manifesto.</u> San Francisco: Harper.
- Green, Richard. (1974). <u>Sexual Identity Conflict in Children and Adults</u>. New York: Basic Books.
- Green, Richard. (1987). <u>The "Sissy Boy Syndrome" and the Development of Homosexuality</u>. Yale: New Haven.
- Gudorf, Christine E. (1994). <u>Body, Sex, and Pleasure: Reconstructing Christian Sexual Ethics</u>. Cleveland: Pilgrim Press.
- Haldeman, Douglas C. (1991). "Sexual Orientation Conversion Therapy for Gay Men and Lesbians: A Scientific Examination". In John C. Gonsiorek and James D. Weinrich (eds.), Homosexuality: Research Implications for Public Policy. (p. 149-160). Newbury Park, California: Sage.
- Harding, Sandra. (1987). <u>Feminism and Methodology: Social Science Issues</u>. Blooomington, Indiana: Indiana University Press.
- Herman, Didi. (1997). <u>The Antigay Agenda: Orthodox Vision and the Christian Right</u>. University of Chicago: Chicago.
- Humphries, Laud. (1970). <u>Tearoom Trade</u>. Chicago: Aldine.
- Humphries, Laud. (1972). <u>Out of the Closets: The Sociology of Homosexual Liberation</u>. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
- Kennedy, Elizabeth Lapovsky and Davis, Madeline D. (1993). <u>Boots of Leather</u>, <u>Slippers of Gold: The History of a Lesbian Community</u>. New York: Rutledge.

- Kinsey, Alfred C., Pomeroy, Wardell B., and Martin, Clyde E. (1948). <u>Sexual Behaviour in the Human Male</u>. Philadelphia: W. B. Saunders.
- Kirby, Sandra, and McKenna, Kate. (1989). <u>Experience, Research, Social Change: Methods From the Margins</u>. Toronto: Garamond.
- Kitzinger, Celia. (1987). The Social Construction of Lesbianism. London: Sage.
- Klein, Fritz, Sepekoff, Barry, and Wolf, Timothy J. (1985). "Sexual Orientation: A Multi-Variable Dynamic Process" In Klein, Fritz and Timothy J. Wolf (eds.), Two Lives to Lead: Bisexuality in Men and Women. (p. 35-49). New York: Harrington Park.
- LeVay, Simon. (1996). Queer Science: The Use and Abuse of Research into Homosexuality. Cambridge: MIT.
- Lofland, John, and Lofland, Lyn H. (1995). <u>Analyzing Social Settings: A Guide to Qualitative Observation and Analysis</u>, 3rd edition. Belmont, California: Wadsworth.
- Mahaffy, Kimberly A. (1996). "Cognitive Dissonance and Its Resolution: A Study of Lesbian Christians". <u>Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion</u>, 35: 392-402.
- Manning, Toby. (1996). "Gay Culture: Who Needs It?". In Mark Simpson (ed.), Anti-Gay. (p. 98-117). London: Freedom Editions.
- Mayerson, P and Lief, H. I.. (1965). "Psychotherapy of homosexuals". In J. Marmor (ed.), <u>Sexual Inversion</u>. (p. 302-344). New York: Basic.
- McCall Tigert, Leanne. (1996). Coming Out While Staying In: Struggles and Celebrations of Lesbians, Gays, and Bisexuals in the Church. Cleveland: United Church Press.
- McGuire, R. J., J. M. Carlisle, and B. G. Young. (1965). "Sexual Deviations as Conditioned Behaviour: A Hypothesis". <u>Behaviour Research and Therapy</u>, 2: 185-190.
- Mead, George Herbert. (1934). Mind, Self and Society: From the Standpoint of a Social Behaviourist. Chicago: University of Chicago.
- Moberly, Elizabeth R. (1983). Psychogenesis. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Money, John and Russo, Anthony J. (1979). "Homosexual Outcome of Discordant Gender Identity / Role in Childhood: Longitudinal Follow-Up". <u>Journal of Pediatric Psychology</u>, 4: 29-41.

- Payne, Leanne. (1981). The Broken Image. Westchester, Illinois: Crossway.
- Plummer, Kenneth. (1975). <u>Sexual Stigma: An Interactionist Account</u>. London: Routledge.
- Ponse, Barbara. (1978). <u>Identities in the Lesbian World: The Social Construction</u> of Self. London: Greenwood.
- Red Earth, Michael. (1997). "Traditional Influences on a Contemporary Gay-Identified Sisseton Dakota". In Sue-Ellen Jacobs, Wesley Thomas, and Sabine Lang (eds.), <u>Two Spirit People: Native American Gender Identity</u>, <u>Sexuality</u>, and <u>Spirituality</u>. (p. 210-216). Chicago: University of Chicago.
- Reinharz, Shulamit. (1992). <u>Feminist Methods in Social Research</u>. New York: Oxford University.
- Rich, Adrienne. (1993). "Compulsory Heterosexuality and Lesbian Existence". In Laurel Richardson and Verta Taylor (eds.), <u>Feminist Frontiers III</u>. (p. 158-179). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Rudestam, Kjell Erik, and Newton, Rae R. (1992). <u>Surviving Your Dissertation: A Comprehensive Guide to Content and Process.</u> Newbury Park, California: Sage.
- Rust, Paula C. (1992). "The Politics of Sexual Identity: Sexual Attraction and Behaviour Among Lesbian and Bisexual Women". <u>Social Problems</u>, 39: 366-386.
- Shallenberger, David. (1998). Reclaiming the Spirit: Gay Men and Lesbians Come to Terms with Religion. New Brunswick, New Jersey: Rutgers University Press.
- Shelby Spong, John. (1998). Why Christianity Must Change or Die: A Bishop Speaks to Believers in Exile. San Francisco: Harper Collins.
- Shively, Michael G., and De Cecco, John P. (1977). "Components of Sexual Identity". <u>Journal of Homosexuality</u>, 3: 41-48.
- Silverstein, Charles. (1991). "Psychological and Medical Treatments of Homosexuality". In John C. Gonsiorek and James D. Weinrich (eds.), Homosexuality: Research Implications for Public Policy. (p. 101-114). Newbury Park, California: Sage.

- Stuart, Elizabeth. (1997). Religion is a Queer Thing: A Guide to the Christian Faith for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgendered People. Cleveland: Pilgrim Press.
- Suchman, Mark C. (1992). "Analyzing the Determinants of Everyday Conversion". Sociological Analysis, 53 Supplement: S15-S33.
- Swaab, D. F., Gooren, L. J. G., and Hofman, M. A. (1995). "Brain Research, Gender, and Sexual Orientation". In John P. De Cecco and David Allen Parker (eds.), <u>Sex. Cells.</u> and <u>Same-Sex Desire: The Biology of Sexual Preference</u>. (p. 283-301). New York: Haworth.
- Sweasey, Peter. (1997). From Queer to Eternity: Spirituality in the Lives of Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual People. London: Cassell.
- Thumma, Scott. (1991). "Negotiating a Religious Identity: The Case of the Gay Evangelical". Sociological Analysis, 52: 333-347.
- Troiden, Richard R. (1988). <u>Gay and Lesbian identity: A Sociological Analysis</u>. Dix Hills, New York: General Hall.
- Turner, John C. (1982). "Towards a Cognitive Redefinition of the Social Group". In Henri Taifel (ed.), <u>Social Identity and Intergroup Relations</u>. (p. 15-40). Cambridge: Cambridge University.
- Ullman, Chana. (1989). <u>The Transformed Self: The Psychology of Religious Conversion</u>. New York: Plenum Press.
- Van Den Aardweg, G. J. M. (1985). <u>Homosexuality and Hope</u>. Anne Arbor: Servant.
- Wagner, Glenn, Serafini, James, Rabkin, Judith, Remien, Robert, and Janet Williams. (1994). "Integration of One's Religion and Homosexuality: A Weapon Against Internalized Homophobia?" <u>Journal of Homosexuality</u>, 26(4): 91-110.
- Wasserman, Eidell B., and Storms, Michael D. (1984). "Factors Influencing Erotic Orientation Development in Females and Males". <u>Women & Therapy</u>, 3: 51-60.
- Weeks, Jeffrey. (1989). Sex, Politics and Society: The Regulation of Sexuality Since 1800. London: Longman.

Appendix One

Notice for publication in church bulletins (or for inclusion among church announcements):

If you are a gay man who also identifies as Christian, I would be very interested in talking with you about participating in a research project at the University of Victoria (travel is not required: I will come to you). All inquiries and participation are entirely confidential.

Please contact me, Gerald Walton (graduate student and researcher for the project),

at home: Tel: 250.381.7403

or by email: geraldw@uvic.ca

I will promptly return your call or email.

The above concerns the research of Gerald Walton, B.A., (Hons.) who is conducting research for his Master's Thesis in Sociology at the University of Victoria.

Appendix Two

Request for Participation in a Research Project

Hello, my name is Gerald Walton, and I am a graduate student in the department of sociology at the University of Victoria. I will be conducting research with men who identify as gay and as Christian, particularly of an evangelical nature. I am interested in exploring the ways in which gay Christian men have reconciled these two identities which, on a surface level, appear to be in conflict with each other. As a gay person, I feel that this research might contribute to a better understanding of gay people among Christians, and of Christianity among gay people. At present in British Columbia and elsewhere, it appears as though gay people and Christians are in continual battle against each other. Some legal protection has been afforded to gay and lesbian individuals, but not without rigorous opposition from some Christian groups. Rather than focus on individuals who would place themselves on either side of the debate, I am interested in individuals who appear to be on both sides simultaneously.

There are a few criteria that are necessary for participation in the research. I am seeking men who have identified as gay for five or more years, who have subscribed to evangelical expressions of Christianity for an equal or greater period of time, who are generally comfortable identifying as both gay and as Christian, and who consider both identities to be of central importance to their overall self-concept. If you are willing, I would like to set up a time that we can meet to conduct an interview. Your participation will be entirely confidential.

Here's how I can be reached:

by telephone: 381-7305

or by email: geraldw@uvic.ca

If you are not interested or are unable to participate in this research, please pass this leaflet on to any gay Christian men that you know who might want to tell me their story.

Thanks for reading this!

(The above information can be verified by calling the Sociology department of the University of Victoria).

Appendix Three

Consent Form

Tentative Title of Project:

"An Abomination to God": Gay Men, Christianity, and Models of Homosexual Identity Formation.

Researcher:

Gerald Walton, B.A. (Honours), Graduate student in Sociology, University of Victoria.

Tel: (250) 381-7305. Email: geraldw@uvic.ca

Description of Project:

The objective of this project is to investigate the ways in which men who identify as both gay and as Christian have resolved such apparently contradictory identities. The North American social and political context is one in which equality for gay and lesbian people with heterosexuals continues to be a strong motivation for political activism. At the same time, some Christian organizations are well known for their organized resistance to such equality. In particular, I am referring to evangelical expressions of Christianity which emphasizes Biblical literalism and salvation through the atoning death of Jesus Christ. From such a perspective, homosexuality is purported to be incompatible with Christianity. The on-going political battles to secure equal rights for homosexuals with heterosexuals frequently faces a religiously-based hostility organized to impede the goals of gay and lesbian activists. Within such a socio-political context, it is curious indeed why some gay men would embrace Christianity, and why some Christian men would identify as gay.

An important distinction for the purposes of my research involves that of behaviour and identity. Homosexual behavioural patterns (thoughts, fantasies, and practices) do not necessarily result in a homosexual identity. I am interested in men who identify as gay, who generally feel comfortable about being "out" as gay to heterosexual and other gay people, and who are also comfortable about being gay and Christian. I will explore the experiences of such men which led to their current identities as gay and Christian, both of which they consider to be of fundamental importance in their lives. I will interview up to ten such individuals, and will conduct a narrative analysis concerning the ways in which gay Christians have reconciled such apparently contradictory identities.

Risks and Benefits of Participation:

I do not anticipate any known risks about this research, except concerning the potential for emotional responses arising from discussions about past events. In such an event, I will provide the phone number for The Centre, which is an advocacy and counselling centre for gay, lesbian, bisexual, and transgendered individuals in Vancouver. I can also provide numbers for local crisis line telephone services, if requested, and resources for gay-positive and Christian-specific emotional support.

Benefits may include personal satisfaction from participating in research which supports the rights of members of sexual minorities to subscribe to Christian beliefs and practices, and which promotes education within Christian churches about homosexuality.

Rights of Participants:

It is the hope of the researcher that satisfaction will result from participation in research which is aimed at furthering knowledge about identity formation, and at contributing to social equality for gay and lesbian people with heterosexual people. Participation in this research project is entirely voluntary and participants may withdraw from the project at any time for any reason. Participants may also choose to not answer any particular question for any reason. All interviews will be tape-recorded and transcribed by the researcher. After transcription, tapes will be erased. Any identifying information will be deleted from the transcripts. Participants may request to read their transcripts, access to which will be possible only through a code name. The name key will be stored in a locked cabinet in my home to which only the researcher will have access. (If so, you would need to provide me with your code name by contacting me through my email address or my phone number, and I would send you the requested material through email or by post.)

I ________ have read and understood the above statements about the research project. I agree to participate in this research under the terms set by this statement. Signature Date

Appendix Four

Interview Schedule

Begin interview by clarifying information determined in advance of interview:

You have expressed interest in participating in my research project by responding to my (advertisement? announcement? personal request?) in which I stated that I was looking for men who identify themselves as gay and as Christian, both for at least the previous five years. I would like to proceed with an interview because you have stated that both of those identities are key aspects to your overall self-identity. Before we begin with the actual interview, there are some other things that I would like you to know. First of all, this interview is entirely confidential. The only record I will have of your name will be on the Consent Form, which I'll describe in a moment. During the interview, you can choose to opt out of any question for any reason. In this event, we will skip to the next question. Also, you can end the interview at any time if you are feeling uncomfortable about it. I also need to let you know that this interview may contain some sensitive questions which, for some people, may cause unanticipated emotional distress. Although I cannot offer counseling per se, I can offer an empathic and non-judgmental environment in which you can tell your story. If you need further emotional support, The (gay and lesbian) Centre is a good avenue to explore. Crisis Lines are also a supportive environment in which you can anonymously talk about what you are experiencing. Please ask me any questions about this project that you may have. I would now like to present you with a Consent Form, which I need for the University before we can begin the interview. The Consent Form gives a brief description of the project, costs and benefits of participation, and a statement about the rights of participants. Included in these rights is the opportunity, at your request, to read the transcript of this interview. To do so, I will need a codename with which you can access your transcript. I will identify your transcript with only the codename that you provide to ensure your confidentiality. The Consent Form will be stored in a locked cabinet, and will not leave my possession. If you are willing to provide me with your signature indicating that you have read and understood the Consent Form, and with your codename, then we can begin the interview.

My aim here is to explore the paths you have taken to achieve your current gay Christian identity. Although homosexuality and Christianity are the two areas that I am interested in the most, I do not want to ignore other significant ways that you identify yourself which might bear influence upon your identity as a gay Christian. It is my hope that this interview is designed in such a way that you are able to bring up significant issues or experiences that I had not thought of. If you recall such issues or experiences while I am asking you questions about homosexuality or Christianity, I encourage you to share them. They are not "offtopic".

To start things off, I would like to ask you a few general questions to give a context to the rest of the information that you provide.

What is your age?

How many years of education have you completed?

What was your total income before taxes last year?

What is your ethnic background?

I'd like to ask you a few questions which explore your perceptions and experiences of homosexuality.

When did you first think of yourself as gay or possibly gay?

Did you ever stop thinking of yourself as gay?

If yes: When did you come back to it?

Can you tell me about why you stopped and why you came back

to it?

If no: (go to next question).

When you first began to think of yourself as being gay, did you tell other people about it?

If yes: Who did you tell?

Were you nervous about how they might react?

How did they react?

Were you glad that you had told them?

If no: What prevented you from telling other people?

When did you first tell someone else that you were gay?

Who did you tell?

Were you nervous about how they might react?

How did they react?

Were you glad that you had told them?

I'd like to ask you some questions about your first homosexual experiences.

When did your first have sex with another man? What was that experience like for you?

How did you feel about that experience?

Did you continue having sex with other men? How often?

What I've heard you say so far is that _____ (briefly paraphrase the above responses). It sounds as though you were generally feeling _____ (anxious? shameful? proud? secure?) about the (possibility that/realizing that) you (might

be/were) gay. Am I correct so far? (If yes, continue. If no, try to clarify by going through the above questions again, if necessary.)

What were your perceptions of homosexuality/gay people while you were growing up?

Do you recall comments made by members of your family about homosexuality/gay people? What were they?

If "negative" characterizations, then:

Who were those comments made by? How often?
How would you describe your feelings about yourself as a
gay, or possibly gay, person at the time of those comments
or discussions?

If "positive" characterizations, then:

Who were those comments made by? How often?
How would you describe your feelings about yourself as a gay, or possibly gay, person at the time of those comments or discussions?

Now, I would like to begin to explore your experiences with Christianity, beginning with questions about your family and home life. Were you raised in a Christian home?

If yes: How often did your family attend church? What type of church?

Please describe other Christian activities that your family participated in, and how often participation took place [prompts if appropriate: for example, observance of Christian holidays, attending <u>Bible</u> studies, going to summer <u>Bible</u> camp, etc.]

Can you recall Christian comments, discussions, or teachings about homosexuality, sexuality, or human sexual relationships made in a Christian context? [prompts if appropriate: for example, homosexuality is sinful, people shouldn't have sex outside of marriage, everyone should marry, etc.] Please describe them.

How would you describe your feelings about yourself as a gay, or possibly gay, person at the time of those teachings, comments, or discussions?

If no: What experiences led you to becoming Christian? What were your family's attitudes about Christianity?

If negative attitudes:

How would you describe your feelings about yourself as a Christian at the time of those comments or discussions?

If neutral/positive attitudes:

Was your family supportive of your Christian beliefs at the time that you became a Christian?

How did they show their support?
Do they continue to be supportive?

If yes: How do they presently show their support?

If no: What happened that led to them withdrawing their support? Please describe how you felt about being a Christian during the time that your family withdrew support?

Where did you find support for your Christianity at the time of this change?

You stated that you first began to think of yourself as gay or possibly gay at the age of _____. I would like to ask you a few questions about the attitudes of other people outside of your family and church (if applicable) toward homosexuality/ gay people and toward Christianity, and how those attitudes may or may not have influenced your attitude toward yourself as a gay, or possibly gay, person and as a Christian.

Do you recall comments or attitudes expressed about homosexuality/gay people by your friends while you were growing up?

If yes: What were those comments or attitudes?

How would you describe your feelings about yourself as a gay, or possibly gay, person at the time of those comments or attitudes?

Do you recall comments or attitudes expressed about homosexuality/gay people by teachers or professors?

If yes: What were those comments or attitudes?

How would you describe your feelings about yourself as a gay, or possibly gay, person at the time of those comments or attitudes?

Do you recall, at any time, other sources (such as the media) that expressed comments or attitudes about homosexuality/gay people?

If yes: What were those sources?

What were those comments or attitudes?

How would you describe your feelings about yourself as a gay, or possibly gay, person at the time of those comments or attitudes?

It is possible that he may express that he grew about within a general environment that was silent about gay people. If so:

Did you feel attracted to other boys while you were growing up? Did you associate those feelings with the idea that you might be gay?

If no: How did you interpret your feelings at the time?

Did you feel different from other boys because of these attractions?

If yes: Did other boys/teachers treat you differently from other boys?

Was feeling different difficult for you, or was it an aspect of your self that you enjoyed?

I'd like to now ask you similar questions about your Christian beliefs.

Do you recall past or present comments or attitudes expressed about

Christianity/Christian people by your friends while you were growing up?

If yes: What were those comments or attitudes?

How would you describe your feelings about yourself as a Christian at the time of those comments or attitudes?

Do you recall comments or attitudes expressed about Christianity/Christian people by teachers or professors?

If yes: What were those comments or attitudes?

How would you describe your feelings about yourself as a Christian at the time of those comments or attitudes?

Do you recall other sources that expressed comments or attitudes about Christianity/Christian people?

If yes: What were those sources?

What were those comments or attitudes?

How would you describe your feelings about yourself as a Christian at the time of those comments or attitudes?

[At this point, paraphrase the responses for clarification, e.g.: What I have heard
you say is that there were many experiences that might have influenced your
feelings of (?) about your perception that you might be gay, and that those
sources were (If applicable): You also suggested that sources of
attitudes toward Christianity were In addition, your Christianity was/was
not generally well received by others, such as (etc.)]

As we did so earlier, I would like to go o	ever what you have said to make sure that
I understand. You have said that your fr	riends', teachers', and the media's
attitudes toward gay people while you w	vere growing up were, and that
you felt about those attitudes. A	Also, attitudes about Christianity from
friends and teachers, and you for	elt about those attitudes.

I'd now like to explore when, and how, you integrated your gay identity and your Christian identity (or vice-versa).

At what age did you first think that you were Christian and gay at the same time?

Do you now feel that your gay identity and your Christian identity are compatible?

If yes: Did you always feel that they are compatible?
When did you first come to believe that they are compatible?
How did you reconcile your homosexual identity with your
Christian beliefs, given that Christianity is generally known to be hostile toward homosexuality?

What were your sources of support that assisted you in your reconciliation? In what ways was support shown to you?

Did anyone express disapproval toward your gay identity?

If yes: Were they members of the Christian community?
Friends? Family? How did you feel about yourself as a gay person in light of such non-support?
How did you feel about those people?

Did anyone express disapproval toward your Christian beliefs?

If yes: Were they members of the gay community? Friends? Fanilly? How did you feel about yourself as a Christian at the time of such non-support? How did you feel about those people?

If no, then skip to "Did you ever attempt to stop being gay?"

If no: In what ways are your gay identity and your Christian beliefs not compatible? Describe the conflict that you feel. How have you tried to resolve your conflict?

Did you ever attempt to stop being gay?

If yes: How did you try to do that? How did you feel about homosexuality/gay people at the time? Were those feelings similar to how you felt about yourself as a gay, or possibly gay, person?

You now comfortably identify with being gay. Please describe the experiences, feelings, and events which lead to the comfort that you now feel.

If no, then continue to next question:

Finally, I would like to ask you a few questions about how things are for you now.

Are you sexually active? Some churches have stated that it is ok to be gay, but not ok to have homosexual sex. What is your opinion about such statements [i.e.: does he consider the statement as being equal to Christian disapproval of non-marital sex for heterosexual people?]?

In general, how do you feel when you are the only gay person in a group of heterosexuals?

What does the term "openly gay" mean to you?

Does it apply to you, and if so, in what ways?

Do you feel comfortable being "openly gay" with other Christians? Do you have a partner? In what ways do you acknowledge your partner as your partner to other Christians?

Is your congregation supportive of your homosexuality? In what ways do they show their support? In what ways do they show their lack of support?

Have you encountered anti-gay hostility from other Christians? If yes: Describe what happened when you encountered anti-gay hostility from other Christians?

How do you view sections of the <u>Bible</u>, such as Leviticus 18:22 which says that, "thou shalt not lie with mankind as with womankind: it is an abomination"?

Do you ever hear other gay people making statements that you would classify as "anti-Christian"?

If yes: Can you give me examples of those statements? How do you feel about yourself when other gay people make such statements? How do you feel toward those people who made those comments? How do you feel about Christianity when those comments are made?

Did you say anything in response to such anti-Christian comments?

If yes: Describe what happened when you expressed how you felt in situations when other gay people have made statements that you consider to be anti-Christian.

You have described to me the path which lead to your gay identity, your Christian identity, and how you put those two features of your life together. Are there any other important factors to consider in your attainment of your identity as a gay Christian which I may have overlooked?

I have greatly appreciated the time you have taken to participate in this project, and for helping me to understand the experiences that you have had which have led to your present gay Christian identity. Should you wish to contact me to read the transcript of this interview, you can do so by writing, emailing, faxing, or phoning me. You will need your codename that you have given me to access your transcript because I will not be labeling them with your real name. Once again, I thank you.

Appendix Five

Numerical Re-organization of Interview Data into Themes

- 1. First realizations of (possibly) being gay, and his reactions:
 - a. feelings.
 - b. actions taken (i.e., keeping quiet about it, etc.).
- 2. Social climate concerning homosexuality:
 - a. comments from other people, and his reactions.
 - b. heterosexual culture.
 - c. disclosures to other people.
 - d. experiences with fantasies, sex, and dating.
- 3. Social climate concerning Christianity and church participation:
 - a. within family (i.e., Christian or non-Christian family, manifestations of Christianity in family life, etc.).
 - b. among friends.
- 4. Experiences which lead them to becoming Christian, and age of doing so (i.e., Christian family, non-Christian family but supportive, Christian friends, etc.).
- 5. Feelings of difference from other boys.
- 6. Challenges to homosexuality / gay identity -- outcome and resolution.
- 7. Challenges to Christian beliefs / identity -- outcome and resolution.
- 8. Strategies for resolution through integration.
- 9. Expressions of gay identity, especially within non-gay Christian contexts.
- 10. Expressions of Christian identity, especially within non-Christian gay contexts.
- 11. Identifications with "evangelicalism" -- expressions and manifestations.
- 12. Identifications with "fundamentalism" -- expressions and manifestations.

VITA

Surname: Walton Given Name: Gerald

Place of Birth: Trenton, Ontario, Canada

Educational Institutions Attended:

1982 to 1983
1983 to 1984
1991 to 1993
1993 to 2000

Degrees Awarded:

B.A. (Honours) University of Victoria 1996

Honours and Awards:

Roy E. L. Watson Scholarship University of Victoria 1994

Graduate Teaching Fellowships University of Victoria 1996 to 1999

Publications:

"Unnatural manner of copulation': Sodomy and Western Intolerance of Male Homosexuality", <u>Blurred Genres</u>, Winter / Spring 1996, p. 93 – 107.

Conference Presentations:

"Intregration of Conflicting Identities: Gay Christian Men". Paper prepared for the Qualitative Analysis Conference, 1998, Toronto, Ontario.

"Between a Rock and a Hard Place: Gay and Christian Identity Integration". Paper prepared for the Qualitative Analysis Conference, 1999, Fredericton, New Brunswick.

PARTIAL COPYRIGHT LICENSE

I hereby grant the right to lend my thesis to users of the University of Victoria
Library, and to make single copies only for such users or in response to a
request from the Library of any other university, or similar institution, on its behalf
or for one of its users. I further agree that permission for extensive copying of
this thesis for scholarly purposes may be granted by me or a member of the
University designated by me. It is understood that copying or publication of this
thesis for financial gain shall not be allowed without written permission.

Title of Thesis:

Questionable Identities:

A Study of Gay and Evangelical Christian Identity Conflict and Resolution

Author:

Gerald Walton April 28, 2000

Chapter Three: Research Methods

Methodological Strategies: Choices and Rationale

In this chapter, I describe the strategies that I employed to gather data in order to examine the ways in which some men have integrated their gay and Christian identities. My personal experiences which I described in the introduction, as well as the experiences of some of my friends and acquaintances who resolved their own cognitive dissonance about being gay and Christian, have lead me to make the *a priori* assumption that being gay and Christian does indeed require individuals to experience some process of conflict resolution concerning one's self-identities.

In general, I am concerned with the processes of identity formation and of identity conflict resolution through integration. Such attention to process implies qualitative research procedures rather than quantitative ones. Qualitative research methods are similar to quantitative ones because each are employed to discover answers to specific questions through the application of systemic procedures, rather than to simply amass data. However, qualitative research methods are used to answer specific research questions which quantitative methods cannot adequately address. According to Bruce L. Berg (1995), qualitative procedures

provide a means of accessing unquantifiable facts about the actual people researchers observe and talk to As a result, qualitative techniques allow the researchers to share in the understandings and perceptions of others and to explore how people structure and give meaning to their daily lives. Researchers using qualitative

techniques examine how people learn about and make sense of themselves and others (p. 7, italics mine).

My particular research inquiries are phenomenological in nature.

Phenomenology is a type of qualitative research used to examine the ways in which human lived experiences are interpreted by individuals as meaningful (Rudestam and Newton, 1992, p. 33; Creswell, 1994, p. 12). Phenomenological inquiries seek not to explain the causes of a given phenomenon, but rather to elucidate the essential features of experience and consciousness pertaining to a particular social phenomenon.

In addition to phenomenology, I am also employing aspects of feminist methods, methodology, and epistemology. The term "methods", according to Sandra Harding (1987, p. 2), refers to techniques for gathering data. Dominant social science methods posit that researchers record data by remaining "objective" in their observations of social life. Alternatively, feminist methods encourage researchers to engage in a research process that is interactive with research participants, one that "continually change[s] in response to new information and new participants" (Kirby and McKenna, 1989, p. 72).

The term "methodology" is not synonymous with "methods", although they are often used interchangeably. Sandra Harding suggests that methodology is a theory of how research is to proceed (p. 3). The methodological underpinnings of my research are phenomenological in the sense that I seek to investigate the ways in which participants interpret, negotiate, and express their self-identities in the context of their social worlds. One component of the methodology I have

chosen is the theoretical assertion that I, as the researcher, should attempt to interact with participants on a relatively equal level. Such attempts to promote egalitarianism contradict the dominant methodological assumption that researchers must remain "unbiased" so as to not "contaminate" the research process and the analysis of data. I subscribe to a methodological perspective that promotes egalitarianism and connectedness between myself and research participants. Accordingly, the method I have employed is "interactive interviews" (Kirby and McKenna, p. 66) to facilitate dialogue, rather than interrogation (Reinharz, 1992, p. 33).

The term "epistemology" refers to theories of knowledge. Feminist epistemologies legitimate women as agents of knowledge. Traditional epistemological perspectives, which are based in masculinist perspectives and in the experiences of men, have tended to disregard the experiences and knowledges of women (Harding, p. 3). Although I am not conducting research about women, I am inspired by feminist epistemologies that challenge masculinist epistemological hegemony in social science research, such as the notion of "value neutrality", perhaps also known as objectivity. Social science tends to reflect androcentrism in addition to heterosexism and thus legitimates heterosexual experience and knowledge and disregards and subjugates homosexual experience and knowledge. By confronting heterosexism and heterosexual privilege, I am also challenging sexism because the dominant perspective of masculinity, and indeed of gender, assumes heterosexuality (Rich, 1993).

Who to Include and Why

During the writing of the proposal, I had decided to include only men in the research for three reasons. First, my decision was based on the views of some researchers, in opposition to Cass and Troiden, that the patterns of sexual orientation identity acquisition of women are generally different from those of men (Brown, 1995; Eliason, 1996). Cass and Troiden each claimed that their respective models of homosexual identity development are relevant for both women and men. Second, I decided to include only men also because of the personal nature of the research, specifically concerning my own identity development as a gay person. In exploring how other men worked through the challenges of developing a gay identity, especially while identifying as Christian, I had hoped to gain further understanding about myself and about other people who had made choices concerning identity other than the ones that I had made. A third reason is that, quite simply, I was compelled by expediency for financial and professional reasons.

The criteria that I used as guidelines for judging inclusion of participants in the research, aside from narrowing the search to only men, shifted during the process of conducting interviews. Originally, I constructed a screening process that included three distinct features. First, I was interested in men not only who identified as gay (for at least five years) and as evangelical Christian, but who also generally felt comfortable about being both "out" as gay among heterosexuals and other gay people, and "out" as Christian among other non-Christian people. To be "out" is self-defined relative to one's subjective

outness as general comfort about expressing one's identities comfortably among other groups of people. For example, expressing one's gay identity only among other gay people would not have satisfied the criteria for inclusion. Similarly, being "closeted" about one's Christianity except among other Christians would also have not met the inclusion requirements.9

Another criterion for inclusion was the subscription to evangelical expressions of Christianity among participants. Whereas some Christians who are also gay might subscribe to liberalized forms of Christianity, I felt that evangelical Christians would likely be more conservative by comparison to non-evangelical Christians. Social conservatism is often expressed by non-gay evangelical Christians as their being exclusive and often contemptuous of gay and lesbian people. Given such a political and social context, I wanted to investigate the attractions that evangelical Christianity holds for some gay men.

The term "evangelism" implies actions that are motivated by particular belief systems. A wide variety of actions might be considered to qualify as being evangelism, such as preaching, "witnessing", 10 or seeking to attract other people to Christianity by modeling one's behaviour on that of Christ. The term "evangelical", on the other hand, refers to a particular belief systems which might underlie evangelism. To define "evangelical" for the purposes of this study, I employed the operational definition of Scott Thumma (1991, p. 338) and

⁹ Although the metaphor of the closet is typically used to describe the degree of outness of gay, lesbian, bisexual, transgendered, and transsexual individuals, I am extending the metaphor to refer to one's Christianity for the purposes of operationalization.

Kimberly Mahaffy (1996, p. 393), both of whom argued that "evangelical" constitutes four necessary criteria: the belief in the inerrancy of Scripture, the divinity of Christ, the role of Christ as the only path toward salvation, and the importance of conversion through acceptance of Christ as one's personal saviour.

The term "evangelical," as I have used it in this study, reflects some overlap with the term "fundamentalist Christian" and also with the term "liberal Christian." Some people might even consider the term "fundamentalist" to be synonymous with "evangelical." However, fundamentalist Christians, in my view, tend to emphasize Biblical literalism more than do evangelical Christians. To use a legal metaphor, fundamentalist Christians tend to interpret Biblical scripture in a letter-of-the-law manner, while evangelical Christians tend to focus on the spirit-of-the-law.

Some people might also argue that the operational definition of "evangelical" that I have employed provides no distinction between evangelical Christians and liberal Christians. On the contrary, I argue that liberal Christians, in contrast with evangelical Christians, tend not to emphasize a personal relationship with Jesus Christ beginning with conversion.

A final criterion for inclusion was one's degree of resolution about being simultaneously gay and Christian. Whereas some people resolve dissonance concerning their religious identity and sexual orientation identity by ceasing to

¹⁰ To "witness" is a form of evangelicalism whereby Christians tell other people about their belief in salvation through Christ.

identify as one or the other, I sought men who have fully integrated both identities, both of which are of crucial importance to their overall identity.

Revision of Criteria for Inclusion

Throughout the process of gathering participants and conducting interviews, some unpredictable factors arose concerning the methodological journey as I had planned it prior to actually beginning the process. One such factor involved the ways in which I had operationalized certain terms of reference. Unlike my working definition for the term "gay", I encountered problems with the term "evangelical Christian." The term "evangelical" is methodologically problematic because of its association among some Christians with Sunday morning televangelists or door-to-door Christian "salespeople". Such intrusive fervency has compelled some people to reject Christianity altogether, or to express Christianity in other ways. Negative associations have compelled some Christians to reject self-descriptions as evangelical, despite evangelical motivations behind some of their actions.

After I conducted each interview, and after I had transcribed each taperecording, I took time to analyze the strengths and weaknesses of each interview
so that I could improve subsequent ones. After the third interview, I began to see
that the term "evangelical" was problematic in a similar way as was the term
"homosexual". As I have previously discussed, some people have homosexual
fantasies, desires, and encounters, without necessarily identifying as
"homosexual". In a parallel fashion, some people reject self-descriptions as

"evangelical." During the recruitment stage, I had asked each participant whether or not he defined himself as such. Although each man responded affirmatively -- which lead me to proceed with scheduling each interview -- two individuals hesitated to express themselves quite so definitively during the actual interview. One of these men was David. In my discussion with him, he appeared to synonymize the term "evangelical" with the term "fundamentalist." Nevertheless, I would describe David's orientation towards Christianity as evangelical in nature based on other parts of our discussion which implied his belief in the four criteria of evangelicalism as I described them above.

The other individual who expressed uncertainty about the term "evangelical" was Scott. During the interview, he said that he hesitates to "essentialize" his identities, that is, to assume that certain characteristics are intrinsic to any given individual. However, he nonetheless described the ways in which he worked through the identity conflict which he had felt about simultaneously "being" gay and Christian. Although I remain uncertain about Scott's status as evangelical, given the four criteria that I used to operationalize "evangelical", I included Scott among the participants because he had originally stated that he was an evangelical Christian prior to being interviewed. Ultimately, Scott contributed a great deal to this study. Moreover, the participation of both David and Scott provided an interesting source of contrast among the participants and therefore a richer source of data than otherwise might have become available.

Another operational definition that became problematic was my conception of "outness" concerning being gay and being Christian. I had originally sought individuals who were entirely out as gay men, even in non-gay Christian social settings, and who were entirely out as Christians, even in non-Christian gay social settings. During the time that I spent thinking about how to improve the interviews and in my preliminary readings of the transcripts, I realized that I had incorrectly associated "outness" with "resolution." The experiences in the lives of some of the participants demonstrate that there are many reasons to be selectively closeted about being either gay or Christian, or both, but such self-controlled closets are not necessarily reflective of continued cognitive dissonance about being gay and Christian. While it might, in some people, indicate continued inner conflict about one's homosexual orientation identity in light of one's Christian values and beliefs, it might merely indicate a strategy for managing particular circumstances. Only in the interviews did I discover that some of the participants did not meet my original requirement concerning "outness," although they had all originally claimed to be "out" as both gay and Christian. Nevertheless, I perceived these individuals not as experiencing continued conflict about their identities, but rather as negotiating circumstances in their lives. In my view, the major criteria for inclusion in the research above all others was resolution of identity conflict through identity integration. I came to realize that outness was a possible, but not necessary, indication of such.

Evolution of methodological procedures, such as I have described, reflects characteristics of the process of qualitative research methodology and analysis such as emergence, negotiation, and reflexivity (Lofland and Lofland, 1995, p. 181). Data analysis occurs simultaneously with data collection in qualitative research. Although methodological strategies are intended to be concrete steps in the research process, Lofland and Lofland add that, "the process remains, and is intended to be, significantly open-ended in character. In this way, analysis is also very much a creative act" (p. 181). I had not intended to evolve the methodological procedures to simply accommodate my needs as a researcher. On the contrary, adopting shifts in conceptualizations facilitated analytical richness by accommodating experiential diversity among the participants.

The Recruitment Process

To locate participants, I employed a variety of strategies. I started by contacting churches which I knew to provide gays and lesbians a setting in which to express their spirituality and their sexual orientation identity. I scheduled meetings with the board members of those churches, and asked if I could place an ad (see Appendix One) in their respective church bulletins. In the ad, I specified that I was looking for men who identified as gay and as evangelical Christian and who would tell me their stories about how they came to identify themselves as such. In each of the meetings with the respective board members, I was asked to explain my interest in conducting research about men who self-

identify as both gay and Christian. I provided a brief summary of my experiences, and concluded that my decision to discontinue my Christian identity was the primary motivation for my research. During one of those meetings, one of the board members objected to the inclusion of my ad in their church bulletin based, in part, on the fact that I no longer identified as a Christian. In retrospect, I consider such an objection to be reasonable, given that some gay non-Christian people do not express tolerance for, or acceptance of, Christianity as subscribed to by others. The board member who expressed such a concern assumed that, as an ex-Christian, I had further cause to feel resentment toward Christians, and that I would be using my thesis to conduct anti-Christian research. He was correct that doing so would be an inappropriate use of interview data, but he was incorrect that I had an agenda to, in my words, "Christian bash."

I explained that, contrary to his concern, I was motivated, in part, by a political agenda that celebrates the right of gays and lesbians to subscribe to and practice Christianity within an overall agenda of promoting social equality of gays and lesbians with heterosexuals. The board members voted on the matter, and it was agreed that my intentions were valid and honourable, although the one board member who expressed concern about my intentions declined further participation. The ads were printed in various church bulletins. Four participants responded and each was scheduled for an interview.

Another strategy for locating participants was a flyer (see Appendix Two) which was constructed in a similar fashion as the church bulletin advertisement. I distributed the flyer to organizations and social functions that I believed might be

frequented by men who self-identify as gay and evangelical Christian. Although the flyer itself did not yield participants directly, one participant volunteered through word-of-mouth generated from the flyer. The remaining three participants were individuals whom I knew personally.

I had anticipated a "snowball" sample to have been generated from wordof-mouth (Lofland and Lofland 1995, p. 38), but this did not happen in spite of my
attempts to "spread the word" by contacting various organizations and talking
with many individuals in gay, Christian, and gay Christian communities. Perhaps
some individuals who live in relative proximity to my geographic location might
have felt disinclined to volunteer participation because of their concerns about
anonymity. Another factor which might have undermined the efficacy of word-ofmouth for locating participants is the long-distance nature of this research
project. I had anticipated that I would have to search beyond Victoria because of
its limited population, and because of the rather unusual nature of the specific
individuals whom I was seeking. Most of the participants came from outside of
Victoria, from as far away as Toronto. Five of the participants were from large
urban centers, and three were from moderately-sized cities. None were small
town or rural dwellers.

The participants reflected neither wide geographic diversity nor wide variation in class status or racialized category. All of the participants described themselves as middle-class, although some reflected a lower middle-class status while others reflected an upper middle-class status. All of the men described themselves as having Canadian, English, and / or Scottish descent, except for

David, who described himself as having an Italian ethnicity. Other demographic features of the participants were widely diverse. The ages of the participants were twenty-nine, forty-three, fifty, fifty-five, sixty, and two men were thirty-four. The average age was almost forty-five. Their educational levels were grade ten, grade twelve, grade twelve plus certification, an undergraduate degree, a masters degree, three years of a Ph.D. program, and two men had seven years each of post-secondary education. Significantly, two participants have been in a 30-year relationship with each other.

I also asked each participant how long he had described himself as being gay, and how long he had described himself as being Christian. Most of the men described identifying as gay since their childhoods or teenhoods. However, rather than describing a precise moment of clarity about their gay identity, they instead described an experience, perception, or feeling of either being "different" from other boys, or having a childhood crush on another boy. Given that some of the participants had such experiences, perceptions, or feelings before the term "gay" gained common usage as a reference to homosexual identity, they have likely framed their childhood or teenhood experiences within the identity of being gay later in their lives. Furthermore, their identities as being gay were typically described as a process of positive and negative experiences, finally culminating in acceptance of a gay identity in late teens or early adulthood.

By contrast with gay identities, Christian identities were usually posited as precise moments of conception, typically as a decision to accept Jesus as their personal saviour. Scott is perhaps the only exception to this general trend. He

described himself as being a Christian for the past five years, but hesitated to "essentialize what it means to be Christian". The decision each participant made to become a Christian was made with having had earlier exposure to Christianity; six of the eight participants were raised in Christian homes, while the other two were involved in Christian youth groups.

The Interview Process

During each pre-arranged meeting time, but before I began the actual interview, I asked each participant to read and sign a letter of informed consent (see Appendix Three). I ensured that each person had time to read the letter thoroughly. The letter informed them that I would guarantee their anonymity. I proposed using a pseudonym rather than their real first names within the text of the transcripts and the analysis chapters. I also promised to alter or delete any information in the interviews that might threaten anonymity, such names of people and places. I informed them that, if they wished, they could verify the alteration of identifying information by reading their respective transcript. However, some of the participants did not want me to use pseudonyms and expressed that, as out gay men, some of whom are politically active, they were unconcerned about remaining anonymous. For these men, I secured written permission to use their real first names. The names used in the transcripts and the analysis chapters are thus a mix of pseudonyms and real first names.

¹¹ Bob, Lloyd, Scott, Wayne, and David preferred me to use their real first names, while Charles, Pete, and Thomas chose pseudonyms.

The location of the interviews varied somewhat. Two of the participants expressed discomfort about using their homes as locations. In each such case, we agreed to meet at a nearby coffee shop where we found a quiet corner in which to talk. The other interviews were conducted in people's homes. The interviews were tape-recorded; those that took place in homes were much easier to transcribe than those in coffee shops, despite how quiet the coffee shops initially sounded. I was solely responsible for the task of transcribing each of the interviews, and I ensured the safe storage of the transcripts and tapes during the process of transcription. As stated in the letter of informed consent, the audio tapes were stored in a locked cabinet to which only I had access. They were erased after I had sent each participant his transcript to ensure its accuracy. Only two of the men asked me to make alterations to their transcripts by either clarifying some points that they had made, or by deleting some identifying information.

All of the participants expressed interest in seeing their respective interview transcripts. Some, but not all, suggested changes for the purpose of clarification. Such changes helped me to understand some specific details that became important during the process of data analysis. Two of the participants asked me to delete some information that they deemed irrelevant and I did as they asked.

¹² I had described in the consent form that I would ask each participant for a code which he could use to access his transcript. After I had conducted all eight interviews, I decided that using the code key would not be necessary because the number of participants was small, and also because I had become well-acquainted with the matches of transcripts with individuals.

The Interview Schedule

Using interviews as a research technology allowed me to talk with men who, unlike me, were able to integrate gay and Christian identities. I decided to use a semi-standardized style of interview to guide me through a series of predetermined questions which were organized within a list of topics. Although I used such an organization as an interview quide. I also designed the interviews to facilitate a somewhat informal dialogue. Unlike standardized interviews, dialogues are characterized by openness, uniqueness, spontaneity, and engagement with each participant (Kirby and McKenna, 1989; Reinharz, 1992). A standardized interview, I felt, would preclude possibilities for openness, connectedness, and self-disclosure. Employing a semi-standardized interview format allowed me to encourage each participant to disclose information I had not considered in advance (Berg, 1995, p. 33). In addition, I wanted to avoid the tendency among many social scientists to attempt to gain control over participants in the research process (Reinharz, 1992, p. 20). Although I disclosed to each participant that I am a graduate student at the University of Victoria, I intentionally downplayed my academic role in favour of highlighting my personal experiences which lead to my interest in doing this research. Doing so facilitated rapport and promoted egalitarianism and open dialogue.

Apart from some general demographic questions, such as age, educational level, and ethnic background, I organized the interview schedule into four sets of questions. The first set covered gay experiences, perceptions, and identity acquisition, such as: What were the participants' perceptions of

homosexuality or gay people while they were growing up? What were the source of such perceptions? When did they first begin to think of themselves as being gay? Did they tell other people about it? How did others react to the participants' disclosures? How did the participants feel about themselves as a gay, or possibly gay people, in light of the reactions from others? At what age did they first have sex with other men? How did they feel about those experiences? Did they ever attempt to stop being gay? What were such experiences like? How did they feel about themselves during attempts to stop being gay? How did such attempts come to an end?

A second set of questions was designed to investigate participants' experiences concerning Christianity, such as: Were they raised in Christian homes? How was Christianity manifested in their families as they were growing up? What experiences led them to becoming Christian? What were their families' attitudes about Christianity? In what ways did their families show support for their Christianity, or lack thereof? How did the participants feel about themselves in light of such attitudes?

A third set of questions focused on the intersection of the participants' gay and Christian identities. Examples included: At what age did they first think that they were Christian and gay at the same time? How did they come to believe that their gay and Christian identities are compatible? How did they reconcile their gay identities in light of Biblical passages which appear to condemn homosexuality? What were some of their experiences with his Christian friends concerning being gay? Did they receive support from other Christians concerning

their gay identities? Did they receive support from other gay people concerning their Christian identities? How did they feel about themselves in light of such support or lack thereof?

Within the three major topics that I wanted to cover in each interview, my hope was that there would be natural opportunities for participants to discuss their current circumstances concerning being gay and Christian. Such natural openings for disclosure were sometimes taken; otherwise, I probed for further discussion about their current circumstances. In any event, a fourth topic was designed to inquire about the participants' current situations, such as: Do they have partners? Are their partners also Christians? Are their congregations supportive of their being gay? Do they encounter hostility from other Christians about their being gay? Do they encounter hostility from other gay people about their being Christian? How do they react to such hostility? How do they express themselves as gay people while in Christian social settings? How do they express themselves as Christians while in gay social settings?

Although it might appear from the interview schedule that I had, in spite of my intentions, designed a highly-standardized interview, the selective use of the questions facilitated spontaneity, openness, and interaction. Such an interview orientation did indeed facilitate "dialogue". I interviewed -- dialogued with -- eight individuals who volunteered to participate. Doing so is contrary to the standard procedures of quantitative researchers who employ certain techniques to choose a representative sample from which to generalize their findings to a larger population. My aim, however, was to conduct exploratory research that describes

general themes and processes employed by those people who participated, and to contextualize such analysis within larger social processes. Limiting the number of participants to under ten also facilitated manageability of the project because searching for participants, scheduling the interviews, transcribing each tape recorded interview, and conducing analysis on each one proved to be very time consuming. Lack of financial and time resources compelled me to set limitations to the number of participants. In sum, conducting eight interviews allowed me to proceed with research that is exploratory in nature, as well as to keep the project at a manageable size.

Preparation for Data Analysis

Data analysis was an ongoing process which began with the first transcript. I read each new transcript several times before conducting another interview in order to attain a familiarity with themes that were beginning to emerge in the data. In the tradition of qualitative research, I decided to interweave presentation and analysis of the data to reflect the simultaneous process of collection and analysis. My decision was also based on the large amount of data which I had collected. I felt that presentation would necessarily be limited to discussion which was most germane to the core questions of "How?" and "Why?". The task of deciding which data were the most relevant was, in itself, a component of the data analysis process.

Collectively, the transcribed interviews added up to 141 pages of single-spaced, ten-point, Helvetica text. I required a system that would organize the

data into a more manageable form, one that would also facilitate the emergence of themes and contrasts of experiences, feelings, and beliefs of the participants. To do so, I used the interview schedule to generate numerical codes that corresponded to the general topics covered in each interview (see Appendix Five). The numerical codes are not meant to imply a seguential order of events. but instead are merely a method of labeling for the purposes of organization. I scoured each transcript to manually label particular sections with appropriate codes. Parts of the dialogue were coded with more than one numerical value because they reflected more than one theme. After manually coding each transcript. I then created documents in a word-processor software package whose file names corresponded to each topic. From each transcript on my computer hard-drive, I then "cut and pasted" each coded section of the text into the appropriate topic document. The final result was twelve documents (see Appendix Five), each corresponding to one theme and containing the relevant comments of the participants. 13

I continued by analyzing the data in the central theme -- Theme Eight -- which I titled, *Strategies for resolution through integration*. I felt that the strategies of the men to integrate their previously conflicting identities would draw attention to a variety of experiences in their lives that I had categorized within the other themes. I analyzed each statement that I had included within Theme Eight, and counted seventeen strategies. I then grouped the seventeen strategies into five types according to qualitative similarity. For example, some

¹³ A qualitative software package, which I lacked, would have accomplished the same result.

men said that they came to believe that their perception of God -- being divine perfection -- was distinct from their perception of church -- being an imperfect human organization, though a holy one. Other men drew a distinction between a homosexual orientation and a so-called homosexual lifestyle. I discerned that both distinctions implied the acceptance of a perceived inconsistency in order to reduce dissonance. Hence, I classified such perceptions under a broad type called *Acceptance of Inconsistencies*. The analysis chapter of this study provides details on each of the five types of integration strategies, and includes relevant transcript excerpts.

The final stage of analysis was to compare the five types of strategies with theories about homosexual identity formation, specifically the Cass model (1979) and the Troiden model (1988). Neither theorist discussed the ways in which a homosexual identity is integrated with a Christian identity. However, comparing the five strategies with each of the models highlights the strengths and weaknesses of each model. The motivating question which guided such comparisons was: Is each stage of each model reflected in each participant's account of his journey towards a fully integrated gay and Christian identity? Assessing that question in light of the five types of strategies, in combination with the data that I had coded within the other eleven themes of the interview schedule, guided my critique of each model. Developing such critiques, which were grounded in the interview data, allowed me to propose recommendations for change in the models in order to bolster their respective strengths and minimize their respective weaknesses.

A large amount of data is not recorded in this thesis due to sheer volume. However, I used the remaining data as a backdrop from which to understand the contexts of specific comments made by each participant. It has been my aim to present data in a way that honours past experiences which underlie each man's present understandings of his identity development.

The methods that I have described above imply that this study is largely academic in nature. In addition to being an academic exercise, the research process of data collection, reporting, and analysis allowed me to make suggestions for social and political change. Not surprisingly, I had anticipated proposing that Christian communities move toward acceptance of gay and lesbian members. However, I did not anticipate other suggestions for social and political change until I had thoroughly analyzed the data. An account of social and political considerations, as I see them, appears in the concluding chapter of this study.

Chapter Four: Reporting and Analysis of the Interview Data

As I mentioned in Chapter Three, I had decided to combine both data reporting and analysis in one chapter to avoid including the entire collection of transcripts. Which data to include and which to exclude reflected early stages of data analysis. Presenting data separately from analysis would therefore be rather illogical. This chapter represents the final product of those decisions. It also represents the outcome of the process of data analysis which had been interwoven throughout the larger research process.

Data analysis, as I conducted it, resulted in an overall understanding of the motivations of these men to integrate a gay identity with a Christian one.

More specifically, I describe five types of strategies from which they achieved identity integration. Not all of the men employed all five types of strategies.

Rather, the five types represent a summary of the most common strategies of identity integration evident in the data. Prior to presenting the details of the five types, I discuss some general issues concerning identity integration which serve as a backdrop for contextualization.

The Overall Outcome of the Process of Integration

If one were tempted to view men who identify as both gay and Christian as being wracked with internal conflict about the supposed incompatibility between Christian beliefs and homosexuality, the stories told by these eight participants would quash that temptation. The overriding theme of the

discussions, as I discern it, was the expression of comfort with being both gay and Christian. Such comfort was usually expressed with keen enthusiasm. However, occasionally some lingering but relatively minor reservations surfaced. For example, two participants, Pete and Charles, referred to general contentment, laced with minimal uncertainty, about being gay and Christian. Pete acknowledged that he had not resolved "everything," while Charles said, "I don't think I've ever felt this contented with myself as I do now, in spite of the fact that there are inconsistencies."

By contrast to Pete and Charles, Lloyd was adamant in his belief that being gay is acceptable in the eyes of God. Speaking on behalf of himself and Bob, his partner of over thirty years, Lloyd emphasized without reservation the importance of his being at once Christian and gay:

[W]e have reconciled our Christianity and our homosexuality. There is absolutely no conflict. I feel so secure that it will never be a problem for me. . . . If I didn't believe that I would have to believe that God is a cruel God to do that to so many people. I look at it differently, that God created us for a special reason. I don't know what that special reason is, but I do know that many, many gay people [are] in a servant-type ministry that cares for people.

In the above excerpt, Lloyd implies through his use of the word, "we," that Bob and he have developed strategies for identity integration in concert with each other. It is also apparent that Lloyd links his understanding of his being gay with Christian evangelicalism. Bob expressed similar sentiments about his security in being gay while also being Christian, and his belief that God uses him

to spread what Bob sees as the Christian message of love and grace to other gay people. He said:

[E]ven from a young age, I would not allow people to trod on me. I'm a person of value, and God is my judge. . . . I believe that God arms us for [adversity]. He'll protect us. If there's a battle to be won, we've won the battle. But we just have to be strong in our faith, and in who we are as gay people. . . . The gospel has to be spread. It has to be spread to the gay community because they have been disenfranchised by mainline churches, by these [anti-gay] pastors who think they are doing good.

The above comment by Bob reflects a process of self-identity that seems to include relatively little conflict about being gay and Christian, in part because of his feelings of self-worth which have their roots in his childhood.

Wayne expressed similar feelings of self-worth which he has felt since childhood. He was raised in a highly religious evangelical Christian family. In spite of being raised in a religious tradition that emphasizes heterosexuality within marriage as the norm and as the only Christian option for sexual expression, Wayne explained:

I've been Christian since the age of four, and I've been gay as far back as I can remember as well. My first recollection of that is, at the age of five in kindergarten, seeing a cute guy and being aware, not necessarily of the implications of that and what it would mean to the rest of my life, but knowing that there was that attraction there. So as far back as I can remember those two aspects have been integral parts of my identity. . . . A lot of gay people don't accept their being gay until a much later point, which I think might tend to make it more difficult to have the two existent in their life at the same time. . . . But for me, both aspects go back as long as I can remember. I've always had those two things to deal with, and

perhaps that's made it easier for me to deal with it, to rationalize it, to accept it.

Other men described strong and long-term feelings of inner turmoil about being gay, either in conflict with co-existing Christian values and beliefs, or prior to adopting Christianity. Charles, for example, gradually adopted his Christian beliefs during his teenage years. Prior to doing so, he had had experiences in his boyhood that signified early homosexual attractions and provoked much anxiety at the time. He told me that he started to perceive that he was attracted to other males when he was about thirteen years of age. He described his reaction to that realization:

I was horrified, but attracted at the same time. In the apartment building I was living in with my parents, I and another boy played with each other, touching penises. I felt it was wrong, but I liked it. [W]e didn't go to climax. He just touched me, or I touched him. I can't remember clearly, but we certainly didn't masturbate. I think the difficult thing for me was that I liked it.

One of the ways in which Charles attempted to circumvent his homosexual feelings was through heterosexual marriage. As did Pete and Lloyd, Charles felt that his homosexual attractions would cease to exist within heterosexual marriage. However, same-sex attractions remained, and anxiety continued.

[I experienced] terrific guilt when I was first involved in intentional sexual activities with men, terrific guilt about my marriage and the infidelity that I created in my marriage. That raged on for years. After every [homo]sexual experience, I vowed not to do it again.

The degree to which each participant experienced internal conflict about being gay, whether in combination with a Christian identity or prior to adopting one, varied in longevity and severity. David, Lloyd, Charles, and Pete had made earlier decisions to reject a gay identity, but ultimately came to believe that being Christian could include being gay. None of the eight participants attempted to reject their Christian identity, although Charles, a pastor, had left the Christian ministry, believing that his role in church leadership was incompatible with being gay. He later returned to Christian leadership.

In spite of the earlier decisions of David, Lloyd, Charles, and Pete, the ultimate outcome for all of the participants was resolution through integration rather than through permanent rejection of one identity or the other. One could argue that their identities as gay and Christian are only apparently stable; given such earlier shifts in identity, it is possible that future dramatic shifts might occur. Such shifts are indeed possible. However, earlier shifts occurred in the presence of self-dissatisfaction. My aim here is not to predict the futures of each participant, but rather to suggest that the contentment that each man expressed about the integration of his Christian and gay identities would likely have a stabilizing effect rather than a destabilizing one. My interest here is to investigate the ways in which each of these men secured such apparently stable identities, especially given the political climate in which many Christians are not accepting

of gays and lesbians, and many gays and lesbians are not accepting of Christians.¹⁴

The overriding question of this research, then, is, "How?". The discussions I had with the eight participants incorporated commentary on a number of broad issues that are germane to that core question, such as gay identity development, Christian identity development, family upbringing, relationships with other Christians, relationships with other gay people, management of a gay identity in Christian social contexts, and management of a Christian identity in gay social contexts. From the interview data, I was able to discern a variety of strategies that they employed to achieve identity integration.¹⁵

Strategies of Integration: Five Types

Biblical Interpretation

Among the eight participants, the most commonly articulated strategy that was adopted for the purposes of identity integration is one that emphasizes exegesis, critical interpretation of Biblical text, in contrast with literalist interpretation. Exegetical readers consider the social, historical, or political contexts in which the text was written, whereas Biblical literalists do not. For most Christians, the Bible is considered to be the central authority from which

¹⁴ The difference between these two social phenomena is that while many Christians actively participate in anti-gay campaigns, no campaigns have been organized by gays and lesbians with strictly anti-Christian purposes.

¹⁵ In using the term, "strategy," I am not only referring to conscious will or explicit intention, although some strategies do reflect such awareness of intent. I am also referring to the making of choices that may not be consciously linked with clear or explicit outcomes.

philosophical and moral standpoints are based. The <u>Bible</u> is often used by some Christians as the cornerstone with which to justify anti-gay attitudes and actions. Literalist interpretations of the <u>Bible</u>, commonly associated with the Christian Right, have lead readers to believe that God condemns homosexuality. Given such a common assertion about God's supposed rejection of homosexuality, I asked each participant to articulate his view of the <u>Bible</u>. My aim was not to enter into discussions about interpretation of specific Biblical scriptures, but instead to investigate the ways in which each participant negotiates the sections of the <u>Bible</u> that appear to denounce one of the central ways in which they identify themselves. In other words, I wanted to investigate the ways in which the <u>Bible</u>, as the central textual authority of Christianity, informs gay and Christian identities.

All eight men described having to struggle to locate a positive sense of themselves within scripture and to feel free from condemnation. Eventually, each one came to believe that Biblical literalism is an inappropriate way to interpret the <u>Bible</u>, and is not a valid cornerstone for one's beliefs about philosophy and morality. Wayne, for example, explained that,

If you retrace history and look at many things that the Christian church has taught, [it] has supported blatant sexism, [and] has advocated slavery. . . . I look at the <u>Bible</u>, there's the traditional Pentecostal view that it's the literal word of God, and that everything should be taken literally. . . . To that, I would say that there is so many things that you can't take literally. They are part of the word of God, and they're there for a reason, but we have to look at them in their historical perspective.

Wayne also explained that whereas beliefs about certain issues in mainline Christian churches appear to be steadfastly-held, they actually have not been held firmly throughout the years. The example he presented was the common practice in some Christian churches, especially those that subscribe to Biblical literalism, of denying membership on church boards of directors to women. He said that such a practice

is an example of how something is hard and fast in one particular generation, a few years later, or a different generation, it can be totally different. That can be said of sexism, slavery, and I would maintain that eventually, . . . some of the denominations now, they're starting to deal with homosexuality.

For Pete, literalism simply did not make sense. He was quite certain of his relationship with God in his assertion that,

God keeps on answering my prayers, all the time, one after the other. I have so many answered prayers to be thankful for I can't even begin to name them. . . . If God considers [homosexuality] to be an abomination, why does He keep answering my prayers? Why does He keep on communicating with me?

Two men explicitly described having been reassured, through reading Biblical scripture, that God approved of their being gay. David said:

I specifically remember reading <u>Bible</u> verses and parts of scriptures that I thought were really cool, like David and Jonathan. I remember sitting in church and reading stories, like they were such good friends and I'm sure that they [engaged in sexual activities with each other]. I think that one of the things that the church doesn't realize is that homosexuality is not about sex. For me, even

back then, it wasn't about sex, it was about two people loving each other. I looked at David and Jonathan and I thought, "I'm sure they were in love." And I always took comfort in that.

Similarly, Lloyd described what he saw as God actively providing assurance through scripture.

Even after I was saved, I needed some assurance. I hadn't read the <u>Bible</u>, but God lead me to a scripture . . . Acts 8. . . . When I read that I knew it was talking about me. It's telling me right now that I'm OK. . . . There is a scripture in Matthew 19 where he talks about the eunuchs. I believe that when he was talking about eunuchs he was talking about us. People not being able to marry, and all that, I think he was talking about gay people. They didn't call them gay in those days.

A humanist perspective of scripture was employed by Scott to bolster his sense of social justice for gays and lesbians, as well as for members of other marginalized groups.

God is the real essence of [spirituality]. I think Jesus was an important person, but I don't think of him as a saviour in that sense. I don't think I need to be saved from anything. I think of God as a helping thing. . . . To me, an intelligent person would say -- this is very judgmental, but -- [Jesus] stood up for what is right, he aligned himself with the most marginalized people, and said, "You're OK." And that's a very powerful example for me, knowing I'm OK, and knowing that it's partly my responsibility to help others.

Another perspective on the Biblical interpretation was articulated by

Thomas. He asserted that, in fact, most Christians are unable to list the particular scriptures of the Bible that are used by members of the Christian Right primarily against gays and lesbians. He argued that, "they just have this blanket [notion]

that] it is written in there that homosexuality is wrong. What did Christ say about homosexuality? Absolutely nothing. Most Christians don't know that." Thomas also expressed his belief that Jesus -- after whom Christians purport to model their beliefs and behaviour -- has not been recorded in the <u>Bible</u> as having discussed homosexuality. For Thomas, then, the rejection of gays and lesbians by many Christians cannot be <u>Biblically</u> justified. His perspective has been met with anger from many other Christians. He explained further that, "I'm blessed because I'm like the leper that they wouldn't touch. . . . but God loves me."

All of the eight men expressed criticism of other Christians who reject gav and lesbian people based on the belief that God condemns homosexuality. Legalistic Christians are commonly associated with such hostility. The term, "fundamentalism" is commonly used to describe conservative legalistic Christians, most of whom reject gav and lesbian individuals. However, somewhat surprisingly. Thomas described himself as a fundamentalist. He was the only participant to do so. Whereas some gay and lesbian people have "reclaimed" words such as "fag," "dyke," and "queer" for positive self-description, likewise Thomas asserted his right to reclaim the term "fundamentalist" from its negative connotation as being narrow-minded and fraught with bigotry. He spoke rather disdainfully about liberal Christianity. His rejection of liberal Christianity seems counter-intuitive to what one might expect because liberal Christians tend to be more accepting of gays and lesbians than are most legalistic conservative Christians. Nevertheless, he was adamant about his support of the term "fundamentalist" and explained his perspective thusly:

Fundamentalism means that you believe in [the] real essentials of the <u>Bible</u>, that those essentials are common to all churches, that Jesus Christ came to bring us good news of salvation, [that] he wants to have a personal relationship with every one of us, [and] that he came from God the father. Those are the fundamentals to me. And that's how I use that word, and [liberal Christians] are not taking it away from me.

Thomas was the most vocal, but not the only, opponent of liberal Christianity. In a similar manner, Bob maintained that what he sees as the core essentials of the <u>Bible</u> -- he did not use the term "fundamentals" -- are reduced to a "watered-down theology" when viewed through a liberal lens.

When David and I discussed the matter of Biblical interpretation, he contributed an additional perspective that was unique among the eight men. He described having a "linguistic advantage" in being bilingual and explained:

I guess my whole approach to the whole scripture thing is one thing: interpretation. I can speak from that firsthand, not only because of [having taken] Greek [classes], but because I was raised bilingual anyways. And when you have this linguistic advantage . . . you look at languages different than someone who is taught just one language.

Overall, then, all eight men rejected literalism and six rejected fundamentalism. However, they all subscribed to what they consider to be the *fundamentals* of Christianity, those being love and grace. Perspectives on the <u>Bible</u> were diverse, but similar in outcome; each man described having achieved an understanding of the <u>Bible</u> that facilitated, rather than undermined, a gay identity. Each one expressed his view that, although the <u>Bible</u> is a divinely inspired text, it is, nevertheless, fraught with historical and social contextuality.

Within such an interpretive framework, identities, such as gay ones, that challenge literalist interpretations are able to emerge in concert, rather than in conflict, with Christian identities.

"A Christianity of Questions"

Another common type of strategy involved the perception of inconsistencies between idealized views of life and actual lived experience. It is the management of such perceptions that is a key element of the process of integration. For example, one could attempt to resolve all of the inconsistencies, specifically concerning sexual identity and religious beliefs, that impinge upon one's identities. By contrast, one could choose to simply ignore such inconsistencies. But one could also accept perceived inconsistencies without feeling compelled to resolve them, as demonstrated by some of the participants.

I have already alluded to minor reservations expressed by Pete and Charles in their statements that they have reached general states of inner contentment about their identities despite not having resolved every troublesome detail in the complex process of integration. They did not express a compelling need to address lingering questions, nor did they imply that the lack of utterly complete resolution necessarily signifies inner conflict. On the contrary -- and somewhat counter-intuitively -- it seems that the recognition and acceptance of inconsistencies has been a cognitive device with which these eight men have gained inner resolve about their identities.

The eight participants made statements that implied that they had made an active choice to accept certain inconsistencies concerning their identity integration, in contrast with other possible choices. One of the most common avenues for accepting inconsistencies, which paradoxically contributed to identity resolution, is through the recognition of the differences between God and church. Wayne, for example, was raised in a conservative Christian family. During much of his youth and early adulthood, Wayne held leadership positions in the church that he and his family had attended since Wayne was very young. Through a series of events, Wayne was "outed" by two self-described "ex-gay" visitors to his church to whom he had disclosed his (then physically unexplored) homosexual orientation. The next day, the church pastors asked Wayne to resign his membership to the church and to step down from his leadership positions. Wayne described the occasion as sad, but not traumatic, saying that he felt that it would have happened eventually. He also said that he felt that it was part of God's plan to eventually guide him to a new congregation in a gayfriendly church a few months later. The process that Wayne described was instrumental in his realization that God is an entity distinct from His followers.

I think it's safe to say that in my life, and I'm sure in many others of people who have reconciled homosexuality and Christianity, the Lord has given us the grace and the understanding and the strength to endure the misunderstanding and the hardship and the broken relationships and to move on. And to focus on the Lord, because it's really our relationship with the Lord, it's not our relationship with the church. Looking back on my life, I thought I would be going to that church for the rest of my life . . . but you don't realize that the Lord might have another plan for your life.

Differentiating between God and church enabled identity integration also for David. He expressed that the turning point at which he was able to merge his gay identity with his Christian one was when he realized that God and church are different, but overlapping, entities. He expressed having felt alienated from God because of his belief, influenced by other Christians, that homosexuality was contrary to God's intent for human sexual expression. He described how a feeling of alienation from God metamorphasized into one of closeness.

The catalyst [for me in accepting that I was gay] was me coming to the point where I was going to kill myself. At that point, I thought, "No, this isn't what God wants for me. God does not want me to kill myself. This is way beyond anything that He would ever want for my life." At that point, that's where the freedom was. I realized that for so long I was mad at God, and I had embraced the church. But at that point, I realized that it's not God that I should be mad at. It's the church that I should be mad at. I was able to embrace God at that point. . . . The church was totally abandoned.

Other men did not state their understanding of the distinction between God and church directly, but rather implied it. For example, Pete described a series of events that lead him to lower his expectations of other Christians, but not of God. He had been living in a small rural town, and he and his (then) wife of nineteen years were actively involved in the local Christian community. She knew about his homosexual desires, but urged him to go for counseling in hopes that such desires would be expunged. He attended counseling sessions, but, indeed, his sexual desires for men remained. In spite, she disclosed his homosexuality to various people in their small town. Pete briefly described the result of some of the reactions from local townspeople toward his being gay: "I